

The effect of antifoams upon recombinant protein production in yeast

Sarah Routledge

If you have discovered material in AURA which is unlawful e.g. breaches copyright, (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please read our takedown policy at http://www1.aston.ac.uk/research/aura/aura-take-down-policy/ and contact the service immediately eprints@aston.ac.uk/research/aura/aura-take-down-policy/







THE EFFECT OF ANTIFOAMS UPON

RECOMBINANT PROTEIN PRODUCTION IN

YEAST

by

Sarah Jayne Routledge

Doctor of Philosophy

Aston University

February 2012

©Sarah Jayne Routledge, 2012

Sarah Jayne Routledge asserts her moral right to be identified as the author of this thesis

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

ASTON UNIVERSITY

THE EFFECT OF ANTIFOAMS UPON RECOMBINANT

PROTEIN PRODUCTION IN YEAST

Sarah Jayne Routledge

Ph.D

2012

Thesis Summary

Foaming during fermentation reduces the efficiency of the process leading to increased costs and reduced productivity. Foaming can be overcome by the use of chemical antifoaming agents, however their influence upon the growth of organisms and protein yield is poorly understood. The objective of this work was to evaluate the effects of different antifoams on recombinant protein production. Antifoam A, Antifoam C, J673A, P2000 and SB2121 were tested at different concentrations for their effect on the growth characteristics of *Pichia pastoris* producing GFP, EPO and A_{2a}R and the yield of protein in shake flasks over 48 h. All antifoams tested increased the total GFP in the shake flasks compared to controls, at higher concentrations than would normally be used for defoaming purposes. The highest yield was achieved by adding 1 % P2000 which nearly doubled the total yield followed by 1 % SB2121, 1 % J673A, 0.6 % Antifoam A and lastly 0.8 % Antifoam C. The antifoams had a detrimental effect upon the production of EPO and $A_{2a}R$ in shake flasks, suggesting that their effects may be protein specific. The mechanisms of action of the antifoams was investigated and suggested that although the volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient $(k_L a)$ was influenced by the agents, their effect upon the concentration of dissolved oxygen did not contribute to the changes in growth or recombinant protein yield. Findings in small scale also suggested that antifoams of different compositions such as silicone polymers and alcoxylated fatty acid esters may influence growth characteristics of host organisms and the ability of the cells to secrete recombinant protein, indirectly affecting the protein yield. Upon scale-up, the concentration effects of the antifoams upon GFP yield in bioreactors was reversed, with lower concentrations producing a higher yield. These data suggest that antifoam can affect cells in a multifactorial manner and highlights the importance of screening for optimum antifoam types and concentrations for each bioprocesses.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr Roslyn Bill and Dr Sharon Brownlow for all of their help and guidance, without which this thesis would not have been possible. I would also like give my thanks to Dr Nagamani Bora for showing me the ropes, Dr James Barwell for teaching me molecular biology techniques, Dr Richard Darby for his help with the bioreactors and Dr David Poyner, Prof Christopher Hewitt, Dr Matthew Conner, Dr David Nagel, Dr Ana Reis, Dr Andrew Devitt and Dr Mohammed Jamshad for their advice. I would like to thank members of the laboratory; Charlotte Bland for her help with the fluorescence microscopy images; Zharain Bawa for teaching me how to perform radioligand binding experiments; and Stephanie Cartwright, Marvin Dilworth and Michelle Clare for their support. I would also like to thank everyone from Applikon Biotechnology for their help with various equipment. Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their support and Applikon Biotechnology and the EPSRC for funding this research.

Creation of the RCP-TEV-GFP construct was carried out in collaboration with Dr James Barwell, Aston University and flow cytometery work in collaboration with Prof Chris Hewitt, Loughborough University.

CONTENTS

	Page
Abbreviations	12
List of figures	15
List of tables	19
1. Introduction	21
1.1 Overview	21
1.2 P. pastoris as a host for recombinant protein production	21
1.2.1 P. pastoris general properties	22
1.2.2 Comparison of <i>P. past</i> oris with other host systems for recombinant	
protein production	27
1.2.3 Comparison of <i>P. pastoris</i> with <i>S. cerevisiae</i>	28
1.3 Protein production formats	30
1.3.1 Small scale protein production	30
1.3.2 Large scale protein production	32
1.3.3 Bioprocess optimization in recombinant protein production	34
1.4 Foaming	35
1.5 Antifoams in bioprocesses	38
1.5.1 A review of the antifoam literature	38
1.6 Target proteins	43
1.6.1 Green fluorescent protein	43
1.6.2 Erythropoietin	46
1.6.3 G protein-coupled receptors and accessory proteins	48
1.6.3.1 Human Adenosine _{2a} receptor	51
1.6.3.2 β_1 -adrenergic receptor	53
1.6.3.3 Receptor component protein	54
1.6.3.4 Ligand binding assays	55
1.6.4 Human growth hormone	58
1.6.5 Chlorophyll synthase, CHLG	60

1.6.6 Aquaporins	62
1.7 Objectives	65
2 Materials and methods	66
2. Materials	66
2.1 1 Fauinment	66
2.1.1 1 Bioreactor equipment	66
2 1 1 2 Microbioreactor 24	68
2.1.1.3 Thermal activity monitor (TAM)	69
2.1.1.4 Centrifuges	70
2.1.2 Media	70
2.1.2.1 <i>P. pastoris</i>	70
2.1.2.1.1 BMGY (Buffered Glycerol-complex Medium)	70
2.1.2.1.2 BMMY (Buffered methanol-complex medium)	70
2.1.2.1.3 YPD (yeast peptone dextrose)	70
2.1.2.1.4 Stock solutions	71
2.1.2.1.4.1 10 x YNB (13.4% Yeast nitrogen base with amm	onium
sulphate without amino acids)	71
2.1.2.1.4.2 500 x biotin (0.02%)	71
2.1.2.1.4.3 10 x glucose (20%)	71
2.1.2.1.4.4 10 x methanol (5%)	71
2.1.2.1.4.5 10 x glycerol (10%)	71
2.1.2.1.4.6 1 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0	71
2.1.2.2 <i>E. coli</i>	72
2.1.2.2.1 LB (Luria-Bertani)	72
2.1.2.3 S.cerevisiae	72
2.1.2.3.1 CSM	72
2.1.2.3.2 10 x DO solution –URA	72
2.1.2.3.3 2 x CBS	73
2.1.2.3.4 Trace elements	73
2.1.2.3.5 Vitamin solution	73

2.1.2.4 Fermentation media	74
2.1.2.4.1 Basal salts medium	74
2.1.2.4.2 PTM_1 trace salts	74
2.1.2.5 Antibiotics	74
2.1.2.5.1 Ampicillin	74
2.1.2.5.2 Kanamycin	74
2.1.2.5.3 Zeocin	74
2.1.2.6 Reagents	75
2.1.2.6.1 BEDS solution	75
2.1.2.6.2 Breaking buffer pH 7.4	75
2.1.2.6.3 Buffer A pH 7	75
2.1.2.6.4 Lysis buffer pH 8	75
2.1.2.6.5 Wash buffer pH 8	75
2.1.2.6.6 Elution buffer pH 8	75
2.1.2.6.7 SDS gels	76
2.1.2.6.8 Laemmli sample buffer	76
2.1.2.6.9 Binding buffer	76
2.1.2.7 Molecular biology reagents	77
2.1.2.7.1 RCP primers	77
2.1.2.7.2 GFP primers	77
2.1.2.7.3 TEV primers	77
2.1.2.7.4 HGH primers	78
2.1.2.7.5 AOX1 sequencing primers	78
2.1.2.7.6 Vectors	78
2.1.2.7.7 Restriction enzymes	79
2.1.2.7.7.1 <i>EcoRI</i> -HF	79
2.1.2.7.7.2 <i>XbaI</i>	79
2.1.2.7.7.3 SfiI	80
2.1.2.7.7.4 NotI	80
2.1.2.7.7.5 KpnI	80
2.1.2.7.7.6 SacII	80

2.1.2.8 Antifoams	80
2.1.3 Strains and culture conditions	80
2.1.3.1 Escherichia coli	81
2.1.3.1.1 DH5α	81
2.1.3.1.2 XL10 Gold	81
2.1.3.2 Pichia pastoris	81
2.1.3.2.1 X33	81
2.1.3.2.2 SMD1163	82
2.1.3.3 Saccharomyces cerevisiae	82
2.1.3.3.1 Wild type	82
2.1.3.3.2 TM6*	82
2.2 Methods	82
2.2.1 Molecular Biology Techniques	82
2.2.1.1 Primer design	82
2.2.1.2 DNA amplification – PCR	83
2.2.1.3 Restriction digests	83
2.2.1.4 Ligations	84
2.2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis	84
2.2.1.6 Transformation	85
2.2.1.6.1 <i>E.coli</i> DH5α transformation	85
2.2.1.6.2 E.coli XL10 Gold transformation	85
2.2.1.7 Minipreps	85
2.2.1.8 DNA quantification	86
2.2.1.9 DNA sequencing	87
2.2.1.10 Maxipreps	87
2.2.1.11 Linearization of DNA	88
2.2.1.12 Preparation of electrocompetent P. pastoris cells	88
2.2.1.13 Electroporation of <i>P. pastoris</i> cells	89
2.2.1.14 Transformation of S. cerevisiae cells - lithium acetate	89
2.2.2 Yeast cultures and analysis	90
2.2.2.1 Small scale formats	90

2.2.2.2 Bioreactors	90
2.2.2.2.1 Preparation of the bioreactor	90
2.2.2.2.2 Connecting the bioreactor to the control unit	91
2.2.2.3 Culture conditions	91
2.2.2.4 Starting a bioreactor run	92
2.2.2.5 Glycerol batch and fed batch phase	92
2.2.2.2.6 Induction phase	92
2.2.2.3 Optical density measurement	93
2.2.2.4 Dry cell weights	93
2.2.3 Protein analysis	93
2.2.3.1 Membrane preparations	93
2.2.3.2 Bicinchoninic acid assay	93
2.2.3.3 Fluorescence measurements	94
2.2.3.4 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	95
2.2.3.5 Flow cytometry	96
2.2.3.6 GFP purification	96
2.2.3.7 SDS-PAGE	97
2.2.3.8 Western Blots	97
2.2.3.9 Silver stain	97
2.2.4 Radioligand binding	98
2.2.5 Bartsch Test	99
2.2.6 Mass spectrometry	99
2.2.6.1 Lipid extraction	99
2.2.6.2 Electrospray mass spectrometry	99

3. The effect of antifoams upon small scale recombinant protein production by <i>P</i> .	
pastoris in shake flasks	
3.1 Target protein selection	100
3.1.1 Green fluorescent protein	101
3.1.2 Erythropoetin	101
3.1.3 β1-AR	102

3.1.4 Adenosine _{2a} receptor	102
3.1.5 Aquaporins	103
3.1.6 CHLG	103
3.1.7 Receptor component protein construct	104
3.1.8 Human growth hormone	109
3.2 Target protein implementation	112
3.2.1 Growth characteristics of P. pastoris strain X33-GFP in BMGY	
medium	113
3.3 Antifoams	
3.3.1 The effect of antifoams upon foam destruction	115
3.3.2 The effect of antifoams upon cell viability	118
3.3.2.1 Capacitance	118
3.3.2.2 Propidium iodide staining	119
3.4 The effect of antifoams upon GFP production	120
3.4.1 Antifoams do not induce changes in GFP fluorescence	121
3.4.2 Antifoam addition affects total GFP yield in shake flasks	122
3.4.3 The effects of antifoam addition are due to changes in culture	
density for P2000 and SB2121	125
3.4.4 The effect of antifoams upon the growth rates of log phase P .	
pastoris X33- GFP cells	128
3.5 Effect of antifoams in scale up into 2 L shake flasks	129
3.6 Effect of polyethylene glycol and ethylene glycol upon GFP yield	130
3.7 Effect of antifoams upon GFP purification	132
3.8 Effect of antifoams upon human erythropoietin production	134
3.9 Effect of antifoams upon adenosine 2a receptor production	136
3.10 Summary	137
4. Mechanisms of antifoam action	139
4.1 The effect of antifoams upon GFP secretion	139
4.1.1 Effect of antifoams on the total yield of GFP determined by flow	
cytomety and fluorometry	139

4.1.2 Effect of antifoams upon lipid composition of <i>P. pastoris</i> membranes	143
4.2 Effect of antifoams on the growth characteristics of cells producing GFP	143
4.2.1 The effects of antifoams upon cell metabolism	143
4.2.2 Effect of antifoams upon dissolved oxygen availability in cultures	149
4.2.2.1 Measurements in a multiwell format	149
4.2.2.2 Measurements in a shake flask format	152
4.2.3 Effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ production in shake flask cultures of S.	
cerevisiae strains with different requirements for DO	155
4.2.4 Effect of antifoams upon the $k_L a$ characteristics of cultures in shake	
flasks	157
4.3 Antifoams as potential carbon sources	161
4.4 Summary	164
5. The effects of antifoams upon recombinant protein production in bioreactors	166
5.1 Effect of antifoams upon GFP production in bioreactors	166
5.1.1 Effect of antifoams upon total GFP yield in bioreactors	169
5.1.2 Effect of antifoams upon specific yield of GFP	172
5.1.3 Influence of the culture medium on the results	175
5.1.4 Influence of the point of addition of the antifoam	176
5.2 Effect of antifoams upon oxygen availability in bioreactors	178
5.2.1 Effect of antifoams upon $k_L a$ in bioreactors	178
5.2.2 Effect of antifoams upon DO control in bioreactors	180
5.3 Effect of antifoam upon total EPO yield in bioreactors	183
5.4 Effect of antifoams upon total A2aR yield in bioreactors	184
5.5 Summary	187
6. Discussion	189
6.1 The effect of antifoams upon recombinant protein yield	189
6.1.1 The effects of antifoam upon GFP yields	190
6.1.2 The influence of antifoams upon culture growth rates	191
6.1.3 The influence of antifoams upon secretion	192

6.1.4 Influence of antifoams upon membrane composition	193
6.1.5 Antifoams as a carbon source	194
6.1.6 The influence of culture format	195
6.1.7 Protein-dependent effects	195
6.2 The effects of antifoams upon the oxygenation of recombinant cultures	196
6.3 The effects of antifoam upon protein purification	197
6.4 Conclusion and future work	
7. References	202
8. Appendices	220
8.1 RCP-TEV-GFP sequence alignment	220
8.2 Human growth hormone sequence alignment	226
8.3 Presentations	229
8.4 Publications arising from this thesis	235

ABBREVIATIONS

$A_{2a}R$	Adenosine _{2a} receptor
AQP	Aquaporin
β1-AR	Beta1 adrenergic receptor
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
ВНК	Baby hamster kidney cells
B _{max}	Maximum binding capacity
BMGY	Buffered complex glycerol medium
BMMY	Buffered complex methanol medium
BMY	Buffered complex medium
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine 3', 5' monophosphate
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary cells
CHLG	Chlorophyll synthase
CLR	Calcitonin receptor like receptor
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DO	Dissolved oxygen
DO solution	Drop out solution
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E. coli	Escherichia coli
ECL	Extracellular loop
EG	Ethylene glycol
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPO	Erythropoetin
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GPCR	Guanine nucleotide-binding protein coupled receptor

G-protein	Guanine nucleotide-binding protein
Gs	G-protein stimulatory
h	Hour
HEK	Human embryonic kidney cells
HF	High fidelity
HGH	Human growth hormone
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibition concentration
ICL	Intracellular loop
K _d	Concentration of ligand required to bind half of the receptors
kDa	Kilo Dalton
$k_L a$	Volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient
L	Litre
LB	Luria-Bertani
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells
MFC	Mass flow controller
Min	Minute
Mol	Mole
Mg	Milligram
mL	Millilitre
nm	Nanomolar
Ni-NTA	Nickel nitrilotriacetic acid
OD	Optical density
OTR	Oxygen transfer rate
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBST	Phosphate buffered saline Tween 20
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDB	Protein data bank
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
pН	Negative logarithm of the hydrogen ion concentration
P. pastoris	Pichia pastoris

RCP	Receptor component protein
rpm	Revolutions per minute
S	Second
S. cerevisiae	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Sf	Spodoptera frugiperda
Т	Time
ТАМ	Thermal activity monitor
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl- ethane-1,2-diamine
TEV	Tobacco etch virus
ТМ	Transmembrane domain
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminoethane
Tween 20	Polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate
v/v	Volume/volume
WT	Wild type
w/v	Weight/volume
YPD	Yeast peptone dextrose
YPDS	Yeast peptone dextrose sorbitol
YNB	Yeast nitrogen base

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1 Figure 1.1: Thin-section electron microscopy image of a <i>P. pastoris</i> cell	Page 22
Figure 1.2: Methanol metabolism in methylotrophic yeasts	24
Figure 1.3: Small scale protein production formats	31
Figure 1.4: Micro-24 micro-bioreactor	32
Figure 1.5: 3 L bioreactor set up	33
Figure 1.6: Bridging-dewetting and bridging-stretching antifoam mechanisms	37
Figure 1.7: The structure of GFP	44
Figure 1.8: Mechanism for chromophore formation of GFP	45
Figure 1.9: The structure of EPO	47
Figure 1.10: GPCR signalling pathways	49
Figure 1.11: A generic Family A GPCR within the plasma membrane localized to a li	ipid
raft	51
Figure 1.12 Crystal structure of hA _{2a} R bound to the antagonist ZM241385	53
Figure 1.13: The proposed CGRP receptor complex consisting of CRLR, RAMP1	
and RCP	55
Figure 1.14: Saturation binding curve of a radioligand to a receptor	57
Figure 1.15: Human growth hormone bound to one receptor	59
Figure 1.16: Cholorphyll biosynthesis pathway	61
Figure 1.17: Aquaporin conformation	62
Chapter 2	

Figure 2.1: 3 L stirred tank bioreactor (Applikon Biotechnology) Figure 2.2: Micro-24 micro-bioreactor Figure 2.3: Electrical calibration of a thermal activity monitor (TAM) using Digitam software Figure 2.4: pPICZαA,B,C expression vector Figure 2.5: Nanodrop DNA quantification

Figure 2.6: BCA standard	94
Figure 2.7: GFP standard	95

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1: Schematic for X33-GFP construct	101
Figure 3.2: Schematic for X33-EPO construct	101
Figure 3.3: Schematic for SMD-β1-AR construct	102
Figure 3.4: Schematic for SMD-A _{2a} R construct	102
Figure 3.5: Schematic for X33-AQP7 construct	103
Figure 3.6: Schematic for X33-CHLG construct	103
Figure 3.7: pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP construct design	105
Figure 3.8: Schematic outlining the cloning strategy for the creation of pPICZ α B-RCP-	
TEV-GFP	106
Figure 3.9: Agarose gels showing the amplified RCP sequence at approximately	
450 bp	107
Figure 3.10: Agarose gels showing PCR amplication of GFP	108
Figure 3.11: pPICZαA-HGH construct design	110
Figure 3.12: PCR strategy for HGH amplification and agarose gels	111
Figure 3.13: Agarose gel showing PCR amplification of HGH	112
Figure 3.14: Growth curve for <i>P. pastoris</i> in BMGY medium	113
Figure. 3.15 Silicone polymer and polypropylene glycol structures	115
Figure 3.16: Antifoam Bartsch test	117
Figure 3.17: Biomass of <i>P. pastoris</i> with 0.8% Antifoam C monitored by	
capacitance probe	119
Figure 3.18: Viability of cells determined by propidium iodide staining	120
Figure 3.19: Effect of antifoams upon recombinant GFP fluorescence	121
Figure 3.20: Antifoam addition increases the total yield of GFP in 20 mL <i>P. pastoris</i>	
cultures	123
Figure 3.21: Fluorescence microscopy images of <i>P. pastoris</i> producing GFP	124
Figure 3.22: Haemocytometer counts for <i>P. pastoris</i> cultures	126
Figure 3.23: Effect of antifoams upon the yield of GFP per unit OD in shake flasks	127

Figure 3.24: GFP production in 2 L flasks in the presence of antifoam	
Figure 3.25: The effect of PEG and EG upon GFP yield	
Figure 3.26: The effect of antifoams upon the purification of GFP using nickel affinity	
columns	133
Figure 3.27: The effect of antifoams upon EPO production in shake flasks	135
Figure 3.28: The effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ production in shake flasks	136

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1: The effect of antifoams upon GFP secretion and retention	
Figure 4.2: Effect of antifoams upon total protein secretion	142
Figure 4.3: Thermal activity monitor (TAM)	144
Figure 4.4: Heat output produced by control cultures	145
Figure 4.5: Heat output produced by antifoam-containing cultures	147
Figure 4.6: Heat output produced by antifoam-containing cultures	148
Figure 4.7: PreSens SensorDish reader (SDR) equipment	150
Figure 4.8: PreSens SensorDish reader data	151
Figure 4.9: PreSens shake flask reader equipment	152
Figure 4.10: DO traces for shake flask cultures in the presence of antifoam	154
Figure 4.11: Methanol chromatography trace for <i>P. pastoris</i> shake flask culture	
supernatant	155
Figure 4.12: A _{2a} R production in <i>S. cerevisiae</i> in the presence of antifoams	156
Figure 4.13.: SFR set up for $k_L a$ measurements	158
Figure 4.14: $k_L a$ measurements logged by SFR software	159
Figure 4.15: Antifoams as potential carbon sources at 5% v/v	162
Figure 4.16: Antifoams A and P2000 as potential carbon sources at 10% v/v	163

Chapter 5

Figure 5.1: Example bioreactor trace plotted using BioXpert software	168
Figure 5.2: The effect of antifoams upon GFP production by <i>P. pastoris</i> in 3 L stirre	ed-tank
bioreactors during the induction phase	170
Figure 5.3: Western blot performed on bioreactor X33-GFP culture samples	172

Figure 5.4: The effect of antifoams upon the specific yield of GFP by <i>P. pastoris</i> in	3 L
stirred-tank bioreactors during the induction phase	173
Figure 5.5: Effect of Antifoams upon <i>P. pasto</i> ris X33 producing GFP in basal salts	medium
in shake flasks	175
Figure 5.6: Effect of J673A addition to bioreactor cultures only when foaming	
occurred	177
Figure 5.7: Effect of J673A upon GFP yield without DO control in bioreactors	180
Figure 5.8: Effect of J673A at different DO settings in bioreactors	181
Figure 5.9: Effect of J673A upon specific yield at 70% DO	182
Figure 5.10: Western blot performed on bioreactor X33-EPO samples	184
Figure 5.11: The effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ production by <i>P. pastoris</i> in	
bioreactors	185
Figure 5.12: Binding curve for $A_{2a}R$ produced in the presence of antifoam	186

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1	Page
Table 1.1: Examples of functional human proteins expressed in Pichia pastoris	26
Table 1.2: Comparison of protein expression systems	28
Table 1.3: Comparison of advantages and disadvantages of <i>Pichia pastoris</i> and	
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	29
Table 1.4: Summary of the biological effects of antifoam addition to microbial cell	
factories	39
Table 1.5: Summary of known aquaporin characteristics.	64
Chapter 2	
Table 2.1: Composition of 12% SDS separation gel	76
Table 2.2: Composition of 4% SDS stacking gel	76
Table 2.3: $[^{3}H]ZM241285$ concentrations used to produce a binding curve for A _{2a} R in t	the
presence of antifoams	98
Chapter 3	
Table 3.1: Compositions of antifoams for evaluation	114
Table 3.2.: Summary of Bartsch test findings	118
Table 3.3: Effect of antifoams upon optical density of <i>P. pastoris</i> cultures	125
Table 3.4: Growth rates calculated from the log phase of <i>P. pastoris</i> X33-GFP in the	
presence of optimum concentrations of antifoam	128

Chapter 4

Table 4.1: Effect of DO upon A _{2a} R production by WT and TM6* <i>S. cerevisiae</i> strains	156
Table 4.2: The effect of antifoam addition to the $k_L a$ in shake flasks with BMMY	
medium	160

Chapter 5

Table 5.1: Concentrations of antifoam added to 1 L bioreactor cultures of P	. pastoris
producing GFP	169
Table 5.2: Effect of the presence of antifoams upon $k_L a$ in a 3 L stirred-tank	k bioreactor at
increasing concentrations	179

Chapter 6

Table 6.1: Summary of the effect of antifoams upon recombinant GFP production	n by <i>P</i> .
pastoris in both shake flasks and bioreactors	200

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

This project is concerned with the optimization of recombinant protein production in yeast. Research was specifically conducted into areas of process optimization which have previously received little attention and could become important in obtaining higher yields of recombinant proteins. The work described here focuses on the influence of additives, known as antifoams, on the yield of a range of protein targets in the yeast *Pichia pastoris*. Investigation into the mechanisms of action of antifoams, which were found to have an effect upon yield of protein and growth of the organism, were carried out. The data generated should lead to a more informed approach when choosing antifoams for fermentation processes.

1.2 P. pastoris as a host for recombinant protein production

The production of recombinant proteins is essential for the development of drugs as well as the engineering of antibodies[1], the identification of functions and interactions of proteins[2] and also in the production of enzymes[3]. Valuable proteins such as insulin[4] and human growth hormone[5] have been produced recombinantly on an industrial scale and have enabled treatment and understanding of many diseases.

Recombinant protein production involves the amplification of a DNA sequence encoding the target protein[6] followed by insertion into a vector and transfer to the host cell which will produce the protein[7]. The combination of the DNA encoding the gene of interest, usually from another organism, and the vector DNA results in recombinant DNA; the protein produced by the cells containing this DNA is known as recombinant protein[7].

The vector into which the target DNA is inserted can be replicated inside a host cell to produce clones[8]. The choice of vector depends upon the host organism and the protein to be produced. Vectors typically contain a promoter which can affect the level of gene

expression, and antibiotic resistance or nutrient selection genes to aid selection of the organisms containing the target DNA[8] and expressing the recombinant protein of interest[9]. This work uses the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris* as an expression system for recombinant protein production.

1.2.1 P. pastoris general properties

P. pastoris is an ascomycetous budding yeast of the family *Saccharomycetaceae*[10]. It is Crabtree-negative[11] and methylotrophic, and has been isolated from tree sap, including sap from algarrobo trees[12]. It is strictly aerobic and had its genome sequenced in 2009[13]. A thin-section electron microscopy image of a *P. pastoris* cell is shown in Fig. 1.1.



Figure 1.1: Thin-section electron microscopy image of a P. pastoris cell

G, *Golgi stack; N*, *nucleus; ER*, *peripheral ER membranes; M*, *mitochondrion; V*, *vacuole. Taken from Rossanese et al* 1999[14].

P. pastoris is usually in a vegetative haploid state, and mating occurs when nitrogen is limited to form diploid cells. It is a homothallic yeast and cells of the same strain mate easily. It is thought that *P. pastoris* may have more than one mating type which switches at high frequency, and that mating occurs only between haploid cells of the opposite mating type. This has been shown with the related yeast, *Pichia methanolica*[15]. The diploid cells are able to remain in this state or can proceed to meiosis, where they produce asci containing four haploid spores. *P. pastoris* is most stable in the vegetative haploid state, unlike *S. cerevisiae* where haploid cells are unstable and mate to form diploid cells[15].

Sugars are utilized by all yeasts through a common glycolytic pathway. These metabolic pathways of non-conventional yeasts such as *P. pastoris* were assumed to be identical to those of *S. cerevisiae*, however slight variations exist[16]. As well as glucose, glycerol can be utilized by *P. pastoris* as a carbon source under aerobic conditions[16, 17]. This involves glycerol phosphorylation by a cytosolic glycerol kinase to 3-phosphoglycerol, which is then oxidized by a mitochondrial FAD-dependent glycerol phosphate ubiquitone oxidoreductase to produce dihydroxyacetone phosphate which is used in pyruvate synthesis and gluconeogenesis[18]. *P. pastoris* has a high glycerol uptake rate and 4 genes have been discovered that encode H⁺/glycerol symporters[19]. This makes glycerol an effective substrate to accumulate biomass whilst repressing the alcohol oxidase 1 (*AOXI*) promoter before induction to produce recombinant protein[20].

Koichi Ogata found that methanol could be used as a sole carbon source by some species of yeast such as *Candida, Hansenula, Pichia* and *Torulopsis* in 1969[21-23]. In the 1970's due to the low cost of acquiring methanol from methane these species were appealing for the production of single cell protein for animal feed[22, 23]. Phillips Petroleum Company developed the methods and media in order for *P. pastoris* to grow to high cell densities on methanol. However the price of methane rose due to the oil crisis and another source of animal feed protein, soy beans, became cheaper. Consequently interest was lost in the species until the 1980's when a new use was found. Phillips together with The Salk Institute of Biotechnology used *P. pastoris* as an expression system for heterologous protein production, utilizing the *AOX1* gene and promoter[24].

A large proportion of methanol transport into *P. pastoris* is thought to occur by passive diffusion[25, 26]. Methanol is then metabolized by *P. pastoris* as the sole carbon source beginning with oxidation of methanol to formaldehyde catalysed by the alcohol oxidase (*AOX*) enzyme also producing hydrogen peroxide. This occurs within the peroxisome which prevents damage to the cell by sequestering the toxic hydrogen peroxide[22] illustrated in Fig. 1.2. The *AOX1* and *AOX2* genes code for *AOX*, but *AOX1* is responsible for around 90% of the enzyme in the cell[22, 27]. Methanol strongly induces the *AOX1* promoter and can therefore be utilized to initiate the expression of the desired protein whether or not it is toxic. Higher expression levels can be obtained by using the *AOX1* promoter rather than *AOX2*.



Figure 1.2: Methanol metabolism in methylotrophic yeasts

Adapted from Gellissen, G (2002)[28](1) alcohol oxidase, (2) catalase, (3) glutathione-dependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase, (4) S-formylglutathione hydrolase, (5) formate dehydrogenase, (6) dehydroxyacetone synthase, (7) Pmp20. Abbreviations: S-HMG, S-hydroxymethyl glutathione; S-FG, Sformylglutathione; GSH, reduced glutathione; GSSG; oxidized glutathione; Pmp20, peroxisome membrane protein with glutathione peroxidase activity; Xu5P, xylulose-5-phosphate; GAP, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate; DHAP, dehydroxyacetone phosphate. Initial growth on glucose or glycerol prevents transcription and can be used to increase biomass before switching to methanol[22, 27, 29-31]. Growth on glycerol is preferred to glucose, however, as even in the presence of methanol, glucose represses transcription of the of *AOX1* promoter[9].

Three strains are available: (i) the wild type methanol utilization plus phenotype (Mut⁺) as well as strains with either (ii) deletion in the *AOX1* gene (methanol utilization slow, Mut^s) which instead utilizes *AOX2* resulting in slower methanol metabolism and growth which may in some cases be desired over more rapid growth, or (iii) deletion in both genes (methanol utilization minus, Mut⁻) which prevents growth upon methanol[27, 29]. However the disadvantages of the *AOX1* promoter are that two carbon sources are needed for adequate protein yield, large volumes of methanol must be stored which can be a fire hazard, and some products intended for use in foods may not be suitable for expression with methanol. Some reports have suggested methanol-free expression of recombinant proteins with *AOX1* promoter control[32]. Other promoters present in *P. pastoris* such as glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAP*), formaldehyde dehydrogenase (*FLD1*) and isocitrae lysate (*ICL1*) are less widely used to drive protein expression[29]. Protease deficient strains are also available[33].

Hundreds of proteins have now been expressed using *P. pastoris*[22, 27]. Some examples of human proteins expressed are shown in Table 1.1.

<i>ick</i> et		
-Patr		
auley		
l Mac		
i] ana		
0)[34		
. (200		
Jregg		
and (
ghino		
Cereg		
from		
upted,		
s. Adc		
astori		
chia p		
<i>in</i> Pic		
sssed		
expre		
teins		
n pro		
һита		
onal		
functi		
es of		
ampl	_	
I: Ex	(129)	
ble I.	(2005	
Ta	al	

	-	
Protein	Expression level	Application
B2-Adrenergic receptor	25 nmol/g	Structure/function studies
Human aquaporin 10 (hAQP10)	30 mg/L[35]	Functional studies
Adenosine 2a receptor	200 pmol/mg	Structure/function studies
Bile salt-stimulated lipase	300 mg/L	Therapeutics
Caspase-3	1 ug/g	Functional studies
CD38	45 mg/L	Functional studies
Endostatin	20 mg/L	Therapeutics
Erythropoietin (EPO) receptor	200 mg/L	Functional studies
Granzyme B	1 mg/L	Structure/function studies
Green fluorescent protein (GFP)	1.2 g/L[36]	Optimization studies
Human growth hormone	500 mg/L[37]	Therapeutics
Interleukin-17	0.35 mg/L	Structure/function studies
Leukemia inhibitory factor	17 mg/L	Functional studies
Mast cell tryptase	6.5 mg/L	Functional studies
Monocyte chemotactic protein-3	1 mg/L	Functional studies
Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM)	50 mg/L	Functional studies
Pancreatic α-amylase	20 mg/L	Structural studies
Serum albumin	3 g/L	Therapeutics
Tissue factor extracellular domain	10 mg/L	Functional studies
Tumor necrosis factor	10 g/L	Functional studies
Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF165)	40 mg/L	Therapeutics

1.2.2 Comparison of *P. past*oris with other host systems for recombinant protein production

Bacterial hosts such as *Escherichia coli* were the first to be employed for the purposes of recombinant protein production[38] and a wide range of host expression systems can now be used to achieve sufficient yields of protein. Mammalian cells such as Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, baby hamster kidney (BHK) cells, Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial (MDCK) cells, mouse myeloma (NS0) and human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells[39, 40] are commonly used for protein expression. Insect cell lines used are ovarian cells from Spodoptera frugiperda (Sf) and eggs from Trichoplusia ni known as high-five cells[41]. Whilst in principle these higher eukaryotic host cells provide the most authentic environment for the production of human recombinant proteins, they are relatively expensive and slow to culture. Microbial eukaryotes in the form of yeast therefore provide an attractive compromise since they have a well established history in biotechnology, especially in the brewing and baking industries. Their growth characteristics are well known and have also been exploited as effective expression systems for recombinant proteins. Saccharomyces cerevisiae in particular is well studied and frequently utilized, although more recently other species such as Kluyveromyces lactis, Hansenula polymorpha, Yarrowia lipolytica and P. pastoris have been successfully used[39].

P. pastoris is easy to culture to high cell densities and capable of producing high yields of proteins such as 12 g/L of tetanus toxin fragment C and 2.5 g/L of invertase[23, 42]. Advantages of *P. pastoris* over other expression systems such as prokaryotic *E. coli* are that post translational modifications are carried out such as disulfide bond formation, proteolytic processing, glycosylation and folding[22, 23, 42]. Proteins that may be inactive or end up in inclusion bodies in bacteria are biologically active when produced by *P. pastoris*[22]. Furthermore, proteins expressed by *P. pastoris* are not contaminated with endotoxins, as is sometimes the case with those produced by bacteria. Secretion of proteins into the culture medium means more efficient purification and as much as 30% of the total protein in the medium can be the target protein. The secretory pathway of *P. pastoris* is also similar to that of mammalian cells but with the advantage of quicker production of protein and reduced equipment and media costs compared to that required by mammalian

and insect cells[23, 42]. A summary of the characteristics of each system is shown in Table 1.2.

Characteristics	E. coli	Yeast	Insect Cells	Mammalian Cells
Cell doubling time	30 min	90 min	18-24 h	18-24 h
Extracellular expression	Secretion to periplasm	Secretion to medium	Secretion to medium	Secretion to medium
Yield (mg L ⁻¹ culture)	50-500	10-200	10-200	0.1-100
Protein folding	Usually needed	Often folded; refolding may be needed	Properly folded	Properly folded
N-linked glycosylation	No	High mannose	Simple, no sialic acid	Complex
O-linked glycosylation	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Phosphorylation	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Acetylation	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Acylation	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cost	Low	Low	Moderate	High

Table 1.2: Comparison of protein expression systems. Adapted from GenWay Biotech Inc (2009)[43]

1.2.3 Comparison of P. pastoris with S. cerevisiae

Saccharomyces cerevisiae is a budding yeast and a member of the family *Saccharomycetaceae*[44]. It is Crabtree-positive[45] and its genome was the first of the eukaryotes to be fully sequenced and annotated[46]. It is able to utilize glucose and is capable of both aerobic and anaerobic respiration. One of the notable features of *S*. *cerevisiae* is that it is able to control the switch from fermentation to respiration by changing to a mixed respiro-fermentative metabolism once the external glucose concentration is greater than 0.8 mM, leading to the production of ethanol. Therefore, high glucose levels lead to ethanol production whereas low levels do not[47].

S. cerevisiae is a popular tool for recombinant protein production with a well-understood biochemistry and a range of promoters available[48]. However, *P. pastoris* has advantages over other species of yeast including *S. cerevisiae*, summarized in Table 1.3. Due to similar

growth requirements to *S. cerevisiae*, new protocols for growth were not needed for *P. pastoris*, and benefits such as the ability to reach higher cell densities and the presence of the *AOX1* gene make the species more popular for protein production[23]. In addition, less hyperglycosylation is observed in *P. pastoris* than in *S. cerevisiae*[49]which can lead to improper folding and hyperantigenicity which therefore interferes with therapeutic use. An absence of mannose residues in 1,3-terminal linkages in glycoproteins secreted by *P. pastoris* make them better suited for possible therapeutic use than those secreted by *S. cerevisiae* where there are many of these linkages[42, 50].

Properties	P. pastoris	S. cerevisiae
Strongly inducible promoter	1	✓ ‡
Grows to high cell densities	<i>」」</i>	√ #
High product yield	1	×
Longer high mannose chains	×	1
Shorter high mannose chains	1	×
Frequent hyperglycosylation	×	1
Common hyperantigenicity	×	1
Stable plasmids	1	×
Secretion of proteins into media	1	×
Annotated genome	1	1

Table 1.3: Comparison of advantages and disadvantages of Pichia pastoris and Saccharomyces cerevisiae

⁺A range of promoters of varying strengths are avaliable

++ Due to its respiro-fermentative metabolism, biomass yields are typically lower than *P. pastoris*

Strains of *P. pastoris* have been developed where the glycosylation pathway has been engineered to produce recombinant antibodies with human N-glycosylation patterns[49] as well as strains able to secrete human glycoproteins, such as erythropoietin, with fully complex terminally sialylated N-glycans[51]. The construction plasmids of *P. pastoris* have also been found to be more stable than those of *S. cerevisiae* making the strains more reliable[52]. Overall *P. pastoris* is a very attractive host for protein production that is now being widely exploited[22, 23, 27, 29, 34]. During the last 15 years, 80% of all recombinant genes reported in the literature were expressed by either *E. coli* or *P. pastoris*[53].

1.3 Protein production formats

Recombinant proteins can be produced in *P. pastoris* in a variety of formats. Small systems include microtiter plates for culturing small volumes, deep well plates which can culture several milliliters and shake flasks which can be used to grow a few millilitres up to litres of culture. Larger scale production is performed in bioreactors which can range in volume from 250 mL up to thousands of litres of culture.

1.3.1 Small scale protein production

Colony screening and optimization tests are frequently performed in deep well plate or shake flask formats[54] as shown in Fig. 1.3. The manageable size allows a range of conditions or colonies to be tested simultaneously. Technology such as the PreSens shake flask and plate readers allow online monitoring of dissolved oxygen (DO) and pH in these systems, providing additional information enabling the precise control of the culture.



Figure 1.3: Small scale protein production formats

Shake flask cultures (left) and a deep well plate with 24 wells (right) containing cultures of P. pastoris in a shaking incubator. Photographed at Aston University.

The Microbioreactor 24 (Pall Corporation) allows growth of cultures in 24 'mini bioreactors' with control over the shaker speed, temperature, DO and pH and provides online monitoring. It has been successfully used to develop a DoE model[36] and is also well-suited to screening colonies and is shown in Fig.1.4.



Figure 1.4: Micro-24 micro-bioreactor

Equipment details are given in Chapter 2. Image taken from Wolf Labs website: http://www.wolflabs.co.uk/Applikon_Micro_24_Bioreactor.htm

1.3.2 Large scale protein production

Deep well plates and shake flasks are useful in screening for high-yielding clones and for maintaining basic cultivation parameters such as temperature. However, high yields of protein are often not achieved. Despite recent developments allowing pH and DO monitoring in shake flasks and plates, there remain restrictions in volume, particularly in plates as evaporation is a common problem[54], and even more importantly oxygen transfer rates are limited. The inability to adequately control pH and DO in these formats is a substantial limitation. In contrast, scale-up to bioreactors provides tight control and allows online monitoring of culture conditions, thereby facilitating the development of effective feeding strategies and further optimization of a given bioprocess to produce much greater quantities of protein [29]. An example of the set-up in the laboratory at Aston University is shown in Fig. 1.5.



Figure 1.5: 3 L bioreactor set up

3 *L* stirred tank bioreactor (Applikon Biotechnology) set up and photographed at Aston University. Equipment details are given in Chapter 2.

In order to grow, aerobic yeast such as *P. pastoris* require a sufficient concentration of dissolved oxygen in the medium. One of the major differences from scaling from deepwell plates or shake flasks to bioreactors is the difference in oxygen transfer rate. This can be controlled much more effectively in a bioreactor with the stirrer speed and introduction of gases. The rate of oxygen transfer depends upon the k_La , or volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient, and upon $C_{1,\infty}$ - C_1 , where C_1 is the dissolved oxygen concentration and $C_{1,\infty}$ is the oxygen saturation concentration in the liquid phase at the gas-liquid interface[55]. The k_La is a measure of how much oxygen is transferred into the medium

over a certain amount of time[56]. The k_La of a system can be influenced by several factors such as properties of the medium like viscosity, the presence of organisms and their byproducts. Additions to the medium such as antifoams also have an effect[56, 57]. It has been observed that low concentrations of antifoam can reduce the k_La but at higher concentrations the k_La may rise[58, 59]. To ensure optimum oxygen transfer within a system, the effect of differing concentrations of the antifoam to be used should be assessed, although this is not typically done.

1.3.3 Bioprocess optimization in recombinant protein production

The consistent attainment of high yields of recombinant proteins in host expression systems including *P. pastoris* is often an obstacle to furthering research. For this reason, considerable effort has been directed into process optimization either through varying one factor at a time[36, 60, 61] or by using 'design of experiments' (DoE) approaches which enable analysis of several factors simultaneously[36, 62].

Many optimization and scale-up methods are still based upon the inefficient and timeconsuming approach of varying one parameter at a time while maintaining the others. This is particularly undesirable when a range of conditions need to be investigated, such as the temperature, pH, DO, medium composition and presence of additives. However, studies have successfully identified key process parameters using this approach[63]. A more systematic approach such as the DoE model is becoming more widely used. DoE allows the investigation of numerous parameters while reducing the number of experiments to build a predictive model and generate an equation linking the parameters to yield[36]. This has recently been demonstrated effectively by Holmes *et al* who successfully increased the specific yield of *P. pastoris* producing green fluorescent protein in the induction phase[36].

Recombinant protein production experiments in *P. pastoris* and *S. cerevisiae* are most commonly optimized in bioreactors by varying feeding and induction strategies[64-66]. For *P. pastoris*, induction with various methanol concentrations[67] and mixed feeds of glycerol and methanol, or methanol and sorbitol have been investigated[36, 68-70], often

with the aim of optimizing the specific growth rate, μ [67, 70]. It has also been demonstrated that strict maintenance of the culture pH[71] and varying the temperature during the induction step are important factors in increasing protein yields[72], both of which are simple to accomplish using a bioreactor. The optimum pH, temperature and DO required can vary with each strain and the protein being produced. For example, Jamshad and colleagues found that the growth temperature for the production of the human tetraspanin, CD81, in *P. pastoris* was 30 °C[73] whilst in another study Dragosits and colleagues demonstrated that decreasing temperature from 30 °C to 20 °C was optimal for the production of the antibody fragment, Fab 3H6[74]. A careful analysis of how the culture responds to the growth conditions is vital in achieving high yields of protein.

Investigation into the effects of various additives upon fermentation cultures of yeast has helped to optimize some processes. It has been discovered that addition of DMSO and histidine improved the yields of recombinant proteins[63, 75]. It was also found that addition of GPCR-specific ligands enhanced the yield of the receptors[63, 76-78]. The addition of tween-80 and oleic acid was found by Tang *et al* to improve yields of recombinant protein[79]. In contrast, the addition of antifoam components to bioprocesses is not typically optimized[80, 81].

1.4 Foaming

Recombinant proteins are often produced on a large scale in bioreactors for therapeutic use or research purposes after small scale screening for optimum conditions. Foaming is a problem that is particularly acute in bioreactors due to gassing used to maintain appropriate DO concentrations. It can lead to reduced process productivity since bursting bubbles can damage proteins[82], result in loss of sterility if the foam escapes the bioreactor[83] or more catastrophically, can lead to over-pressure if a foam-out blocks an exit filter. Examples of undesired foam formation can be seen in fermentation processes used for paper, food, beverage and drug production such as the synthesis of antibiotics[84]. Unwanted foaming can also occur during water purification, blood transfusions, and in the dyeing of fabrics[84, 85].
Foam is made up of liquid lamellas which are full of gas. Foams with high liquid content are unstable, while dry polyhedric foams are more stable and usually formed due to mechanical stresses[86]. To prevent the formation of foam, mechanical foam breakers, ultrasound or, most often, the addition of chemical antifoaming agents (or "antifoams")[83] are routinely employed in bioreactors and large shake flasks. There is a well-established literature on antifoams, highlighting their importance in bioprocesses[83]. Antifoams can be classified as either hydrophobic solids dispersed in carrier oil, aqueous suspensions/emulsions, liquid single components or solids[87-89]. Many antifoams are commercially-available, with 19 being sold by Sigma-Aldrich alone. While little information is routinely given about their composition, their specific antifoam properties have been thoroughly investigated. These include their effects on foam height with time, their influence on the volumetric oxygen mass transfer coefficient (k_La) of the system, their gas hold-up characteristics and their globule size and distribution in relation to their action upon foams.

In bioreactors, foam probes can be used to administer antifoams, where a current is produced when foam touches the probe and is detected by a controller. The controller then causes antifoam to be added to the vessel. However, if the volume of the culture increases during the fermentation, this could cause constant stimulation of the probe leading to excessive amounts of antifoam being added to the vessel when it is not required and also damaging the equipment[86]. Consequently, antifoams are often added manually to processes on a laboratory scale.

Some simple methods of determining the ability of antifoams to reduce foam are the Bartsch shaking test[90] and the Ross-Miles pouring test[91]. Several mechanisms of action for these agents have been suggested which include bridging-dewetting, spreading fluid entrainment and bridging-stretching[92]. For oil-based antifoams, bridging-dewetting and bridging-stretching mechanisms are known to occur and are illustrated in Fig. 1.6. Bridging-dewetting (Fig 1.6A) occurs if the contact angle, θ_{aw} , of an oil drop with the surface of the foam film is > 90° and the bridging coefficient, B, is > 0; the drop shape alters and becomes a bi-convex lens (Fig 1.6 A (c)). The film is then ruptured (Fig 1.6A)

(d)). However, if B < 0 there is no shape change and a stable bridge is formed. With bridging stretching (Fig 1.6B), the oil particle bridges the foam film surface (Fig 1.6B (a) and (b)). This leads to the formation of an oil bridge which stretches over time, becoming an unstable film. When the film ruptures, the entire foam structure is destroyed (Fig 1.6B (c) and (d))[84].



Figure 1.6: Bridging-dewetting and bridging-stretching antifoam mechanisms

(A) Bridging-dewetting, where the contact angle of an oil drop causes it to become a bi-convex lens, rupturing the film, and (B)bridging-stretching where the oil particle bridges the foam film surface forming an oil bridge, which stretches forming an unstable film, eventually rupturing the foam. Adapted from Denkov and Marinova 2006[84]

Much of the literature available on antifoams in fermentation processes documents their effects upon the dissolved oxygen and the k_La in a system, as these factors are well known to be affected by these agents[56-59, 93-97].

1.5 Antifoams in bioprocesses

Both positive and negative effects have been observed, for example Al-Masry[93] suggested that a silicon-based antifoam negatively affected the mass transfer coefficient, gas hold up and gas velocity within the media and Joshi suggested that antifoams could damage the equipment. However it was found by Koch *et al*[96] that antifoams without silicon oil did not greatly affect the oxygen transfer rate. Such studies have been performed in various growth media in both the absence and presence of cultures of prokaryotic and eukaryotic microbes[83, 88, 92, 93, 95, 96, 98]. In contrast, literature on the biological effects of antifoams on recombinant protein production by microbial host cells is more limited.

1.5.1 A review of the antifoam literature

Table 1.4 shows an analysis of representative examples of this body of work. This illustrates that antifoams may exert a variety of effect upon fermentation processes, depending upon the type of antifoam, medium, and process conditions within the bioreactor and the concentrations of antifoam used.

Varley *et al*[83] tested an unspecified antifoam at unspecified concentrations, which is of little use when deciding upon the most suitable antifoam for a process, and only provides useful information to those looking to alter the process to avoid the use of antifoam. The article highlights the fact that even with alterations to the process conditions, headspace would still be required in the vessel reducing the volume of culture, and therefore a system without antifoam is still not operating at optimum conditions.

Table 1.4: Summary of the effects of antifoam addition to microbial cell factories

Data from the references cited were analyzed for details of the experimental set-up (vessel, concentration of antifoam used) and whether the addition of the given antifoam (or other additive as part of the same study) affected the yield or growth characteristics of the cells. The yield data are reported according to the units specified in the respective reference. OTR is oxygen transfer rate, k_{La} is the volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient and μ is the specific growth rate (h^{-1})

Microbial cell factory	Vessel	Antifoam	Effect on protein yield?	Effect on growth rate of cells?	Data to support a mechanistic rationale?	Other observations	Reference
Prokaryotes							
<i>Escherichia coli</i> K- 12 producing β- galactosidase fusion protein	Bioreactor (2 L and 60 L working volume)	S184	Reduces specific activity	No change below 250 ppm No data reported above 250 ppm	No	OTR reduced in early stages of cultivation	[96]
, 		SLM54474	Reduces specific activity	Decreases with increasing concentration	No	Minimal effect on OTR and $k_{\rm L}a$	[96]
		VP1133	No effect	No change below 250 ppm No data reported above 250 ppm	No	OTR reduced in early stages of cultivation	[96]
		SE9	Increases volumetric activity	Low µ at 555 ppm High µat 5000 ppm	No	OTR reduced in early stages of cultivation	[96]
Geobacillus thermoleovorans secreting a-amylase	Shake flasks	PEG8000	Increases titre at 0.5 %	No effect	No	Increased membrane permeability hypothesized	[66]
		Tween-20	Increases titre at 0.3 %	No effect	No	As above	[66]
		Tween-40	Increases titre at 0.3 %	No effect	No	As above	[66]
		Tween-60	Increases titre at 0.3 %	No effect	No	As above	[66]
		SDS, Tween-80 and cholic acid	Increases titre by a factor of 2	No effect	No	As above	[66]
		TritonX-100	Reduces titre	Not reported	No		

[100]	[100]		[101]	[101]	[101]	[101]	[101]	[101]
Cells become more hydrophilic	Cells become more hydrophobic		Anionic residues hypothesised to be important for exocytosis					
No	No		No	No	No	No	No	No
Not reported	Not reported		No effect	Cells do not grow at >0.001 %	Not reported	Growth defect at >0.001 %	No effect	Growth defect at 1 %
Increases productivity (U $mL^{-1}h^{-1}$) by a factor of 1.5 at 20 %	Reduces productivity (U mL ⁻¹ h ⁻¹) by a factor of 2 at 20 %		Increases specific yield by a factor of 7	Not reported	Increases specific yield (< 0.01 %)	Decreases specific yield	No effect	Increases specific yield at 0.1 %
PEG600	PEG600		Dextran sodium sulphate (0.001 – 0.1 %)	SDS (0.001 – 0.1 %)	Deoxycholate	Tween 20	TritonX-100 (0.002 %)	PEG8000
Bioreactor	Bioreactor		Not given; probably shake flasks					
Bacillus subtilis secreting α-amylase	Bacillus amyloliquefaciens secreting α-amylase	Eukaryotes	Schizosaccharomyc es pombe secreting human transferrin					

Research conducted by Koch *et al*[96] was thorough and investigated several possible effects of four antifoams from different groups on recombinant *E. coli* cultures. As well as evaluating influence upon gas hold up, bubble velocity and k_La as carried out in several other studies, it also investigated the biological effects of the antifoams, observing cell growth and recombinant protein yield. It illustrates the fact that different antifoam types have different effects upon factors in fermentation cultures, and therefore the importance of understanding these influences when choosing a suitable antifoam. For these reasons, Koch concluded that more research needs to be carried out into this area, including upon other principal organisms commonly used in fermentations such as species of yeast.

Many studies were concerned mainly with the effects of the antifoams on the mechanical aspects of fermentations, such as foam height over time. Other variables such as the k_La , and gas hold up, were investigated by Al-Masry[93], Varley *et al*[83], Koch *et al*[96] and Çalik *et al*[95]. The study by Denkov *et al*[92] provided valuable insight into the mechanisms of antifoam action by evaluating the properties of antifoams. However, few studies monitored the biological effects of the antifoams, suggesting that this area is not always considered. The question of toxicity effects of the antifoams was not raised in any of the articles reviewed and would be useful for those using fermentation for drug production.

Holmes *et al*[82] conducted research into the effects of four antifoams of different types on the recombinant protein yield and growth of *P. pastoris* and *S. cerevisiae* in YPD and SD^{-URA} media, respectively. Various concentrations of antifoams were tested up to 8%. The findings varied among the differing types of antifoam. Growth of the organisms was increased by the addition of an alcoxylated fatty acid ester on vegetable base, and protein yields at concentrations of antifoam greater than 1% was decreased, although growth increased with certain antifoams[82].

Table 1.4 includes a small part of the wide range of antifoams and compositions available just from the studies reviewed. New antifoams are being developed, demonstrated by Çalik *et al*[95], and without understanding their effects it becomes more and more difficult to

select an appropriate antifoam to achieve optimum conditions during fermentation. Table 1.4 also shows that antifoams were evaluated with several different types of media. Comparison between different media was only investigated by Holmes *et al*[82], Etoc *et al*[98] and Çalik *et al*[95], and more thorough investigation of their influence would be useful in optimization.

Another key factor that was not thoroughly evaluated was the effect of differing concentration of antifoams upon the process being investigated. Only two studies reviewed attempted to discern the effects of concentration. It is possible that results obtained from the other studies could be very different under alternative concentrations, and an optimum for each of the variables could have been determined. It has been shown by Holmes *et al*[82] that concentration of antifoam has a definite influence upon the growth of organisms and recombinant protein yield during fermentation, and therefore concentrations are significant factors to consider and should be included in future research. Increased knowledge of the optimum concentration and type of antifoam to be added to a process is important, and will allow any possible beneficial effects upon growth and product yield to be exploited.

Overall, there have been few studies on the effects of antifoams in fermentation processes, and because of the numerous possible effects they may exert, information covering each area is brief and not always complete. Holmes *et al*[82] and Etoc *et al*[98] demonstrated that antifoams can adversely and positively influence these parameters, but further research into this area is required to verify the findings and to encompass the wide range of antifoam types and concentrations that may be used. Furthermore, more concise data is essential for each group of antifoams and for the most commonly used antifoams in fermentation processes to allow an informed decision to be made in order to achieve the optimum set up for the run. This will help to reduce costs and allow the user to select an antifoam that has an appropriate effect upon their process, whether that be destroying foams alone, changing the k_1a , reducing damage to equipment, altering the growth of organisms or influencing product yield. Adequate information about antifoam action upon the protein yield and the growth of the cells during fermentation is not available in the literature suggested by the review of published antifoam data. For these reasons, an evaluation of the effects of

several antifoams on different protein targets was undertaken in the project presented in this thesis.

1.6 Target proteins

A range of soluble and membrane proteins have been expressed using *P. pastoris* for use as therapeutics, or targets in the development of drugs as well as for functional studies[29, 34]. Several targets were considered for optimization studies in this project.

1.6.1 Green fluorescent protein

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) is used as a fluorescent marker and was first isolated from the coelenterate, *Aequoria Victoria* or Pacific jellyfish, and can also be isolated from *Renilla reinformis*, the sea pansy[102]. Its natural function in these organisms is currently not well understood[103]. The Nobel Prize for Chemistry 2008 was awarded to Osamu Shimomura, Martin Chalfie and Roger Tsien for their discoveries leading to its many uses[104]. In the jellyfish *Aequoria Victoria*, the two proteins aequorin and GFP interact to produce green light. Aequorin is a photoprotein composed of 196 amino acids (21 kDa) and consists of molecular oxygen, apoaequorin which is a chromophoric unit, and a covalently bound prosthetic group, coelenterazine[105, 106]. When Ca^{2+} interacts with three highaffinity binding sites[105], colenterazine is oxidized to an excited coelenteramide[106]. When coelenteramide returns to its ground state, blue light at 460 nm is emitted as well as $CO_2[105-107]$. GFP absorbs the light and re-emits green light at 509 nm[105, 107].

Aequoria Victoria GFP (avGFP) is composed of 238 amino acids and is 24 kDa with a β barrel structure formed by 11 β -sheets surrounding a chromophore[108, 109]. The wildtype structure of GFP was determined in 1996 by Yang *et al*[110] and is shown in Fig. 1.7, but previously the structures of mutants had been reported[111]. The chromophore is formed by post-translational modification of three amino acids of the internal helix at positions 65-67 (numbering according to *Aequoria Victoria*)[108, 109]. The side chain of the first residue at position 65 can vary between natural GFP-like proteins, but the Tyr66 and Gly67 are conserved[108, 109]. The β -barrel protects the chromophore from the surrounding environment[108, 109] and prevents non-radiative deactivation[108]. The barrel is stabilized by numerous non covalent interactions giving the protein resistance to thermal and chemical denaturation as well as proteolysis[109].



Figure 1.7: The structure of GFP

A, the β -barrel with semitransparent surface shown from the side; B, the β -barrel shown from above; C and D, the chromophore and nearby residues with carbon atoms coloured grey, nitrogen atoms coloured blue and oxygen atoms coloured red. Taken from Chudakov et al 2010[109].

The chromophore of GFP is a *p*-hydroxybenzylideneimidazolinone[112] synthesized without cofactors or enzymes as modifications are made to the internal amino acids by the β -barrel, only requiring molecular oxygen[108, 109]. This feature allows functional expression of the protein in a range of systems[108]. The first stage involves folding of GFP into a semi-native conformation[112] followed by cyclization of the protein backbone

at positions 65-67 (Ser-Tyr-Gly in avGFP)[109] to an α -enolate form[108]. Then follows oxidation to cyclic imine[108] and finally dehydration of C α -C β bond of Tyr66 with molecular oxygen[108, 109]. These reactions are illustrated in Fig. 1.8. A two-ring structure is formed which is able to absorb and emit light[109].



Figure 1.8: Mechanism for chromophore formation of GFP

A-B, cyclization of the tripeptide to an α *-enolate form; B-C, oxidation to cyclic imine; C-D-E, dehydration of the* C α -C β bond of Tyr66 forming a chromophore able to emit green light in a deprotonated state. Adapted from Stepanenko 2011[108].

Wild type GFP has a major excitation peak at 395 nm and an emission peak at 509 nm[102]. Fluorescence of GFP is stable. It can be detected under UV light [113], and imaging and quantification are simple. It can be detected in living cells[114], and can be fused to the amino or caboxy terminus of proteins for example aquaporins, to study their functions within cells, as well as levels of expression[113]. For these reasons, GFP is one of the most utilized fluorescent proteins as a marker[102, 113, 115, 116], and due to the fluorophore being gene encoded, GFP cDNA has been cloned[113] and several variants have been produced with differing spectra, optimized expression and pH sensitivity, which convey advantages for use under a wider range of conditions[117].

GFP has been recombinantly expressed in *E. coli*[107], *Caenorhabditis elegans*, *Drosophila melanogaster*, mammalian cells such as HeLa[118] as well as yeasts such as *P. pastoris*[36] and *S.cerevisiae*[119]. Fluorimetry and confocal microscopy are the most common methods of assaying GFP[36, 107, 111, 118].

1.6.2 Erythropoietin

Erythropoeitin (EPO) is a glycoprotein hormone which is involved in the regulation of red blood cell production. It induces the proliferation, differentiation and maturation of bone marrow erythroid precursors into erythrocytes during instances of low blood oxygen[120, 121]. It is also involved in the neurosystem as a neuroprotective and is able to protect other organs[120]. EPO is composed of 161 amino acids with a weight of 30 kDa in its mature form[122]. It is a member of the cytokine family that includes interleukins 2-7, growth hormone and leptin[121]. EPO binds to the EPO receptor on the surface of erythroid progenitor cells with high affinity[120, 121]. Binding triggers signal transduction by ligand mediated receptor dimerization on the cell surface[121]. The crystal structure of EPO bound to the extracellular binding domains of the EPO receptor was determined at 1.9 Å by Syed *et al* in 1998[123] and is shown in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9: The structure of EPO

Heterotrimeric assembly of EPO (green) with 2 molecules of EPO receptor (blue and pink). Reproduced from the Protein Data Bank entryleer, accession number P01588 [124].

Normally, EPO is expressed in low levels by the kidney or liver of adults therefore many human donors are required to provide enough material for treatment. The use of recombinant human EPO has been approved by the FDA[122], and is used to treat blood disorders and anaemia associated with renal failure, cancer, HIV infection and chronic inflammatory disease[120, 122]. CHO cells are currently used to provide larger quantities of EPO[120, 122], however protein production using mammalian cells is often costly and inefficient. *E. coli* has been used to produce EPO, but prokaryotes cannot glycosylate proteins and the glycosylation of EPO is important in the prolongation of its biological half-life[122]. *S. cerevisiae* has also been used to produce EPO but hyperglycosylates proteins. *P. pastoris* is a more attractive host and has been used to produce EPO with the benefit of performing post-translational modifications without hyperglycosylation and at higher cell densities[121, 122]. The native polypeptide form of human EPO (18 kDa) was

produced in *P. pastoris* for the first time by Celik *et al* in 2007[122]. Commonly used assays for EPO quantification are ELISAs[125] and Western blots[120].

1.6.3 G protein-coupled receptors and accessory proteins

G protein- coupled receptors (GPCRs) are important membrane proteins and are involved in most physiological processes in the body[63]. They are targeted by over 30% of all drugs [68]. The superfamily consists of more than 800 human proteins making it one of the largest with many ligands such as hormones, lipids, neurotransmitters, ions and photons[64]. Other compounds may also bind to GPCRs; agonists, which are ligands that bind to a receptor and alter the receptor state which causes a biological response; antagonists, which reduce the action of agonists and may act at the same receptor macromolecule as the agonist; inverse agonists, which bind to receptors and reduce the fraction of them in an active conformation[126].

Agonists activate a heterotrimeric guanosine triphosphate-binding protein, or G-protein consisting of an α , β and γ subunit. [127]. The binding of an agonist to a GPCR leads to a conformational change which activates the associated G-protein. GTP is exchanged for GDP on the α -subunit causing the G-protein to dissociate from the receptor and also the dissociation of the α -subunit from the $\beta\gamma$ -complex. These subunits, the α -GTP and the $\beta\gamma$, are then able to interact with other protein targets such as enzymes or ion channels and a vast range of intracellular signals are activated to cause a physiological response[127-129] illustrated by Figure 1.10. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded to Alfred. G. Gilman and Martin Rodbell in 1994 for their work on G-proteins[130].



Figure 1.10: GPCR signalling pathways

A variety of ligands bind to the numerous GPCRs leading to G protein activation which in turn causes a range of physiological responses. Reproduced from http://www.ibibiobase.com/projects/db-drd4/G_protein.htm[131]

There are numerous classification systems for GPCRs, the most commonly used being the A-F system[71, 74] and the GRAFS system[72]. The A-F system describes GPCRs found in both vertebrates and invertebrates whereas the GRAFS system classifies human GPCRs. The A-F system splits the receptors into families according to sequence similarity. Family A is the rhodopsin-like receptors and is the largest group. It includes rhodopsin and adrenergic receptors as well as many olfactory receptors[71, 131]. Family B is the secretin receptor family and includes gastric inhibitory peptide, calcitonin, calcitonin receptor like and glucagon receptors[132]. Family C is the metabolic glutamate family, including the GABA receptor. Family D is the fungal mating pheromone receptors, E the cyclic AMP receptors and F the frizzled/smoothened receptors[71, 131]. In the GRAFS system there are five main families based upon evolutionary similarities; glutamate, rhodopsin, adhesion, frizzled/taste2 and secretin families. The largest of these is the rhodopsin family consisting

of 701 receptors[72]. Rhodopsin from natural sources was the first GPCR to have its structure solved in 2000 by Palczewski *et al*[133].

GPCRs contain 7 transmembrane domains (7TM bundle) which are α -helical[72] with 3 extracellular (ECL1-3) and 3 intracellular (ICL1-3) loops. The amino terminus (Nterminus) is extracellular and has the potential to bind ligands in some GPCRs, while the carboxy terminus (C-terminus) is intracellular and interacts with G-proteins and arrestins[64]. These structures are illustrated in Fig 1.11. Recently, breakthroughs have been made in determining the crystal structures of GPCRs[134]. However, only relatively few structures have been solved so far despite their importance. Bottle necks include difficulty in expressing great enough quantities for further studies and production of stable conformations[135]. In order to maintain their structure and function, GPCRs must remain in a lipid or hydrophobic environment which can interfere with NMR and crystallography. This also makes purification challenging as a poor choice of detergents can destroy the surrounding lipid membrane. Some of the structures that have been determined have been achieved by causing mutations in order to make the GPCRs more thermostable and increase expression levels. Intracellular loops have been replaced with T4 lysozyme and antibodies and nanobodies have been employed to stabilize the proteins[68]. Current GPCR crystal structures elucidated by X-ray crystallography include: β_1 -adrenergic, β_2 -adrenergic, adenosine _{2a}, dopamine D₃, CXCR4, histamine H₁ rhodopsin and opsin[68, 136]. The histamine H1 receptor is the first recombinant GPCR to have been produced using yeast, P. *pastoris*, and have its crystal structure resolved[137].



Figure 1.11: A generic Family A GPCR within the plasma membrane localized to a lipid raft Protein features are described in the panels. Taken from commons.wikimedia.org by Repapetilto.

1.6.3.1 Human Adenosine 2a receptor

The human adenosine $_{2a}$ receptor (hA $_{2a}$ R) is one of four GPCRs which are activated by adenosine; A₁, A_{2a}, A_{2b} and A₃. When activated, hA_{2a}R causes the levels of intracellular cAMP to increase[73]. In humans, adenosine is involved in the nervous and cardiovascular systems[138]. It also has a role in reducing inflammatory damage and inhibiting activated

immune cells. These anti-inflammatory effects therefore make this GPCR an attractive target for therapeutics, which could potentially aid in the treatment of heart disease and cancer[76, 139, 140]. Antagonists to $hA_{2a}R$ include ZM241385, theophylline[76] and caffeine[73]. It has been observed that the interaction of caffeine with the $A_{2a}R$ can lead to a reduced risk of Parkinson's disease in coffee drinkers and suggests that therapeutics could be developed targeting adenosine receptors to treat neurological disorders such as Huntington's disease, Parkinson's disease, asthma, seizures and pain[73, 140].

 $A_{2a}R$ is a 47 kDa protein in the rhodopsin-like or family A group of GPCRs. A truncated form of $hA_{2a}R$ was produced in *E. coli* and a glycosylation deficient form produced in *P. pastoris* in milligram quantities[76] as well as in *S. cerevisiae*[139]. However, the crystal structure of $hA_{2a}R$ bound to the antagonist ZM241385 determined by Jaakola *et al* in 2008 was produced by insect cells[73] (Figure 1.12). One of the main challenges of GPCR crystallization is the instability of the protein upon purification. GPCRs can adopt several conformations, some of which are more thermally stable than others. Certain domains within the GPCRs are also more flexible than others, and as a result, Jaakola *et al* replaced the majority of the third cytoplasmic loop with lysozyme from T4 bacteriophage and the Cterminal tail was removed to improve the chance of crystallization. Sodium chloride and cholesteryl hemisuccinate were also used during purification as well as a saturating concentration of antagonist to further aid stability[73].

Jaakola *et al* found that $hA_{2a}R$'s structure is different from other crystallized GPCRs such as β_1 -adrenergic, β_2 -adrenergic and rhodopsin as the ECL2 does not have the α -helix and β sheet structures. Instead there is a random coil with three disulphide linkages with ECL1, two of these being unique to $hA_{2a}R$. A fourth disulphide bond in ECL3 helps to maintain a rigid structure opening the ligand binding cavity. They also found that ZM241385 is bound in a different position to other crystallized GPCRs, nearly perpendicular to the membrane plane[73].



Figure 1.12 Crystal structure of $hA_{2a}R$ bound to the antagonist ZM241385

Viewed perpendicular to the plasma membrane. A shows the transmembrane part colored brown with ZM241385 in light blue and the four lipid molecules bound to the receptor in red. The four disulfide bonds are yellow. The extracellular loops (ECL) are green and the intracellular loops (ICL) are blue. B. The structure is rotated 180° around the x-axis. Image reproduced from Jaakola et al 2008[73].

1.6.3.2 β₁-adrenergic receptor

The β_1 -adrenergic receptor (β_1 -AR) is part of a group of at least four subtypes of adrenergic receptor; α_1 , α_2 , β_1 and β_2 [141]. β_1 -AR and β_2 -AR are biochemically and functionally similar[142], and couple to the same effector protein; they both mediate the catecholamine-induced activation of adenylyl cyclase through the GTP binding protein Gs[142]. Similarity between them is greatest in the membrane spanning domains which are thought to be

involved in forming a pocket to bind ligands[141]. They mediate the physiological responses to the hormone adrenaline and the neurotransmitter noradrenaline. β_1 -AR binds with high affinity to both adrenaline and noradrenaline whereas β_2 -AR only binds with high affinity to adrenaline[143]. β_1 -AR is expressed at high levels in the heart[143] and is known to influence heart rate[144]. Stimulation in the human atrium and ventricle leads to an increase in the force of the contraction and also shortens the length of the contractile cycle as well as increasing cAMP and activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase A[145]. It is also expressed at high levels in the brain and noradrenergic stimulation of β_1 -AR is known to regulate memory function[143]. It is expressed elsewhere in the body such as the cochlear and vestibular labyrinth[144].

1.6.3.3 Receptor component protein

It is thought that GPCRs act as monomers interacting with G proteins leading to signal transduction, however recent research suggests that other proteins are required for the function of numerous GPCRs. These proteins can be other receptors that form dimers, or accessory proteins that function as chaperones[146]. It has been found that in order to be functional, the calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) receptor must consist of at least three proteins; CLR, RAMP1 and RCP[146-148].

CLR is a family B (secretin-like) GPCR named the calcitonin-receptor-like receptor, RAMP1 is the receptor activity modifying protein and is required for trafficking of CLR to the cell surface and ligand specificity, and RCP, the receptor component protein, which has been identified as an interaction partner for the CGRP receptor[146-148] illustrated in Fig 1.13. CGRP is a 37 amino acid neuropeptide secreted by the nerves of the central and peripheral neurosystem[147, 148]. It is important in heart function and is a vasodilator that affects the rate and force of heart beats and can quickly lower blood pressure. In addition, it is involved in neurogenic vasodilation and inflammation, as well as migranes[146-148]. CGRP binds to its receptor, and this binding stimulates cAMP production[146].



Figure 1.13: The proposed CGRP receptor complex consisting of CLR, RAMP1 and RCP Binding of CGRP to the CGRP receptor consisting of RAMP1, CLR and RCP leads to cAMP production. Adapted from Prado 2002[147].

RCP consists of 148 amino acids and is a hydrophilic protein. It is found in the heart and colocalizes with CGRP in the cerebellum, spinal cord and cochlea[148]. RCP couples the receptor to the cellular signal transduction pathway and its expression correlates with CGRP potency *in vivo*[146]. Little is currently known about RCP therefore overexpression and purification of this protein are vital in allowing structural and functional studies and the elucidation of a three-dimensional structure. At present, *E. coli* has been used to produce RCP[148].

1.6.3.4 Ligand binding assays

In order to determine whether a GPCR is correctly folded after expression, a common method is to perform a ligand binding assay with a radiolabelled ligand[76, 139]. This can

be performed using membrane suspensions[149]. Ligand binding assays are usually based upon the law of mass action[150, 151]:

$$A + R \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}}{\longleftarrow}} AR$$

where A is the ligand and R is the receptor. When the ligand and receptor collide in the required orientation to bind, the number of binding events per unit of time is the k_{on} which is the association rate constant. The ligand and receptor remain bound for an amount of time dependent upon the affinity of the ligand and receptor for each other. This is the dissociation rate constant, k_{off} . An equilibrium is reached when the rate at which ligand-receptor complexes form is equal to the rate at which ligand-receptor complexes dissociate. This ratio of association and dissociation indicates the affinity of the ligand for the receptor which is the equilibrium dissociation constant, K_d . K_d is the concentration of ligand that is required to bind half of the receptors. The smaller the K_d , the higher the affinity the receptor has for the ligand, while a high K_d means a low affinity[150]. At equilibrium the total receptor density [R_T], the ligand concentration [A] and the equilibrium dissociation constant determine the concentration of receptor-ligand complexes:

$$[AR] = \underline{[R_T] x [A]}$$
$$[A] + K_d$$

where $R_T = [R] + [AR]$ and $K_d = k_{off}/k_{on.}$ This equation is the Hill-Langmuir binding isotherm. In equilibrium, when a single ligand species binds to a single uniform population of receptors under the law of mass action, a hyperbolic curve describes binding as a function of the molar ligand concentration[149, 151], an example of which is shown in Fig 1.14. The B_{max} is the maximum binding capacity, or the total number of receptors.



Illustration removed for copyright restrictions

Figure 1.14: Saturation binding curveof a radioligand to a receptor

Saturation binding curve showing specific binding of a radioligand for human muscarinic M_3 receptor. The K_d is estimated to be 0.05nm and the B_{max} 1.4 pmol/mg protein. Reproduced from Hulme and Trevethick 2010[149]

Three types of binding experiments may be conducted:

- Kinetic binding experiments, where the binding of one or more concentrations of radioligand is measured at increasing time points to estimate the association rate constant, k_{on} and the dissociation rate constant k_{off};
- Saturation binding experiments where the binding of an increasing concentration of radioligand is measured at equilibrium. The dissociation constant, K_d and the concentration of specific binding sites for the radioligand, R_T, usually termed B_{max} can be determined from these experiments;
- 3. Competition binding experiments where the binding of one or more set concentrations of a radioligand is measured at equilibrium in the presence of increasing concentrations of an unlabelled ligand. The data determine the binding constant of a compound for the unliganded receptor and the co-operativity between the compound and the radioligand for binding to the receptor. The inhibitor constant K_i can be calculated:

$$K_i = IC_{50/}(1 + [L]/K_d)$$

This is the Cheng-Prusoff equation where IC_{50} is the half maximal inhibitory concentration, L is the concentration of free radioligand and K_d is the dissociation constant of the radioligand for the receptor[149].

For membrane preparations of $A_{2a}R$ produced using *P. pastoris* by Fraser[76], the B_{max} was 8.5 ± 0.1 pmol/mg membrane protein and the K_d varied slightly for three different preparations; $K_d = 0.35 \pm 0.02$; 0.79 ± 0.06 ; 1.39 ± 0.12 nM. After purification of the receptor, the B_{max} was 18.1 ± 0.5 nmol/mg protein. The theoretical B_{max} for pure protein is 21.3 nmol/mg protein. The K_d for the purified protein was 2.2 ± 0.19 nM[76].

1.6.4 Human growth hormone

Human growth hormone (HGH), also known as somatotropin[152], is synthesized by the acidophil cells of the anterior pituitary as a prehormone[153]. It has a hydrophobic leader peptide of 20 amino acids which is removed by the pituitary during secretion[153], leaving an anionic non-glycosylated HGH consisting of 191 amino acids and a molecular weight of 22 kDa[5, 152]. HGH is an antagonist and binds to one human growth hormone receptor[154]. It is involved in protein synthesis, cell proliferation, metabolism, lipolysis and hypoglycemia[153, 155]. The structure of HGH bound to one human growth hormone receptor is shown in Fig 1.15.



Figure 1.15: Human growth hormone bound to one receptor

Human growth hormone (red) bound to one human growth hormone receptor (green). Image reproduced from Protein Data Bank entry 1a22, accession number P01241[154].

HGH has many therapeutic uses, particularly the treatment of hypopituitary dwarfism, children with growth hormone deficiency, girls with Turner's syndrome and adults with growth hormone deficiency or HIV infection[5, 152, 153, 155, 156]. It has also been used to treat bone fractures, bleeding ulcers and burns[152]. Its use in other applications such as children with short stature and maintaining health in older adults and the critically ill is also being investigated[5]. Originally, the only sources of HGH to treat hypopituitary dwarfism were human cadavers until production of recombinant HGH begain using *E. coli* by Goeddel in 1979 and later *S. cerevisiae* by Tokunaga in 1985[153]. It has been produced mainly in *E. coli*[5, 157], but has also been produced by *Bacillus subtillis*, *Pseudomonas* species, *S. cerevisiae* and *P. pastoris*[5, 152, 153, 155, 156]. Assays for HGH include polyclonal radioimmunoassays (RIA) which have limited sensitivity, and monoclonal antibody nonisotopic assays which are more sensitive[158]. ELISAs and Western blots may also be performed in order to quantify the protein[37].

1.6.5 Chlorophyll synthase, CHLG

CHLG is an enzyme involved in the last stages of chlorophyll synthesis and catalyses the esterification of chlorophyllide *a* which is required for amassing chlorophyll-protein complexes [159]. It is a membrane protein of approximately 30 kDa naturally produced in plants and cyanobacteria [160]. It has not previously been expressed in *P. pastoris*, but has been expressed in *E. coli*[159]. The photoautotrophic growth of phototrophs is dependent upon chlorophyll formation. Chlorophyll is involved in the absorbance of light and energy transfer resulting in photosynthetic electron transfer to NADP⁺ and the synthesis of ATP[161]. In order for plants to synthesize chlorophyll, over 16 enzymatic steps are carried out. The final steps involve reduction of divinyl protochlorophllide at the C8 vinyl group to form monovinyl protochlorophyllide and then between C17 and C18 to form chlorophyllide a. Chlorophyllide a is converted to chlorophyllide b by chlorophyllide a oxygenase. Chlorophyll synthase, encoded in the CHLG gene, finally esterifies chlorophyllide a and b with geranyl-geranyl pyrophosphate or phytyl pyrophosphate. The hydrophobic carbon hydride side-chains formed allow the assembly of stable chlorophyll[161]. A schematic of the process is shown in Fig.1.16. CHLG is thought to be involved in the co-regulation of the steps to synthesize chlorophyll[161] and therefore production of large quantities of this protein could allow photosynthesis to be better understood.





Details each reaction step and enzyme involved. Adapted from Plant Physiology, Institute of Biology, Humboldt University, Berlin[162].

1.6.6 Aquaporins

Aquaporins are small pore-forming membrane proteins of around 24-30 kDa and are part of the major intrinsic protein (MIP) family[163] (See Figure 1.17). So far 13 are known to be expressed in humans and are also found in each kingdom, especially in plants[163-165].



Figure 1.17: Aquaporin conformation

Diagram of aquaorin conformation in the cell membrane to form an hourglass structure including extracellular loops (A, C, E), transmembrane domains(1-6) and intracellular loops (B, D). Taken from Agre. P et al (2002[166]) In 2003 Peter Agre received the Nobel Prize in Chemistry for his discovery of aquaporin 1 in 1992. The protein was serendipitously found during research into red cell Rh group antigens, when an unknown 28 kDa polypeptide was noticed during polypeptide purification. Before this discovery, water was thought to diffuse across the lipid bilayer. Now it is known that water transport can occur both by osmosis and via water channels[166, 167]. Aquaporins are highly selective and even protons are not transported. Those that are permeable to water only are termed aquaporins, and those that are permeable to both water and glycerol, such as human aquaporins 3, 7, 9 and 10 are named aquaglyceroporins[163, 164, 166]. See Table 1.5. While certain members such as AQP2 are relatively well understood[168-170], many others have yet to be expressed in sufficient quantities for further biochemical study.

Table 1.5: Summary of known aquaporin characteristics. Adapted from Offermanns and Rosenthal (2008[165] and Bowen (2005)[171]

Name	Gene	Alias	Site of Expression	Possible functions
Aquaporin 0	AQP0	MIP	Eye lens fiber cells	Fluid balance within the lens
Aquaporin 1	AQP1	Aquaporin-CHIP	Brain choriod plexus Red blood cells	Production of cerebrospinal fluid Osmotic protection
			Kidney proximal tube	Concentration of urine
			Eye cilliary epithelium	Alwaylar hydration state
A guan arin 2	4.0.02	WCUCD	Alveolar epithelial cells	Alveolar hydration state
Aquaporin 2	AQF2	aquaporin-CD	Inner ear	activity
Aquaporin 3	AQP3		Kidney collecting duct	Reabsorbtion of water into blood
			Trachea epithelial cells	Secretion of water into the
			Eye	trachea
			Urinary bladder	
			Skin	
			Gastrointestinal tract	
Aquaporin 4	AQP4	MIWC	Kidney collecting duct	Reabsorbtion of water
			Brain ependymal cells	CSF fluid balance
			Brain hypothalamus	Osmosensing function
			Lung bronchial epithelium	Bronchial fluid secretion
			Retina	
			Inner ear	
Aquanarin 5	AOD5		Skeletal muscle	Solive production
Aquaporin 5	AQFS		Lacrimal glands	Tear production
			Respiratory tract	real production
Aquaporin 6	AOP6	AOP2L	Kidney	Low water permeability
Aquaporin 7	AQP7	AQP7L, AQPap,	Adipose tissue	Transports glycerol from
1 1		AQP9	Testis and sperm	adipocytes
Aquaporin 8	AQP8		Testis	
			Pancreas	
			Liver	
			Colon	
Aquaporin 9	AQP9		Leukocytes	
			Liver	
			Brain Denne hertige spectrum	
			Shine	
			Skin Gastrointestinal tract	
Aquaporin 10	AOP10		Gastrointestinal tract	
Aquaporin 11	AOP11		Testis	
			Liver	
			Kidney	
Aquaporin 12	AOP12		Pancreas	

1.2 Objectives

Membrane proteins implicated in disease such as the aquaporins and $A_{2a}R$ are often poorly expressed, and sufficient quantities are essential to allow further studies. Soluble therapeutic proteins including erythropoietin and human growth hormone are also required in large quantities. Methods of optimizing the production of these relevant proteins will therefore be useful in order to achieve the high yields required. GFP is an effective tool as it is easy to assay and is ideal for testing optimal conditions. Small scale screening was therefore considered in the presence of antifoams with these proteins, within the following objectives:

- 1. To analyze the effect of antifoams on recombinant protein cultures in a shake flask format (Chapter 3).
- 2. To understand the mechanisms underlying any observed effects observed in shake flasks (Chapter 4).
- To analyze the effect of antifoams on recombinant protein cultures in a bioreactor format and to understand the mechanisms underlying any observed effects (Chapter 5).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Equipment

Key pieces of laboratory equipment used for this study are detailed below.

2.1.1.1 Bioreactor equipment

The parts listed were used with 3 L stirred tank autoclavable bioreactors (Applikon) using an ADI 1010 controller and BioXpert version 2 software.

- 1. Jacketed 3 L glass vessel (Applikon).
- 2. Head plate to fit a 3 L vessel (Applikon).
- 3. BioXpert software (Applikon) installed onto a PC.
- 4. Thermo Circulator ADI 1018.
- 5. Tandem off-gas analyser.
- 6. Gas supply unit ADI 1026 (Applikon).
- 7. 60%:40% oxygen: nitrogen gas cylinder (BOC).
- 8. Dissolved oxygen (DO) probe (Applikon).
- 9. DO probe electrolyte and membranes (Applikon).
- 10. pH probe (Applikon).
- 11. pH 4 and pH 7 buffers (Fisher).
- 12. Optek probe (optical density).
- 13. Optek controller.
- 14. 250 mL glass sample bottle (Fisher).
- 15. Air compressor (Bambi, 75/150).
- 16. Recirculating chiller (Grant, LTL1).
- 17. Peristaltic pump (\times 2) for acid and base addition (Easyload Masterflex).
- 18. Peristaltic pump for feeds (Masterflex, C/L).
- 19. Filters (Sartorius, midistart 2000 0.2µm PTFE).
- 20. Silicon tubing (Fisher).

- 21. Tubing connectors and Y connectors (Fisher).
- 22. Clamps (Fisher).
- 23. Needles (Fisher).
- 24. Plastic syringes (Fisher, 5 mL, 20 mL and 50 mL).
- 25. 0.5 L glass liquid addition bottles (×3; Applikon).
- 26. 1 L glass liquid addition bottle (Applikon).
- 27. Tin foil (Fisher).
- 28. 20 mL sample tubes (Fisher).



Figure 2.1: 3 L stirred tank bioreactor (Applikon Biotechnology) Set up and photographed at Aston University with associated equipment as indicated in the figure.

2.1.1.2 Microbioreactor 24

The Microbioreactor24 (Pall Corporation) was used for screening experiments and is effectively 24 'mini bioreactors'. The pH, DO, and temperature can be controlled for each of the 24 wells. The single-use cassettes contain 24 wells with a working volume of 3-7 mL. Sensor spots on the base of the wells allow DO and pH to be monitored. A port in the base allows gases to be sparged into the wells to control the pH and DO. Control is regulated by Microbioreactor 24 software on a laptop and the individual settings for each well can be applied and each well monitored throughout the run. CO₂ and O₂ supplied by gas cylinders connected to the control unit allows two-way DO control, while N₂ gas passing through a pressurized bubbler containing 15% v/v ammonium hydroxide produces vapour to control the pH. A shaking platform upon which the cassette is clamped by a vacuum provides agitation from 500-800 rpm. The equipment is shown in Fig 2.2.





Set up with associated equipment as indicated on the figure. Photographed at Aston University.

2.1.1.3 Thermal activity monitor (TAM)

The thermal activity monitor (2277 TAM, TA Instruments) is a differential calorimeter[172] and can be used to detect heat changes between samples. Before use, the equipment required calibration to the experimental conditions. The investigations were conducted at 30°C, therefore the TAM's water bath was set to 30°C. An electrical calibration was performed using Digitam software in the medium to be used at 30°C to set a baseline for the readings. The zero reading on the TAM was adjusted to match that of the software reading. The electrical calibration was begun and the maximum reading also adjusted in the TAM to match that of the electrical signal being applied by the software. The electrical signal was turned off and allowed to drop back to zero. The reading was adjusted a final time on the TAM to ensure the baseline was correctly set before beginning the experiment. A graphical display of the electrical calibration is shown in Fig.2.3.





experiments to be conducted at 30°C.

2.1.1.4 Centrifuges

Centrifuges used for these investigations were a Beckman Coulter Optima TLX Ultracentrifuge, a Beckman Coulter Allegra 25 R Centrifuge, a Sigma 1-13 benchtop centrifuge and Beckman Coulter Avanti J-20 XP floor centrifuge.

2.1.2 Media

Various media were used for the culture of *P. pastoris*, *S. cerevisiae* and *E. coli* and are detailed below.

2.1.2.1 P. pastoris

2.1.2.1.1 BMGY (Buffered glycerol-complex medium)

Composed of 1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 100 mM potassium phosphate pH 6.0, 1.34% YNB, 4 x 10^{-5} % biotin, 1% glycerol. 10 g of yeast extract and 20 g peptone were dissolved in water to a total volume of 700 mL. The solution was autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature. The following was then added; 100 mL 1 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0, 100 mL 10 x YNB, 2 mL 500 x biotin, 100 mL 10 x glycerol. BMGY was stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.2 BMMY (Buffered methanol-complex medium)

Composed of 1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 100mM potassium phosphate pH 6.0, 1.34% YNB, 4 x 10⁻⁵ % biotin, 0.5% methanol. 10 g of yeast extract and 20 g peptone were dissolved in water to a total volume of 700 mL. The solution was autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature. The following was then added; 100 mL 1 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0, 100 mL 10 x YNB, 2 mL 500 x biotin, 100 mL 10 x methanol and stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.3 YPD (Yeast peptone dextrose)

Composed of 1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 2% dextrose, 2% agar. 20 g peptone, and 10 g yeast extract were dissolved in water to a total volume of 900 mL. For plates 20 g agar was

also added. The solution was autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature before adding 100 mL 10 x glucose and stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.4 Stock solutions

2.1.2.1.4.1 10 xYNB (13.4% Yeast nitrogen base with ammonium sulphate without amino acids)

134 g of yeast nitrogen base was dissolved in water to a total volume of 1 L and filter sterilized. The medium was stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.4.2 500 x biotin (0.02%)

20 mg biotin was dissolved in water to a total of 100 mL and filter sterilized. It was then stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.4.3 10 x glucose (20%)

200 g glucose was dissolved in water to a total of 1 L water and autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature. The solution was stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.4.4 10 x methanol (5%)

5 mL methanol was mixed with 95 mL water and filter sterilized. The solution was then stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.1.4.5 10 x glycerol (10%)

100 mL of glycerol was mixed with 900 mL of water. It was filter sterilized and stored at room temperature.

2.1.2.1.4.6 1 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0

A 1 M solution of K_2 HPO₄ was made by dissolving 174.18 g in water to a total volume of 1 L. A 1 M solution of KH₂PO₄ was made by dissolving 136.06 g in water to a total volume of 1 L. Next 132 mL of 1M K_2 HPO₄ was mixed with 868 mL KH₂PO₄ and the pH set to 6.0
using a pH meter and phosphoric acid. The solution was autoclaved and stored at room temperature.

2.1.2.2 E. coli

2.1.2.2.1 LB (Luria-Bertani)

20 g LB powder was dissolved in water to a total volume of 1 L. For plates 20 g agar was added and the solution autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature and stored at 4°C.

2.1.2.3 S.cerevisiae

2.1.2.3.1 CSM

1.7 g YNB without amino acids, 5 g ammonium sulphate and 20 g agar was made up to 1 L with deionized water and autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature.
100 mL 10 x Drop Out (DO) solution –URA and 50 mL glucose was added.

2.1.2.3.2 10 x DO solution (-URA)

L-Adenine hemisulphate salt	200 mg
L-Arginine HCl	200 mg
L-Histidine HCl monohydrate	200 mg
L-Isoleucine	300 mg
L-Leucine	1,000 mg
L-Lysine HCl	300 mg
L-Methionine	200 mg
L-Phenylalanine	500 mg
L-Threonine	2,000 mg
L-Tryptophan	200 mg
L-Tyrosine	300 mg
L-Valine	1500 mg

Made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.3.3 2 x CBS

10 g ammonium sulphate, 6g potassium phosphate, 1 g magnesium sulphate and 10 g glucose were dissolved in deionized water up to 998 mL and autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min then cooled to room temperature. 1 mL trace elements and 1 mL vitamin solution were then added.

2.1.2.3.4 Trace elements

EDTA (di-sodium)	15.0 g
Zinc sulphate heptahydrate	4.5 g
Manganese chloride tetrahydrate	1.0 g
Cobalt (II)-chloride hextahydrate	0.3 g
Copper (II)-sulphate penthydrate	0.3 g
Di-sodium molybdenum dihydrate	0.4 g
Calcium chloride dihydrate	4.5 g
Iron sulphate-heptahydrate	3.0 g
Boric acid	1.0 g
Potassium iodide	0.1 g

Made up to 1 L with deionized water and filter sterilized.

2.1.2.3.5 Vitamin solution

D-biotin	0.005 g
Ca D(+) panthothenate	1.0 g
Nicotinic acid	1.0 g
Myo-inisitol	25.0 g
Thiamine hydrochloride	1.0 g
Pyridoxol hydrochloride	1.0 g
p-amino benzoic acid	1.0 g

Made up to 1 L with deionized water and filter sterilized.

2.1.2.4 Fermentation media

2.1.2.4.1 Basal salts medium

1 L basal salts medium (BSM)[173] was prepared by dissolving 26.7 mL 85% phosphoric acid, 0.93 g calcium sulphate, 18.2 g potassium sulphate, 14.9 g magnesium sulphate heptahydrate, 4.13 g potassium hydroxide and 40.0 g glycerol in water to a total of 1 L. The solution was autoclaved after being added to the bioreactor.

2.1.2.4.2 PTM₁ trace salts

1 L PTM₁ trace salts was prepared by dissolving 6.0 g cupric sulphate pentahydrate, 0.08 g sodium iodide, 3.0 g manganese sulphate monohydrate, 0.2 g sodium molybdate dihydrate, 0.02 g boric acid, 0.5 g cobalt chloride, 20.0 g zinc chloride, 65.0 g ferrous sulphate heptahydrate, 0.2 g biotin and 5.0 mL sulphuric acid in water to a total of 1 L. The solution was filter sterilized and stored at room temperature.

2.1.2.5 Antibiotics

Antibiotics were added to media to provide selection pressure for growth of correctly transformed cells which would contain the gene for resistance to the antibiotic.

2.1.2.5.1 Ampicillin

500 mg ampicillin was dissolved in 10 mL sterile distilled water to give 50 mg/mL and stored at -20°C

2.1.2.5.2 Kanamycin

500 mg kanamycin was dissolved in 10 mL sterile distilled water to give 50 mg/mL and stored at -20°C.

2.1.2.5.3 Zeocin

250 mg zeocin was dissolved in 10 mL sterile distilled water to give 25 mg/mL. It was wrapped in foil due to light sensitivity and stored at -20°C.

2.1.2.6 Reagents

2.1.2.6.1 BEDS solution

BEDS solution was prepared continuing 10 mM bicine-NaOH pH 8.3, 5% v/v dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO), 3% v/v ethylene glycol, and 1M sorbitol and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.2 Breaking buffer pH 7.4

Breaking buffer was prepared containing 5.5% w/v glycerol, 2 mM EDTA 0.5 M pH 7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaH₂PO₄ 1 M, 50 mM Na₂HPO₄ and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.3 Buffer A pH 7

Buffer A was prepared containing 20 mM HEPES, 50 mM NaCl, 10% w/v glycerol and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.4 Lysis buffer pH 8

Lysis buffer was prepared containing 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl and 10 mM imidozole and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.5 Wash buffer pH 8

Wash buffer was prepared containing 50 mM NaH_2PO_4 , 300 mM NaCl and 20 mM imidozole and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.6 Elution buffer pH 8

Elution buffer was prepared containing 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl and 300 mM imidozole and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.6.7 SDS gels

The compositions of 12% SDS separating gels and 4% stacking gels are given in Tables 2.1 and 2.2.

Table 2.1: Composition of 12% SDS separation gel

12% SDS separating gel	Volume per gel
Polyacrylamide 30%	2.25 mL
Tris-HCl 1.5 M pH 8.8	1.5 mL
SDS 10%	60 µl
Ammonium persulphate 20%	20 µL
TEMED	2.25 μl
Water	1.8 mL

Table 2.2: Composition of 4% SDS stacking gel

4% SDS stacking gel	Volume per gel
Polyacrylamide 30%	0.35 mL
Tris-HCl 1.5 M pH 6.8	1.5 mL
SDS 10%	25 µl
Ammonium persulphate 20%	10 µL
TEMED	2.5 μl
Water	1.55 mL

2.1.2.6.8 Laemmli sample buffer

4 x Laemmli sample buffer[174] was made by mixing 2.4 mL 1M Tris pH 6.8, 0.8 g SDS stock, 0.01% bromophenol blue, 1ml β -mercaptoethanol, 4 mL 100% glycerol and 2.8 mL deionized water.

2.1.2.6.9 Binding buffer

Binding buffer was prepared containing 50 mM sodium phosphate, 0.5 mM EDTA, pH 7.4 and made up to 1 L with deionized water.

2.1.2.7 Molecular biology reagents

2.1.2.7.1 RCP primers

Forward primer:

5' ATTAACAAGAATTCTTATGGAAGTGAAGGATGCCAATTCTGCG 3'

Reverse primer:

5' AACTGATTGGCCGGCTGGGCCGCTGCTGGGTCCTCTTCGTC 3'

2.1.2.7.2 GFP primers

Forward primer:

5' ATTAACAAGCGGCCGCTTATGAGTAAAGGAGAAGAACTTTTCACTGG 3'

Reverse primer:

5' AACTGATTTCTAGAATTTTGTAGAGCTCATCCATGCCATGTGT 3'

2.1.2.7.3 **TEV** primers

Forward primer:

5' CTCGAAAATCTTTATTTTCAAGGTCCGC 3'

Reverse primer:

5' GGACCTTGAAAATAAAGATTTTCGAGGTAC 3'

2.1.2.7.4 HGH primers

Forward 1:

5' CACCATATTGAAGGGAGATTCCCAACTATACCACTATC 3'

Forward 2: 5' GGAATTCCACCATCACCATCACCATATTGAAGGGAG 3'

Reverse 1:

5' GCTCTAGAATCTAGAAGCCACAGCTGCCCTCCAC 3'

2.1.2.7.5 AOX1 sequencing primers

Forward primer 5' GACTGGTTCCAATTGACAAGC 3'

Reverse primer 5' GCAAATGGCATTCTGACATCC 3'

2.1.2.7.6 Vectors

pPICZ α A and pPICZ α B expression vectors were used for *P. pastoris* cloning work. The vector components for pPICZ α A, B and C are shown in Fig. 2.4.



Illustration removed for copyright restrictions

Figure 2.4: pPICZaA,B,C expression vector

Contains α -factor, restriction enzymes present in the multiple cloning site and carboxy-terminal tags. Taken from Invitrogen's Pichia pPICZ α A,B,C expression manual[175].

2.1.2.7.7 Restriction enzymes

Several restriction enzymes were used for digestion of DNA and were obtained from New England BioLabs Inc. Enzyme details and reaction conditions were taken from the New England BioLabs Inc. website (http://www.neb.com/nebecomm/enzymefinder.asp).

2.1.2.7.7.1 EcoRI-HF

Source is an *E. coli* strain that carries the cloned *EcoRI* gene from *E. coli* RY13. Reaction temperature 37°C. A high fidelity enzyme was used to reduce star activity.

2.1.2.7.7.2 XbaI

Source is an *E. coli* strain that carries the *XbaI* gene from *Xanthomonas badrii*. Reaction temperature 37 °C.

2.1.2.7.7.3 SfiI

Source is an *E. coli* strain that carries the *SfiI* gene from *Streptomyces fimbriatus*. Reaction temperature 50°C.

2.1.2.7.7.4 NotI

Source is an *E. coli* strain that carries the cloned and modified (K150A) *NotI* gene from *Nocardia otitidis-caviarum*. Reaction temperature 37°C. A high fidelity enzyme was used to reduce star activity.

2.1.2.7.7.5 KpnI

Source is an *E. coli* strain that carries the *KpnI* gene from *Klebsiella pneumoniae* OK8. Reaction temperature 37°C.

2.1.2.7.7.6 SacII

Source is a *Streptomyces lividans* strain that carries the *SacII* gene from *Streptomyces achromogenes*. Reaction temperature 37°C.

2.1.2.8 Antifoams

Five antifoams were evaluated in this work; Antifoam A (Sigma) a 30% emulsion of silicone polymer; Antifoam C (Sigma) a 30% emulsion of silicone polymer; J673A (Struktol) an alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable base; P2000 (Fluka) a polypropylene glycol; SB2121 (Struktol) a polyalkylene glycol. Antifoams were added to medium at concentrations between 0.001% v/v up to 10% v/v.

2.1.3 Strains and culture conditions

Yeast, and *E.coli* cells were used for different procedures. Yeast was used for recombinant protein production, *E. coli* for producing plasmid DNA.

2.1.3.1 Escherichia coli

E.coli was used to amplify plasmid DNA for transformation into *P. pastoris* cells. LB media and incubation temperatures of 37°C provided optimum growth conditions.

2.1.3.1.1 DH5α

Competent cells for high efficiency transformation of plasmids were obtained from laboratory stocks at Aston University. Genome information: F⁻ endA1 glnV44 thi-1 recA1 relA1 gyrA96 deoR nupG Φ 80d*lacZ* Δ M15 Δ (*lacZYA-argF*)U169, hsdR17(r_K⁻ m_K⁺), λ –. An Hoffman-Berling 1100 strain derivative (Meselson68) and nalidixic acid resistant[176-179].

2.1.3.1.2 XL10 Gold

Competent cells were obtained from Stratagene for high efficiency transformation of large plasmids. Genome information: endA1 glnV44 recA1 thi-1 gyrA96 relA1 lac Hte Δ (mcrA)183 Δ (mcrCB-hsdSMR-mrr)173 tet^R F'[proAB lacI^qZ Δ M15 Tn10(Tet^R Amy Cm^R)]. Tetracycline, chloramphenicol and nalidixic acid resisitant[179].

2.1.3.2 Pichia pastoris

Two strains of *P. pastoris* were used in this study; X33 and SMD1163.

2.1.3.2.1 X33

Pichia pastoris X33 is the wild type strain with no deletions to the *AOX1* gene and can be selected for by zeocin. The X33 strain used was from laboratory stocks at Aston University, and is also available from Invitrogen. Growth conditions were chosen from those recommended by Invitrogen; medium buffered to pH 6.0, 30°C and 220 rpm[173]. BMGY medium was used for the initial biomass accumulation stage before transferring to BMMY where methanol induces protein expression. Large-scale fermentations were carried out in basal salts medium.

2.1.3.2.2 SMD1163

SMD1163 is a protease deficient strain. Genome information: his4 pep4 prb1. The *PEP4* gene encodes proteinase A, which is a vacuolar aspartyl protease needed for the activation of other vacuolar proteases such as carboxypeptidase Y and proteinase B. The *PRB1* gene encodes proteinase B[22].

2.1.3.3 Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Two strains of S. cerevisiae were used in this study; WT and TM6*.

2.1.3.3.1 Wild type

The wild type BY4741 strain was used and $hA_{2a}R$ in the pYX212 vector obtained from Dr N. Fraser was transformed into these cells by Dr. R. Darby. Uracil selection was used to identify expressing colonies.

2.1.3.3.2 TM6*

The strain used was KOY-TM6* containing the gene encoding a chimeric hexose transporter, TM6*[180]. hA_{2a}R in the pYX212 vector obtained from Dr N. Fraser was transformed into these cells by Dr. R. Darby. Uracil selection was used to identify expressing colonies.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Molecular Biology Techniques

2.2.1.1 Primer design

ExPasy was used to search for target DNA sequences and the information provided used in order to design primers which ranged from 24 to 42 bases long. Primers were ordered from Invitrogen.

2.2.1.2 DNA amplification - PCR

DNA was amplified by PCR, the reactions set up on ice with: 1µL forward primer (100 pM) 1µL reverse primer (100 pM) 1µL PFU polymerase (Stratagene) 5µL PFU polymerase buffer (Stratagene) 1µL dNTPs (10 mmol) 1µL template (100 ng) Made up to 50 µl with sterile deionized water PCR reactions were carried out at:

95°C 2 min (denaturation)
30 cycles of the following steps were then carried out:
95°C for 30 s
55°C for 30 s (annealing)
72°C for 1 min (extension)
Lastly a final extension step was carried out at 72°C for 10 min.

Negative controls were performed by setting up reactions without template.

2.2.1.3 Restriction digests

Where possible, double digests were carried out using the most appropriate buffer and conditions. Standard conditions are detailed below and all steps carried out on ice.

2 µg DNA

0.5 μL (10 units) restriction enzyme (New England BioLabs)
0.5 μL 100 x BSA (100 μg/mL) (New England BioLabs)
6 μL NE buffer (New England BioLabs)
Deionized water to 50 μL

The reaction mixture was incubated at the optimum temperature for the restriction enzyme for 1 h. For insert DNA, 1 μ L antarctic phosphatase (New England BioLabs) (to catalyze the removal of 5' phosphate groups from the DNA to prevent self-ligation) and 5 μ L antarctic buffer was added. The reaction was left for 30 min at 37°C. All reactions were then heat inactivated by incubating at 65°C for 20 min.

2.2.1.4 Ligations

Standard ligation reactions were carried out on ice with the following reagents:
100 ng vector DNA
Insert DNA (3:1 molar excess with respect to vector DNA)
1 μL T4 ligase (New England BioLabs)
2 μL T4 ligase reaction buffer (New England BioLabs)
Deionized water to 20 μL
The reaction mixture was incubated at 21°C for 3 h. Alternatively, the mixture was left on the bench overnight.

2.2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis

1% agarose gels were run to verify the presence of the required DNA after amplification. 1 x TAE buffer was made by measuring 20 mL 50 x TAE buffer and mixing with 980mL water. 1.5g agarose was added to 150 mL 1 x TAE buffer and heated in a microwave until dissolved. Once cooled, 3 μ L ethidium bromide was added and after mixing the gel was poured. Combs were inserted and the gel left to set for around 30 min. Once completely set, the combs were removed and the gel transferred to a tank with the remaining 1 x TAE buffer added. Samples were set up by adding 1 μ L 10 x BlueJuice loading buffer (Invitrogen) to 5 μ L samples before dispensing into the wells of the gel. A well was also set up with 2 μ L DNA ladder (Hyperladder IV, Bioline). The gel tank was connected to a power source and 100V was applied for approximately 30 min. Once run, the gel was stained with 4 μ L ethidium bromide and visualized under a UV light box.

2.2.1.6 Transformation

DNA was transformed into two different strains of competent cells, *E.coli* DH5 α cells and XL10 Gold cells. Different protocols were used for the different strains.

2.2.1.6.1 E.coli DH5a transformation

The DH5 α cells stored at -80°C were defrosted on ice and using cold cut off tips, 50 μ L dispensed into cold eppendorf tubes. To each tube 1 μ L DNA was added and kept on ice for 20 min. The cells were then heat shocked at 37°C for exactly 1 min 15 s and kept on ice for a further 5 min. Then 900 μ L cold LB without antibiotic was added to the tubes which were then incubated at 37°C for 50 min to allow growth and time for antibiotic resistance genes to be expressed. The tubes were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min and 800 μ L supernatant discarded. The pellets were resuspended in the remaining supernatant and this was spread onto agar plates with appropriate antibiotic added. The plates were allowed to dry before incubating at 37°C overnight.

2.2.1.6.2 E.coli XL10 Gold transformation

XL10 Gold cells stored at -80°C were defrosted on ice and 4 μ L β mercaptoethanol added per 200 μ L cells to allow more efficient uptake of DNA. Using cold cut off tips, 50 μ L were dispensed into cold eppendorf tubes. To each tube 1 μ L DNA was added and kept on ice for 20 min. The cells were then heat shocked at 42° C for exactly 30 s then kept on ice for 5 min. Then 900 μ L cold LB without antibiotics was added to the tubes which were incubated at 37°C for 1 h. The tubes were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min and 800 μ L supernatant discarded. The pellets were resuspended in the remaining supernatant and this was spread onto agar with appropriate antibiotic added. The plates were allowed to dry before incubating at 37°C overnight.

2.2.1.7 Minipreps

Minipreps were set up using reagents from a GenElute plasmid miniprep kit (Sigma-Aldrich) and the recommended protocol followed[181]. The transformed *E.coli* cultures were used to recover the plasmid DNA and allow sequencing. One colony was taken from the appropriate transformed *E.coli* plate and used to inoculate 5 mL LB with the desired antibiotic. The culture was allowed to grow overnight at 37°C and centrifuged the next day at 5,000 rpm for 4 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 200 μ L cell resuspension solution by vortexing and then transferred to eppendorf tubes. Following resuspension 200 µL cell lysis solution was dispensed into each tube and 10 µL alkaline protease solution also added. The tubes were immediately mixed by inverting 4 times and before 5 min the reaction was stopped to prevent nicking of the plasmid DNA by alkaline protease. The reaction was stopped by adding 350 µL neutralizing solution and mixed by inverting 4 times. The tubes were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 10 min and the cleared cell lysate decanted into spin columns inserted into collection tubes, avoiding the white precipitate. The columns were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min and the flow though in the collection tubes discarded. Column wash solution was diluted with 95% ethanol and 750 µL added to each tube before centrifuging at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. The wash was repeated with 250 µL column wash solution and a further centrifugation step at 14,000 rpm for 2 min. The spin columns were transferred to new collection tubes and plasmid DNA was eluted by adding 100 µL nuclease-free water and centrifuging at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. The plasmid DNA was stored at -20°C.

2.2.1.8 DNA quantification

The concentration of DNA purified from minipreps was determined by using a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). ND2000 software was used and 2μ L water loaded into the Nanodrop to blank it. Once the software had blanked against it, the nanodrop was blanked again with 2μ L water as a medium blank. Next 2μ L of DNA was loaded and the software calculated the absorbance corresponding to the concentration of DNA present in the sample. An example of the software reading a DNA sample is shown in Fig. 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Nanodrop DNA quantification

Screenshot of Nanodrop software reading for a DNA sample with a peak at 260 nm.

2.2.1.9 DNA sequencing

DNA samples were prepared for sequencing at Birmingham University's genomics laboratory by mixing 4.5 μ L miniprep DNA and 1.5 μ L primer with 9 μ L deionized water. 10 μ L of this mixture was sequenced at Birmingham University. The data were analyzed using Chromas Lite version 2.01 and the sequences were aligned using Biology Workbench version 3.2 or T-Coffee software version 8.99.

2.2.1.10 Maxipreps

Once the DNA had been validated by sequencing, maxipreps were carried out to obtain larger and purer quantities of plasmid DNA. Reagents from a PowerPrep HP plasmid maxiprep kit (OriGene) were used, and the recommended protocol followed[182]. A colony was taken from the transformed *E.coli* plates and used to inoculate 5 mL LB medium with the appropriate antibiotic and cultured at 37°C overnight. From these cultures, 0.5 mL was used to inoculate 200 mL LB medium with antibiotic and the flasks incubated at 37°C 220 rpm overnight. Next 50 mL from each flask was dispensed into tubes and centrifuged at 40,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and another 50 mL poured in, repeating the process until all the culture was pelleted.

Columns were set up for each pellet with a beaker beneath to catch flow through. 30 mL equilibration buffer was added to each column and left to drain by gravity. The pellets were resuspended in 10 mL cell suspension buffer using a 1 mL pipette. Then 10 mL cell lysis solution was added and the tubes inverted 5 times before centrifuging at 4,600 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was decanted into the empty columns avoiding the white precipitate. Once the columns had drained, 60 mL wash buffer was added and again left to drain. 15 mL elution buffer was dispensed into each tube, and the flow through caught in tubes to which 10 mL isopropanol was added. These samples were spun at 15,000g for 30 min and the supernatant discarded before adding 4 mL 70% ethanol to dissolve the pellet. A further 1 mL 70% ethanol was added and the sides of the tubes scraped to remove all pellet. The tubes were centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 7 min and the supernatant discarded. The pellets were resuspended in 500 μ L sterile deionized water and transferred to eppendorf tubes and stored at -20°C.

2.2.1.11 Linearization of DNA

DNA to be transformed into yeast was linearized by mixing 5-10 μ g DNA, 1.5 μ L *PmeI* (New England Biolabs), 0.5 μ L 100 x BSA, 5 μ L NEbuffer 4 and up to 50 μ L with deionized water. The reaction mixture was heated to 37°C for 2 h, then 65°C for 20 min.

2.2.1.12 Preparation of electrocompetent *P. pastoris* cells

5 mL of YPD was inoculated with *P. pastoris* X33 or SMD1163 cells at 30°C 220 rpm overnight. The culture was diluted with YPD to an OD_{595} of 0.15-0.2 in 50 mL medium. The culture was incubated at 30°C, 200 rpm until the OD_{595} reached 0.8-1. The culture was centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 5 min at room temperature. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 9 mL ice-cold BEDS solution with 1 mL 1M dithiothreitol (DTT). The mixture was incubated for 5 min at 100 rpm in a 30°C incubator on a low shake speed. The culture was then centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 5 min at room temperature and the pellet

resuspended in 250 μ l of BEDS without DTT. 40 μ L volumes were aliquoted and stored at -80°C for up to 6 months.

2.2.1.13 Electroporation of *P. pastoris* cells

P. pastoris competent cells and the DNA to be transformed were defrosted on ice. 1M sorbitol and YPD were put on ice with 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes and electroporation cuvettes. 40 μ L cells were transferred into the cold cuvette and 4 μ g DNA added. The cuvette was incubated on ice for 2 min. The cuvettes were placed into the electroporation equipment and electroporated at 1,800 V with 15 ms pulse length. The cells were immediately suspended in 0.5 mL 1 M sorbitol and 0.5 mL YPD. The cells were transferred into the eppendorfs and incubated at 30°C on the lowest shaking speed for 1 h 30 min. The culture was then plated onto agar with increasing concentrations of antibiotic to select for colonies containing the plasmid DNA and incubated at 30°C for up to 8 days.

2.2.1.14 Transformation of S. cerevisiae cells - lithium acetate

S. cerevisiae cultures were incubated in 5 mL 2 x CBS At 30°C overnight. 1 mL of culture was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm to obtain a pellet. The supernatant was discarded. 15 μ L 100 mM lithium acetate was added to the pellet and vortexed before centrifugation at 14,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed and a further 15 μ L 100 mM lithium acetate was and again vortexed before centrifugation at 14,000 rpm. Single stranded salmon testes carrier DNA was heated to 100°C for 5 min then put on ice for 2 min. 240 μ L polyethylene glycol (50% PEG 3350), 36 μ L 1 M lithium acetate and 25 μ L salmon DNA was added followed by 0.5 μ g plasmid DNA. The mixture was incubated for 30 min at 30°C. The cells were then heat shocked for 20 min at 42°C and centrifuged at 6,000 rpm for 1 min. The supernatant was removed with a pipette and 500 μ L sterile deionized water added. The cells were gently resuspended and 20 μ L dispensed onto CSM –URA agar plates. The plates were incubated at 30°C until colonies began to form.

2.2.2 Yeast cultures and analysis

2.2.2.1 Small scale formats

Precultures were set up using 250 mL baffled shake flasks containing 50 mL BMGY medium inoculated with 1 colony from the desired YPD agar plate. The flask was incubated at 220 rpm overnight. The required volume of log phase cells taken from this culture in order to inoculate the experimental cultures to an OD_{595} of 1 was centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 10 min and the pellet resuspened in the required volume of BMMY medium. 6 mL deepwell plates, 200 µL multiwell plates and a range of shake flasks were used. Antifoam investigations were conducted in 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks and 2 L non-baffled shake flasks.

2.2.2.2 Bioreactors

A commonly-used bioreactor for recombinant protein production is the stirred-tank reactor with agitation provided by impellors[183]. 3 L stirred-tank bioreactors (Applikon) were used for all large-scale bioreactor experiments.

2.2.2.1 Preparation of the bioreactor

1 L BSM was made and poured into the glass vessel. The head plate was attached and secured with bolts. Silicon tubes were attached to each of the ports on top of the head plate and clamped and the ends wrapped in foil. The pH probe was added after calibrating using pH 4 and pH 7 buffers. The DO probe was also added as well as the Optek probe for biomass readings. A 0.2 μm PTFE gas filter was added to the inlet gas sparger and left unclamped to allow pressure equalization and avoid vessel damage during autoclaving. A 250 mL glass sample bottle was attached to the sample port and a length of silicon tubing with a filter attached to the fork. The bioreactor was then autoclaved and sterilized at 121°C for 20 min with a slow cool cycle. A 0.5 L glass liquid addition bottle containing 50% (v/v) phosphoric acid and a 0.5 L glass liquid addition bottle of 28 % ammonium hydroxide were prepared for pH control. PharMed tubing was used and filters attached to the caps.

2.2.2.2 Connecting the bioreactor to the control unit

The bioreactor was removed from the autoclave and placed next to the control unit. The DO probe was connected to the ADI 1010 controller and allow to polarize for a minimum of 6 h. The pH probe was also connected to the ADI 1010 controller and the Optek probe connected to the Optek controller. 5 mL 50% (w/v) glycerol was added to the port for the temperature probe (the thermowell tube) and the temperature probe inserted. The chiller was turned on and connected by silicone tubing to the condenser. The silicone tubing attached to the condenser was connected to the off-gas analyser. The compressor and the 60%: 40% oxygen: nitrogen cylinder were connected to the gas supply ADI 1026 unit. The gas supply was attached to the sparger line on the bioreactor with a length of silicon tubing from the ADI 1026 unit with a filter also added. The stirrer motor was attached to the head plate and acid and base bottles set up with the pumps connected to the controller equipment. The foil was removed from the acid and base lines on the bioreactor and sprayed with 70% ethanol before connecting to the lines on the acid and base bottles. The water jacket lines were connected to the thermo circulator ADI 1018 unit. The feed bottles were also connected to the bioreactor by inserting the tubing from the bottles into a peristaltic pump and connecting the tubing to the feed line tubing on the bioreactor, spraying the line ends with 70% ethanol.

2.2.2.3 Culture conditions

Recombinant protein production experiments in this work using bioreactors were with *P. pastoris*. The settings used for GFP and EPO experiments were pH 5, 30 °C, 30% DO and a minimum stirrer speed of 700 rpm. For $A_{2a}R$ experiments, the temperature was reduced from 30°C to 22°C during induction. The DO set point was set to 30% and the stirrer was put into a cascade of 700-1,250 rpm to maintain the 30% setpoint. Once the stirrer was no longer able to maintain the setpoint, the mass flow controller (MFC) increased the proportion of air drawn from the 40%: 60% nitrogen: oxygen cylinder. The air flow into the bioreactor was set to 2 L/min and the cylinder pressure was set to 2.5 bar. The flow rate of exit gas to the Tandem off-gas analyzer was set to approximately 0.4 L min⁻¹ by adjusting the clamp on the open end of the forked tubing. 5 mL PTM₁ trace salts was added using syringe and needle in an sterile manner through the septum and into the vessel. The pH was

then adjusted to pH 5 by entering this setpoint into the ADI1010 controller, causing the pumps to add the required volume of acid or base. The bioreactor was left running at these settings for approximately 1 h before inoculating.

2.2.2.4 Starting a bioreactor run

A seed culture was prepared by inoculating 50 mL BMGY medium with one colony of the desired *P. pastoris* strain from an agar plate. The culture was incubated at 30°C, 220 rpm overnight. The next day, the volume of seed culture required to inoculate 1 L basla salts medium to the desired OD. Immediately before adding the required volume of culture to the bioreactor, BioXpert software was set up and the run details entered. Antifoam was added to the required volume in a sterile manner through the septum, then the bioreactor was inoculated with the culture. The run was immediately started on the BioXpert software and DO control turned on. The various run parameters were graphically displayed throughout the run by the software.

2.2.2.5 Glycerol batch and fed batch phase

The fermentation cultures initially began growing on the 40 g/L glycerol already present in the BSM. Once this had been consumed, usually around 20 h and indicated by a DO spike[184], a fed batch phase was begun. 50% w/v glycerol with 12 mL PTM₁ trace salts/L was fed into the vessel at a flow rate of 12 mL/h for 4 h to increase biomass prior to induction. After 4 h, the fed was stopped and the culture starved for 1 h to ensure all glycerol in the medium was consumed before inducing.

2.2.2.6 Induction phase

Induction was begun after starvation using 20% v/v methanol with 12 mL PTM₁ trace salts/L. It was initially fed in at 4 mL/h for a minimum of 3 h, then increased to 8 mL/h overnight. Early the next morning the feed was increased to 12 mL/h and remained at this flow rate for the remainder of the fermentations which were approximately 100 h in total.

2.2.2.3 Optical density measurement

Optical densities of yeast cultures were measured using a spectrophotometer set to a wavelength of 595 nm, using x 100 dilution with water.

2.2.2.4 Dry cell weights

Dry cell weight measurements were carried out by drying 1.5 mL eppendorfs (Fisher) in an oven at 100°C for 24 h followed by drying in a dessicator for 48 h. The tube weight was determined using a microbalance (Denver Intruments). 1 mL of culture was dispensed into the tubes and spun at 14,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was removed and the tubes dried in an oven at 100°C for 48 h followed by a dessicator for 48 h. The tubes were again weighed.

2.2.3 Protein analysis

2.2.3.1 Membrane preparations

Membrane preparations were made from *P. pastoris* cells. 20 mL culture samples were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant discarded. 500 μ L pH 7.4 breaking buffer was added. The mixture was transferred to breaking tubes and 1.5 mL glass acid washed beads were added. Protease inhibitor cocktail IV (Calbiochem) was added at 1:2,000 to each tube and immediately put on ice. A cell lyser (TissueLyser LT, Quiagen) was used to disrupt the cells at 50 Hz for 15 min. The tubes were pierced and the solution collected after centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 5 min. The pellets were resuspended in the supernatant and transferred to fresh 1.5 mL eppendorfs. The tubes were spun at 15,000 rpm for 15 min and the supernatant centrifuged again at 66,000 rpm for 1 h. The supernatant was removed and the membrane pellets resuspended overnight at 4°C in pH 7 buffer A. Membrane preparations were stored at -80°C.

2.2.3.2 BCA Assay

The total protein content of culture supernatants (2 μ l) at 48 h post-induction was analyzed by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay. 4.9 mL of BCA solution (B9643, Sigma) was mixed with 100 μ L 4% mM copper (II) sulfate solution (C2284, Sigma). 198 μ L of this solution

was used to assay each independent supernatant sample in duplicate using a plate reader (BioTek Instruments) at 570 nm. To determine the concentration of protein in the samples, a bovine serum albumin standard (Sigma) was used to plot a standard curve (Fig 2.6). The data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test.



Figure 2.6: BCA standard Example BCA standard with increasing concentrations of BSA measured at 570 nm.

2.2.3.3 Fluorescence measurements

Culture supernatants (100 μ L) were assayed at 24 h and 48 h post-induction for GFP fluorescence in black 96 well plates using a Spectramax Gemini XS plate reader with an excitation wavelength (λ_{exe}) of 397 nm, and emission wavelength (λ_{em}) of 506 nm. Triplicate determinations were performed for each independent sample including blanks with BMMY or BSM. All samples and blanks were buffered to pH >7.0 using 50 μ L 1 M potassium phosphate pH 7.5. Data were collected at 25 °C. To determine the concentration of GFP in each of the samples, a recombinant GFP standard (Vector Laboratories Ltd) was used to construct a standard curve relating RFU to protein concentration (Fig. 2.7), as described previously[36]. All data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA to test for a

significant difference between any of the means. In all cases P < 0.001 indicated a high degree of significance. A Dunnett's multiple comparison test was then performed to compare each treatment mean (e.g. addition of various antifoam concentrations) and the control mean (e.g. 0% antifoam).



Figure 2.7: GFP standard

Increasing concentration of recombinant GFP standard measured at excitation wavelength (λ_{exe}) of 397 nm, and emission wavelength (λ_{em}) of 506 nm by Spectramax Gemini XS fluorescence plate reader

2.2.3.4 ELISA

A GFP ELISA kit (RandD Systems) was used to detect GFP present in sample supernatants. Sample supernatant was diluted 1:5,000 using Assay Diluent and 100 μ L added to the wells of the Anti-GFP antibody coated plate. A dilution series of recombinant GFP standard was performed and 100 μ L was added to wells. All samples were assayed in duplicate. The plate was incubated at 37°C for 2 h. The wells were then washed with 250 μ L 1 x wash buffer three times. Excess wash buffer was removed by tapping the plate on paper towel. Then 100 μ L of anti-GFP antibody previously diluted to 1:1,000 using Assay Diluent was added to each well, and the plate incubated at room temperature for 2 h on an orbital shaker. The wells were washed 3 times as previously. 100 μ L of secondary antibody previously diluted to 1:1,000 using Assay Diluent was added to each well and the plate was incubated for 1 h on an orbital shaker. The wells were washed 3 times as previously, then

100 μ L Substrate Solution warmed to room temperature was added to the wells. The plate was incubated at room temperature until a colour change occurred, varying from 2-30 min. The enzyme reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ L Stop Solution to each well. The results were read using a spectrophotometer at 450 nm. A GFP standard curve was plotted to determine the concentration of GFP in the samples.

2.2.3.5 Flow cytometry

Shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris*, as described above, were used to generate samples for flow cytometry analysis. The antifoams used were Antifoam A at 0.6%, Antifoam C at 0.6%, J673A at 0.8%, P2000 at 0.6% and SB2121 at 0.6% (v/v). Triplicate flasks were used for each antifoam. 48 h samples were diluted 1:1,000 in phosphate buffered saline to a final concentration of 10^{6} - 10^{7} cells/mL, as determined using a haemocytometer. Fluorescent measurements were made using a Beckman Coulter (High Wycombe, UK) flow cytometer with $\lambda_{exe} = 488$ nm from an argon-ion laser at 15 mW. Diluted samples were passed through a 0.2 µm filter, immediately prior to use, to remove particulate contamination. The optical filters were set up so that PI fluorescence was measured at 630 nm and GFP fluorescence was measured at 525 nm. The data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test.

2.2.3.6 GFP purification

GFP was purified using its His₆ tag with Ni-NTA agarose resin and columns (Qiagen). 5 mL pH 8.0 lysis buffer and 1 mL 50% of Ni-NTA was added to 15 mL supernatant in the lysis buffer in duplicate for each sample to be purified and incubated at 4°C for 1 h. The mixture was then loaded into a capped column before removing the cap and collecting the flow through. The column was washed twice with 4 mL pH 8.0 wash buffer and the wash fractions were collected. The protein was then eluted 4 times with pH 8.0 elution buffer and the fractions combined and stored at 4°C before analysis by Western blot.

2.2.3.7 SDS-PAGE

Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was used to separate the proteins in sample supernatant and membrane preparations. 12% SDS separating gels were made with 4% SDS stacking gel. Ammonium persulphate was made up fresh and TEMED added last. Isopropanol was added to the top of the separating gel while it set to level it and was washed away with deionized water before adding the stacking gel. 5 μ l of 4 x Laemmli buffer was added to 15 μ l of protein sample and heated to 70°C for 10 min. Samples were loaded into the gel with a prestained protein ladder (Fermentas) and 1 x SDS running buffer was added. 150 V was applied for 1 h.

2.2.3.8 Western Blots

Western blots were performed on the SDS-PAGE gels. Protein was transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes which were then blocked with PBS and 5% milk powder (Marvel) for 1 h at room temperature with agitation. The membranes were then washed with phosphate buffered saline with 0.2% Tween 20 (PBST). PBS with 5% milk powder was again added with a 1:5,000 mouse anti-His₆ monoclonal antibody (Serotec). The membranes were incubated for 1 h before washing with PBST. PBS with 5% milk powder and 1:5,000 secondary rabbit antibody were added and the gels incubated for 1 h. The gels were washed and EZ-ECL chemiluminescence solution (Biological Industries) was added. The gels were exposed to white light for 15 min and viewed with a Chemidoc system (UVItech). In order to compare between Western blots, ImageJ software was used.

2.2.3.9 Silver stain

Silver stains were performed on SDS page gels using reagents from a SilverQuest kit (Invitrogen). The gel was rinsed in ultrapure water and fixed in 100 mL fixative (40% v/v ethanol, 10% v/v acetic acid) overnight at 4°C. The fixative was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. The ethanol was decanted and the gel washed in 100 mL sensitizing solution for 10 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in 30% v/v ethanol for 10 min. The gel was then washed in 100 mL ultrapure water for 10 min. The water was decanted and 100 mL staining solution was added for 15 min. This was decanted and the gel washed in ultrapure water for 20 – 60 s and the water decanted. The gel was

incubated in100 mL developing solution for 4 - 8 min until bands appeared. Once the desired band intensity had been reached, 10 mL stopper solution was added. The gel was agitated gently for 10 min then washed in ultrapure water for a further 10 min.

2.2.4 Radioligand binding

100 μ g of membrane protein was used in all radioligand binding reactions. Tubes were set up for total and non-specific binding for each sample. Total binding determination comprised 50 nM ZM241385 labelled with tritium ([³H]ZM241385), 1 μ L adenosine deaminase (0.1u), 100 μ g membrane protein and binding buffer up to 275 μ L. Non specific determination were set up comprising 50 nM [³H]ZM241385, 10 nM unlabeled ZM241385, 1 μ L adenosine deaminase, 100 μ g membrane protein and binding buffer up to 275 μ L. Binding curves were performed with 100 μ g of membrane protein with increasing concentrations of radiolabeled ligand. The concentrations of ligand are shown in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3: $[^{3}H]ZM241285$ concentrations used to produce a binding curve for $A_{2a}R$ in the presence of	2
antifoams	

Concentration of [³ H]ZM241285	Volume of [³ H]ZM241285 (μl)	Volume of 10 nM ZM241385 (μl)	Membrane protein (μg)	Binding Buffer
0.5 nM	1 μ l of 50 nM stock	10	100	Up to 100 µl
1 nM	$2 \ \mu l \ of \ 50 \ nM \ stock$	10	100	Up to 100 µl
2.5 nM	$6 \ \mu l \ of \ 50 \ nM \ stock$	10	100	Up to 100 µl
5 nM	10 µl of 50 nM stock	10	100	Up to 100 µl
10 nM	0.5 µl of 1 µM stock	10	100	Up to 100 µl
20 nM	1 µl of 1 µM stock	10	100	Up to 100 µl

The tubes were then incubated at room temperature for 1 h 30 min then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min. The pellets were rinsed with 500 μ L water twice then 100 μ L soluene added in a fume cupboard. The tubes were incubated at room temperature overnight. 1 mL scintillation fluid was dispensed into the tubes and they were mixed by vortexing. Each tube was placed into a counting vial and loaded onto the radioactivity counter. Non specific counts were subtracted from the total counts to obtain the counts for each sample.

2.2.5 Bartsch Test

The Bartsch test was conducted following a protocol adapted from that outlined by Denkov *et al*[185]. A 500 mL graduated glass cylinder was filled with 166 mL BMMY medium and in all cases except for the control, the appropriate antifoam was added to 0.001% v/v and 1% v/v. The cylinder was sealed using parafilm and shaken up and down ten times. The height of the foam was recorded every 30 s for 15 min and repeated 5 times for each antifoam. The activity of the antifoam agent was determined by measuring the total volume of the whole system and subtracting the volume of media.

2.2.6 Mass spectrometry

2.2.6.1 Lipid extraction

Lipid was extracted from *P. pastoris* cells using the method outlined by Spicket *et al* 2001[186]. Cultures were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant discarded. The cell pellets weighed approximately 40 mg. 0.5 mL methanol at 50°C was added to the pellets and the cells incubated in a sonicating water bath for 15 min. 0.5 mL chloroform was then added and the cells sonicated for a further 15 min. 0.5 mL of 0.88% KCl was added and the mixture was vortexed. The cells were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 2 min to separate the organic and aqueous layers. The organic layer at the bottom of the tube was transferred to a fresh tube and dried under a stream of nitrogen gas. The lipid extracts were stored at -80°C until analysis.

2.2.6.2 Electrospray mass spectrometry

An AB Sciex QTrap 5500 mass spectrometer was used to analyze yeast lipid samples with Analyst software. 500 μ L 100% methanol was added to each dried lipid sample and a 1:1,000 dilution performed with methanol. Settings were a 5 μ L/min flow rate of sample with a syringe diameter of 3.26 mm. An ion spray voltage of 5,500 V was used for samples read in positive scanning modes and -4,500 V for samples read in negative scanning modes. Precursor ion and neutral loss scanning modes were used.

3. THE EFFECT OF ANTIFOAMS UPON SMALL SCALE RECOMBINANT PROTEIN PRODUCTION BY *P. PASTORIS* IN SHAKE FLASKS

Antifoams are commonly added to cultures in both shake flasks and bioreactors without first investigating the effects they could exert upon the cells and the proteins being produced. There has never been a systematic study of these effects upon cells producing recombinant protein, especially at concentrations above 0.1%. In order to establish whether antifoams affect recombinant protein yield in *P. pastoris* X33 cultures, and if so to investigate the underlying mechanisms, a small scale experimental system was chosen to evaluate the effects of the antifoam. Recombinant protein production was carried out in *P. pastoris* under the control of the methanol-inducible *AOX1* promoter. The 20 mL BMMY cultures were grown in 100 mL non-baffled flasks in the presence of five different antifoams at concentrations of 0% - 1%. Experiments were carried out at 30°C in triplicate for each of the conditions examined.

3.1 Target protein selection

Several protein targets were considered for small scale investigation of the effects of antifoams in shake flasks, some of these being pre-existing strains (green fluorescent protein, adenosine $_{2a}$ receptor, erythropoietin, CHLG, β 1-AR and the aquaporins) and others being strains generated in this project (human growth hormone, receptor component protein).

3.1.1 Green fluorescent protein

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) is an ideal protein for investigation as it is simple to assay and is stable at a range of temperatures and pH. The construct created by Dr William Holmes[36] was used for all antifoam experiments and is shown in Fig 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Schematic for X33-GFP construct

pPICZ α A-GFPuv construct with AOX1 promoter (not shown) upstream of the α -factor, GFPuv and c-myc and His₆ tags[36].

The construct was created using the pPICZ α A vector with the GFPuv sequence inserted into the multiple cloning site (*EcoRI* and *XbaI*). An α -factor is on the amino-terminus (Nterminus). On the carboxy-terminus (C-terminus) is a c-myc tag and a His₆ tag. The vector was transformed into *P. pastoris* X33 cells[36] to create strain X33-GFP.

3.1.2 Erythropoetin

The erythropoeitin (EPO) construct was created by Dr Nagamani Bora, Aston University. The DNA was transformed into *P. pastoris* X33 cells[187] and denoted X33-EPO. A schematic illustrating the construct is shown in Fig 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Schematic for X33-EPO construct

EPO construct designed by Dr. Nagamani Bora with an α -factor upstream of the EPO coding sequence.

3.1.3 β1-AR

The β 1-AR construct was designed by Dr. Antoine Gautier (Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Cambridge) and was created in the pPIC9K expression vector and was transformed into SMD1163 cells and denoted SMD- β 1-AR. A schematic illustrating the construct is shown in Fig 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Schematic for SMD-β1-AR construct

Design of the β 1-AR construct created by Dr. Antoine Gautier. An α -factor is upstream of the β 1-AR coding sequence with a His₆ tag downstream of the sequence.

3.1.4 Adenosine 2a receptor

The adenosine $_{2a}$ receptor (A_{2a}R) construct used was designed by Fraser[76] and is a glycosylation deficient version of the protein with the N-linked glycosylation site at Asn154 mutated to a Gln. The A_{2a}R protein is tagged with a FLAG tag and His₁₀ tag on the amino-terminus. It was transformed into *P. pastoris* SMD1163 cells to create strain SMD-A_{2a}R. The design is shown in Fig 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Schematic for SMD-A_{2a}R construct

Glycosylation-deficient $A_{2a}R$ sequence designed by Fraser. Consists of an α -factor, FLAG and His₁₀ tag. The cassette was cloned into the multiple cloning site of the pPICZ α A construct. Image adapted from Fraser 2006[76].

3.1.5 Aquaporins

The aquaporin 7 construct was designed by Dr. Kristina Hedfalk, Göteborg University. It was created in the pPICZαB expression vector and transformed into *P. pastoris* X33 cells to create strain X33-AQP7. The design is shown in Fig. 3.5.



Figure 3.5: Schematic for X33-AQP7 construct

X33-AQP7 sequence designed by Dr. Kristina Hedfalk. An α -factor is upstream of the AQP sequence and His₆ and c-myc tags downstream of the sequence.

3.1.6 CHLG

The CHLG construct was designed by Dr. Mohammed Jamshad, Aston University, and the CHLG sequence was transformed into the pPICZB vector (*KpnI* and *NotI*) and denoted X33-CHLG. It consists of a Kozak sequence upstream of the CHLG sequence and a His₆ tag and a stop codon downstream as shown in Fig. 3.6.



Figure 3.6: Schematic for X33-CHLG construct

Construct design of CHLG in pPICZB. Consists of a Kozak sequence upstream of the CHLG sequence and His_6 tag and stop codon downstream.

The maxiprep DNA obtained from Dr. Mohammed Jamshad was transformed into *P. pastoris* X33 electrocompetant cells to create strain X33-CHLG. Western blots with anti-His antibodies carried out upon membrane preparations from shake flask samples induced for 48 h in BMMY. Faint bands were observed between 25 and 35 kDa suggesting the presence of the 30 kDa CHLG.

3.1.7 Receptor component protein construct

A construct containing the receptor component protein, RCP, tagged with GFP for ease of detection with a TEV recognition site to allow cleavage of the RCP from the tags was designed in collaboration with Dr James Barwell, Aston University. The full sequence is given below for the multiple cloning site showing the positions of *AOX1*, RCP-TEV-GFP, c-myc tag and His₆ tag in Fig. 3.7. The expression vector pPICZ α B was used and the RCP sequence inserted into the multiple cloning site.

5' α-factor RCP TEV GFPuv c-myc His₆ 3'

B)

A)

Coding sequence for pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP:



AOX1 RCP TEV GFP c-myc 6x His

Translated:

MRFPSIFTAVLFAASSALAAPVNTTTEDETAQIPAEAVIGYSDLEGDFDVAVLPFSNSTNNG LLFINTTIASIAAKEEGVSLEKREAEAAGILMEVKDANSALLSNYEVFQLLTDLKEQRKESG KNKHSSGQQNLNTITYETLKYISKTPCRHQSPEIVREFLTALKSHKLTKAEKLQLLNHRPVT AVEIQLMVEESEERLTEEQIEALLHTVTSILPAEPEAEQKKNTNSNVAMDEEDPA AAQPAV SDRYLENLYFQGPRRPLMSKGEELFTGVVPILVELDGDVNGHKFSVSGEGEGDATYGKLTL KFICTTGKLPVPWPTLVTTFSYGVQCFSRYPDHMKRHDFFKSAMPEGYVQERTISFKDDGN YKTRAEVKFEGDTLVNRIELKGIDFKEDGNILGHKLEYNYNSHNVYITADKQKNGIKANFK IRHNIEDGSVQLADHYQQNTPIGDGPVLLPDNHYLSTQSALSKDPNEKRDHMVLLEFVTAA GITHGMDELYK

Figure 3.7: pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP construct design

A) Schematic illustrating position of the α -factor, RCP, TEV, GFP, c-myc and His₆ tags. B) Sequence for the coding region cloned into the SfiI and EcoRI sites of the pPICZ B vector.

A schematic illustrating the cloning strategy for pPICZ α B-RCP-TEV-GFP is show in Fig. 3.8.



pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP

Figure 3.8: Schematic outlining the cloning strategy for the creation of pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP PCR was used to amplify RCP and GFPuv sequences with restriction sites. The sequences were ligated into the pPICZaB vector. TEV primers were fused and the sequence was ligated into the pPICZaB-RCP-GFP construct to create pPICZaB-RCP-TEV-GFP.

The RCP sequence was initially amplified using PCR with the forward and reverse RCP primers (Chapter 2), with *EcoRI* and *SfiI* restriction sites. An agarose gel, illustrated in Fig 3.9A, showed a band at just below 500 bp. As the PCR product was expected to be 450 bp this suggested that the RCP sequence had been successfully amplified and restriction digests followed by ligation reactions were performed on the insert and vector to introduce RCP into pPICZ α B. The vector was then re-digested with *SfiI* and *EcoRI* to determine whether the insert had been ligated into the vector. The agarose gel shown in Fig 3.9B shows the insert at just under 500 bp, suggesting that the insert had been successfully ligated.



Figure 3.9: Agarose gels showing the amplified RCP sequence at approximately 450 bp (*A*) and the insert shown after re-digestion of the vector to check for successful ligation in three independent samples(*B*) Molecular mass markers are indicated in bp.

The GFPuv sequence was amplified by using PCR using primers with *Not I* and *Xba I* restriction sites. The agarose gel for the reaction is shown in Fig. 3.10 and shows the expected GFP sequence at 700 bp. The GFPuv sequence was inserted by digestion of the insert and pPICZαB-RCP vector with *NotI* and *XbaI*, followed by ligation. The vector was then re-digested with *Not I* and *Xba I* to determine whether the insert had been ligated into the vector.


Figure 3.10: Agarose gels showing PCR amplication of GFP Amplification of GFPuv at 700 bp. Molecular markers are shown in the first wells and indicate the size of the fragment in bp.

A TEV recognition site to allow cleavage of the RCP from the GFP and His_6 tags following purification was created by fusing two primers with *KpnI* and *SacII* restriction sites. The fused TEV primers were inserted by digestion of the pPICZ α B-RCP-GFP vector and insert followed by ligation.

This DNA was then transformed into XL10 Gold competent *E. coli* cells by heat shock to amplify the material. The cells were grown on LB agar with increasing concentrations of zeocin and colonies picked from the plates and grown in LB medium overnight. The DNA was extracted and sequenced using Birmingham University's Functional Genomics and Proteomics Unit's DNA sequencing service. The sequence alignment can be found in Appendix 8.1. Once the desired sequence had been verified, the DNA was transformed first into electrocompetant *P. pastoris* X33 cells, however due to poor colony growth, the DNA was then transformed into electrocompetant SMD 1163 *P. pastoris* cells to create strain SMD-RCP-TEV-GFP. Colony screening was performed using the Microbioreactor 24.

3.1.8 Human growth hormone

A construct containing human growth hormone (HGH) was created based on the construct and procedure designed by Calik *et al* 2008[152]. The construct consists of a His₆ tag on the amino-terminus, Factor Xa, HGH, followed by a stop codon shown below. The Factor Xa allows cleavage of the tags for the isolation of pure HGH. The design is shown in Fig 3.11.

The HGH sequence was amplified from vector pHGH1 (patent 4,342,832) purchased from the American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC) by performing a two-step PCR reaction. The first reaction (Fig 3.13A) introduced His₂ and Factor Xa onto the 5' end followed by HGH, a stop codon and an *XbaI* site. The second PCR reaction added an *EcoRI* recognition site and His₄. The HGH forward and reverse primers were used (Chapter 2).

A)



B)

Coding sequence for pPICZaA-HGH:

ATGAGATTTCCTTCAATTTTTACT	GCTGTTTTATTCGCAGCATCCTCCG	CATTAGCTGCTCCAGTCAACACTACAACAGAAG
ATGAAACGGCACAAATTCCGGCT	GAAGCTGTCATCGGTTACTCAGAT 1	TAGAAGGGGATTTCGATGTTGCTGTTTTGCCAT
TTTCCAACAGCACAAATAACGGG	TTATTGTTTATAAATACTACTATTG	CCAGCATTGCTGCTAAAGAAGAAGGGGGTATCTC
TCGAGAAAAGAGAGGCTGAAGC	GAATTCCACCATCACCATCACCAT	ATTGAAGGGAGA <mark>TTCCCAACTATACCACTATCT</mark>
CGTCTATTCGATAACGCTATGCT	CGTGCTCATCGTCTTCATCAGCTGC	GCCTTTGACACCTACCAGGAGTTTGAAGAAGCCT
ATATCCCAAAGGAACAGAAGTAT	TCATTCCTGCAGAACCCCCAGACC	ICCCTCTGTTTCTCAGAGTCTATTCCGACACCCT
CCAACAGGGAGGAAACACAACA	GAAATCCAACCTAGAGCTGCTCCGC	CATCTCCCTGCTGCTCATCCAGTCGTGGCTGGAG
CCCGTGCAGTTCCTCAGGAGTGT	CTTCGCCAACAGCCTAGTGTACGGC	GCCTCTGACAGCAACGTCTATGACCTCCTAAAG
GACCTAGAGGAAGGCATCCAAAG	GCTGATGGGGGAGGCTGGAAGATG	GCAGCCCCCGGACTGGGCAGATCTTCAAGCAGA
CCTACAGCAAGTTCGACACAAAC	TCACACAACGATGACGCACTACTC	AAGAACTACGGGCTGCTCTACT <u>GCT</u> TCAGGA <u>AG</u>
GACATGGACAAGGTCGAGACATT	CCTGCGCATCGTGCAGTGCCGCTC1	IGTGGAGGGCAGCTGTGGCTTCTAGATTCTAGA
ACAAAAACTCATCTCAGAAGAGG	ATCTGAATAGCGCCGTCGACCATC	ATCATCATCAT

AOX1 6xHis Factor Xa HGH Stop c-myc

Translated:

MRFPSIFTAVLFAASSALAAPVNTTTEDETAQIPAEAVIGYSDLEGDFDVAVLPFSNSTNNG LLFINTTIASIAAKEEGVSLEKREAEA<mark>EFHHHHHHIEGR</mark>FPTIPLSRLFDNAMLRAHRLHQL AFDTYQEFEEAYIPKEQKYSFLQNPQTSLCFSESIPTPSNREETQQKSNLELLRISLLLIQSW LEPVQFLRSVFANSLVYGASDSNVYDLLKDLEEGIQTLMGRLEDGSPRTGQIFKQTYSKFD TNSHNDDALLKNYGLLYCFRKDMDKVETFLRIVQCRSVEGSCGF<mark>StopILEQKLISEEDL</mark>NSA VD<mark>HHHHHH</mark>

Figure 3.11:pPICZaA-HGH construct design

A) Schematic illustrating position of the α -factor, Factor Xa, HGH and stop codon. B) Sequence for the multiple cloning site of pPICZ A vector containing HGH.

As the PCR product was expected to be approximately 613 bp and bands were seen between 600 and 700 bp on both agarose gels, this suggested that the HGH sequence had been successfully amplified in both reactions and restriction digests followed by ligation reactions were performed on the insert and vector to introduce HGH into pPICZ α B. The DNA gels for the PCR reactions are shown in Fig. 3.12B and C.

PCR reaction 1

Factor Xa HGH His₂ Stop XbaI site PCR reaction 2 EcoRI site His₆ Factor Xa HGH Stop XbaI site **(B)** (C) 1013 1013 700 700 500 600 400 500 300 400 200 300 200 100 100

Figure 3.12: PCR strategy for HGH amplification and agarose gels

(A) Two-step PCR reactions to amplify HGH. The first reaction added His_2 and a Factor Xa site to the 5' end and a stop codon and XbaI site to the 3' end. The second reaction added an EcoRI site and His_4 to the 5' end. Adapted from Calik et al 2008[152]. Agarose gels showing the PCR reactions for (B) the first step and (C) the second step amplifying the HGH sequence and adding a His_6 tag and Factor Xa site with EcoRI and XbaI restriction sites. Molecular markers are indicated.

(A)

The vector was then re-digested with *EcoRI* and *XbaI* to determine whether the insert had been ligated into the vector. The agarose gel shown in Fig 3.13 shows the insert at 600 bp, suggesting that the insert had been correctly ligated.



Figure 3.13: Agarose gel showing PCR amplification of HGH The HGH insert shown at approximately 600 bp after re-digestion of the vector to check for successful ligation. A molecular marker in the left hand well indicates the size of the fragment.

This DNA was then transformed into XL10 Gold competent *E. coli* cells by heat shock to amplify the material. The cells were grown on LB agar with increasing concentrations of zeocin and colonies picked from the plates and grown in LB medium. The DNA was sequenced at Birmingham University. The sequence alignment can be found in Appendix 8.2. Once the desired sequence had been verified, the DNA was transformed into electrocompetant SMD1163 *P. pastoris* cells to create strain SMD-HGH.

3.2 Target protein implementation

The GFP, EPO and $A_{2a}R$ constructs were taken forward for antifoam investigations. Each of these proteins have reliable quantification methods and are measured in a different manner. GFP is simple to assay by fluorimetry, and EPO can be detected by ELISA or immunoblotting techniques. Differences in the concentration of $A_{2a}R$ can be measured by radio ligand binding, and the effect of the antifoams upon activity of this protein can also be determined. GFP and EPO are soluble proteins, while tests upon $A_{2a}R$ allow analysis of the effects of antifoams upon a membrane protein. In contrast it was concluded that the aquaporins are difficult to assay and a Western blot would be relied upon for quantification. The same is true for HGH. The RCP-GFP construct is large as it contains a fusion protein. Therefore, on the basis of a stable strain, good assay and ease of growth, the GFP, EPO and $A_{2a}R$ constructs were taken forward for antifoam evaluations. In the first instance, GFP was used to establish all experimental procedures.

3.2.1 Growth characteristics of *P. pastoris* strain X33-GFP in BMGY medium

In order to ensure cells were actively growing in log phase prior to any experimental determination, three separate colonies were analyzed. *P. pastoris* X33-GFP from two different plates and a glycerol stock was streaked onto fresh YPD plates denoted a, b and c, respectively. Colonies from each were used to inoculate BMGY and growth curves were monitored over 44 h to determine the growth profiles of each colony as shown in Fig. 3.14.





Growth curves for colonies a, b and c monitored over 44h. The natural log of the OD at 595 nm was plotted against time.

As suggested by Fig. 3.14, the optimum time point for transfer of the colonies to BMMY is between 5 and 10 h while they are in log phase and this information was taken into account when cultures for the following investigations were set up.

3.3 Antifoams

Five antifoams were selected for evaluation based on their widespread use and range of characteristics. They are usually added to fermentation processes in minimal quantities[188, 189], therefore concentrations above 0.1% were examined in this study. Information about each of the antifoams evaluated is given in Table 3.1 The precise contents of each of the agents is known only by the manufacturers, and attempts to use mass spectrometry to gain more information were unsuccessful due to their chemical characteristics. Samples of J673A were sent to Alta Bioscience based at Birmingham University, however a peak was not obtained with the MALDI-TOF equipment.

Antifoam	Composition	Manufacturer	
Antifoam A	30% emulsion of silicone polymer	Sigma	
Antifoam C	30% emulsion of silicone polymer	Sigma	
J673A	Alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable base	Struktol	
P2000	Polypropylene glycol	Fluka	
SB2121	Polyalkylene glycol	Struktol	

Table 3.1: Compositions of antifoams for evaluation

Antifoams A and C contain silicone polymers, which consist of repeating units of dimethyl silicone[190]. They are both 30% emulsions of the same antifoam concentrate with slight differences in components. P2000 is a polypropylene glycol, which is a polymer of propylene units. An example of these structures are shown in Fig. 3.15.



Figure. 3.15 Silicone polymer and polypropylene glycol structures

A) The structure of silicone polymers consisting of repeating dimethyl silicone units. Image reproduced from chemwiki.ucdavis.edu[190]. B) The structure of polypropylene glycol. Image taken from http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Polypropylen.svg. The repeating units are containined within brackets, where n represents the number of repeats.

The antifoams were initially characterized for to their ability to destroy foam, as well as any possible influence upon the viability of the cells at the concentrations used in this study.

3.3.1 The effect of antifoams upon foam destruction

In order to compile a picture of the properties of each antifoam, the original purpose of the agents, foam destruction, was evaluated. Simple methods of determining the ability of antifoams to reduce foam are the Bartsch shaking test[90] and the Ross-Miles pouring test[91]. The Bartsch test involves filling a graduated measuring cylinder with the medium used for the process and adding the antifoam to be investigated. The cylinder is sealed and shaken a set number of times. The foam height is then measured over time and provides a quick and simple method of determining the efficiency of the antifoam agent of destroying the foam. A Bartsch shaking test was conducted with each of the antifoams at 0.001% v/v, which is a low concentration that is often added to bioreactor cultures to reduce foam. The

test was repeated 5 times for each antifoam and the foam height was monitored over 15 min. The data are shown in Fig. 3.16. The test demonstrated that in the absence of an antifoaming agent, initial foam destruction was quick until a stable foam was formed. Foam height reduced slowly and in the 15 min testing time did not reach zero, demonstrated by Fig. 3.16A. The most effective agent for foam reduction was J673A, where less foam was formed after initial shaking, and destruction was rapid. Antifoam A had the least activity of the agents tested, and its related antifoam, Antifoam C, also required several minutes to completely destroy all of the foam present. All antifoams were effective at foam destruction and most foam was destroyed within one minute (Fig. 3.16B). The findings are summarized in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.16: Antifoam Bartsch test

The antifoams were tested for their foam destruction capacity. Foam volume (mL) was recorded for 0% v/v antifoam (A) and 0.001% of each antifoam (B) in BMMY medium over a 15 min time course (n = 5).

Agent	Time for foam $destruction < 15 min$	Stable foam	Description
Control (0% antifoam)	No	Yes	Quick initial reduction but stable foam reduced very slowly
Antifoam A	Yes	No	Rapid foam destruction but least effective agent
Antifoam C	Yes	No	Rapid foam destruction
J673A	Yes	No	Rapid foam destruction, most effective agent with lowest initial foam height
P2000	Yes	No	Rapid foam destruction
SB2121	Yes	No	Rapid foam destruction

Table 3.2.: Summary of Bartsch test findings

A Bartsch test was also conducted with antifoams at 1% v/v and all foam was destroyed within 10 seconds. This investigation demonstrates the effectiveness of each of the agents for their principal use, and differences are apparent in the foam destruction capacity of each type of antifoam. If their mechanisms of action upon foam differ, it is likely that they also exert different effects upon the cultures they are added to.

3.3.2 The effect of antifoams upon cell viability

The effects of antifoams upon the viability of the cells themselves is not widely reported. As the concentrations of antifoams added to the cultures in these investigations are much higher than would normally be used, the influence of these agents upon the viability of the *P. pastoris* cells was evaluated.

3.3.2.1 Capacitance

The effect of antifoams upon capacitance was monitored in shake flasks as a method for assessing the viability of the cells. A Foagale capacitance probe loaned by Applikon Biotechnology Ltd. was used in shake flask cultures. The probe pulses a known charge into the flask, and if cells are intact, the charge is maintained around their surface and is detected by the probe. If the cells are dead and the surface is disrupted, a difference in charge is detected. In the shake flask set up, the signal was found to be noisy making comparison between conditions difficult. It is likely that the confines of the flask and low levels of media caused interruption of the signals sent to and from the probe and no meaningful data was able to be gathered from this system. Future experiments could be carried out in a bioreactor where the signal might be more stable. An example of some of the data is shown in Fig. 3.17.



Figure 3.17: Biomass of **P. pastoris** *with 0.8% Antifoam C monitored by capacitance probe* Biomass of P. pastoris X33 GFP in BMMY in the presence of 0.8% Antifoam C in a 250 mL shake flask measured by a Fogale capacitance probe over 24 h.

3.3.2.2 Propidium iodide staining

An alternative method of assessing cell viability was conducted by performing propidium iodide exclusion and flow cytometry. In this assay, dead cells are stained red[191] and appear in population C (Fig. 3.18) while live cells fluoresce green due to GFP production and appear in population B. The *P. pastoris* cells producing GFP were cultured in the 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks to be used for the protein production investigation (section 3.4) in triplicate for each antifoam condition. Samples were taken after 48 h and following a haemocytometer count, were diluted with PBS to be in the region of 10^{6} - 10^{7} cells/mL. 2

mL of the diluted samples were taken and 10µl propidium iodide added. The data shown in Figure 3.18A, generated using WinMDI software, suggest that there are no dead cells present in cultures containing 0 % antifoam. Fig. 3.18B shows that the same result was obtained in the presence of 0.6 % Antifoam A. This result was seen for all antifoams tested.



Figure 3.18: Viability of cells determined by propidium iodide staining

Viable cells without antifoam (A) and with 0.6% Antifoam A (as a representative example; B) are shown. Population A, which is not cellular, comprises events that are related to electronic and particulate noise. Population B comprises cells with enhanced green fluorescence due to the expression of GFP. Population C is where any dead cells (stained red with propidium iodide) would be observed.

3.4 The effect of antifoams upon GFP production

The effect of the antifoams upon GFP production by *P. pastoris* was investigated as it is simple to assay and is a robust protein, stable at a range of temperatures and pH. The agents were added at concentrations from 0-1 % v/v for GFP shake flask experiments. These concentrations are higher than the 0.1 % routinely used for de-foaming purposes and it has

been reported previously that antifoams at these concentrations can influence the yield of protein[82]. The total amount of GFP in these 20 mL cultures (the total yield) was measured by fluorimetry 48 h post-induction. Measurements were read in triplicate for three biologically independent experiments (n = 9) and compared to readings for a recombinant GFP standard at known concentrations to calculate the yield of protein. The data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test where * = P ≤ 0.05 and ** = P ≤ 0.01.

3.4.1 Antifoams do not induce changes in GFP fluorescence

In order to determine whether any of the antifoams themselves affected the fluorescence of GFP, 1 % antifoam was incubated in BMMY for 48 h to mimic the experimental set-up. This was then spiked with 200 μ g, a similar concentration of recombinant GFP standard to that obtained in test cultures. There was no significant difference between the fluorescence of GFP in the presence or absence of any of the antifoams suggesting that they did not influence the sample readings, as shown by Fig. 3.19. The fluorescence values of the antifoams themselves were also measured at 1 % after 48 h and found to be minimal, similar to the buffer control readings.





Effect of antifoams added at 1% v/v upon the fluorescence of 200 µg recombinant GFP standard in BMMY medium after 48 h in triplicate shake flasks. GFP readings were measured using fluorimetery and samples were measured in triplicate for each sample. Error bars represent the standard errors.

3.4.2 Antifoam addition affects total GFP yield in shake flasks

The shake flask data show that all of the antifoams tested increased the total yield of GFP in the 20 mL shake flasks after 48 h above concentrations of 0.6%. The total yield of GFP as a function of Antifoam A addition rose significantly at concentrations of 0.6 % and above (Fig. 3.20A) with no further increases above 1 % (data not shown). A similar but more pronounced trend was observed for Antifoam C (Fig. 3.20B), which is unsurprising since Antifoam C is a 30 % emulsion of the same antifoam concentrate as Antifoam A, but with different non-ionic emulsifiers [192]. Fig. 3.20C shows that addition of 1 % J673A increased the total yield of GFP compared to the control without antifoam from 246 µg to 394 µg, representing one of the largest effects of the antifoams evaluated. At concentrations above 1 %, the total yield of GFP decreased (data not shown). Addition of P2000 (Fig. 3.20D) also resulted in a significant increase in total yield at or above 0.6 %, while addition of SB2121 (Fig. 3.20E) increased total yield at concentrations above 0.4 %. In both cases the largest improvement was obtained on addition of 1 % of the antifoam, again almost doubling the yield. Overall, all five antifoams tested increased the total yield of GFP at concentrations in the range of 0.4-1 % v/v. The highest yield was achieved by adding 1 % P2000 (422 µg GFP) followed by 1 % SB2121 (396 µg GFP), 1 % J673A (394 µg GFP), 0.6 % Antifoam A (373 µg GFP) and 0.8 % Antifoam C (348 µg GFP). All five yields were significantly higher than the corresponding yields from the 0 % control, as shown in Fig. 3.20.

The cultures at the optimum concentrations of antifoam were imaged using a fluorescence microscope (Fig 3.21). There are clear differences in the intensity of GFP present in the cultures compared to the control, especially in the case of 1% J673A, 1% P2000 and 1% SB2121. These cultures appear to demonstrate that there is also a greater amount of intracellular GFP present when compared to the control and Antifoam A and C cultures.



Figure 3.20: Antifoam addition increases the total yield of GFP in 20 mL P. pastoris cultures *Bar charts showing the total yield of GFP (µg) at 48 h in 20 mL P. pastoris cultures following addition of Antifoam A (A), Antifoam C (B), J6734 (C), P2000 (D) and SB2121(E) at concentrations from 0-1%. The error bars show the respective standard errors. In all cases n = 9.*



A) 0% Antifoam





C) 0.8% Antifoam C





E) 1% P2000

F) 1% SB2121

Figure 3.21: Fluorescence microscopy images of P. pastoris producing GFP

P. pastoris producing GFP in the presence of antifoams viewed under a fluorescence microscope at 100 x magnification. Both intracellular and extracellular GFP is observed. A Leica Microsystems DMI4000B microscope with a Leica CCD camera and Leica application suite AF software were used.

3.4.3 The effects of antifoam addition are due to changes in culture density for P2000 and SB2121

To account for any changes in the growth characteristics of the cells on addition of the antifoams, the total yield was normalized to the optical density of the cultures to obtain the specific yield ($\mu g \text{ OD}_{595}^{-1}$) by dividing the total GFP yield data by the optical density data shown in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3: Effect of antifoams upon optical density of P. pastoris cultures. Increasing concentrations of antifoam were added to shake flask cultures and the optical density was measured at 595 nm after 48 h in BMMY medium

	0%	0.2%	0.4%	0.6%	0.8%	1%
Antifoam A 24 h	15.6	16.4	14.5	16.4	14	19.3
Antifoam A 48 h	24.1	21.2	25.3	23.9	22.2	27.3
Antifoam C 24 h	15.3	18	8.8	15.2	13.8	20.3
Antifoam C 48 h	23.8	23.3	14.7	22.9	20.6	22.1
J673A 24 h	12.5	14.7	17.2	22.8	15.9	20
J673A 48 h	24.4	19.9	24.5	25.8	22	24
P2000 24 h	12.9	14.3	16.4	14	8.3	12.4
P2000 48 h	20.4	25.2	30.1	23.9	29.4	31.9
SB2121 24 h	11.1	17.9	20.1	27.7	22	19.5
SB2121 48 h	20.6	28.5	28.5	32.6	31.4	25.8

 OD_{595} was demonstrated to be a reliable measure of cell density in these experiments by comparing the number of cells counted using a haemocytometer at a given OD_{595} in the absence and presence of a range of concentrations of the different antifoams used in the study: there was no statistically significant difference in cell number between cells harvested at a given OD_{595} in the absence or presence of all antifoam concentrations tested at 48 h. Typical values were 8.8×10^7 cells/mL at an OD_{595} of 24.8 in the absence and presence of 0.5 % SB2121. However, it was clear that both OD and haemocytometer measurements are associated with some variability. The data are shown in Fig 3.22.



Figure 3.22: Haemocytometer counts for **P. pastoris** *cultures Comparison of the number of* **P. pastoris** *X33 GFP cells at 48 h in the presence of antifoams counted by haemocytometer. Error bars represent standard error and* n = 3.

For Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A, the specific yield data were similar in trend to the total yield data (Fig. 3.23A–C): addition of these antifoams in the range 0.2-1 % v/v caused a significant increase in specific yield compared to the control cultures with no antifoam. For cultures containing P2000 or SB2121, however, there was no statistically significant difference in the specific yield at each antifoam concentration compared with the control except for 1% P2000 where P < 0.05 (Fig. 3.23D–E). This suggested that the enhancements in total yield due to P2000 or SB2121 addition might be attributable to changed growth characteristics of the cells. An increase in OD₅₉₅ (at 48 h, see Table 3.3) was observed with increasing antifoam concentration for both antifoams (Fig.3.23D–E; 48 h data), which was less pronounced for Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A (Fig.3.23A–C), The cell counts shown in Fig 3.22 also showed that for SB2121 more cells were present in the cultures at both 0.5% and 1%, however these increases were not significant when compared to the control. These data suggest more than one mechanism of antifoam action: one possibly due to changed culture density (P2000, SB2121) and a second due to increased cellular production levels of recombinant GFP (Antifoam A, Antifoam C, J673A).



3.4.4 The effect of antifoams upon the growth rates of log phase *P. pastoris* X33-GFP cells

As there appeared to be differences in the growth of the cells in the presence of antifoams P2000 and SB2121, growth curves were plotted for the log phase of the *P. pastoris* cultures in the presence in the optimum concentrations of antifoams from the previous shake flask experiments. Flasks were set up as before with 20 mL BMMY culture and incubated at 30° C for 24 h. The cultures were set up in triplicate and the OD read every 2 h. The natural log of the OD data was taken and plotted over time to allow the specific growth rate, μ , to be calculated. The data are shown in Table 3.4.

Table 3.4: Growth rates calculated from the log phase of P. pastoris *X33-GFP in the presence of optimum concentrations of antifoam where* n = 2.

Antifoam	μ (h ⁻¹)		
0% Antifoam	0.13		
0.6% Antifoam A	0.12		
0.8% Antifoam C	0.09		
1% J673A	0.19		
1% P2000	0.15		
1% SB2121	0.14		

The growth rates for the log phase cells show that the control culture with 0% antifoam had a μ of 0.13 h⁻¹. 0.8% Antifoam C had a lower μ of 0.09 h⁻¹, suggesting that cultures in the presence of this antifoam grew more slowly than those without antifoam. 0.6% Antifoam A had a similar μ to the control of 0.12 h⁻¹ whereas 1% P2000 and 1% SB2121 were slightly higher, with $\mu = 0.15$ h⁻¹ and $\mu = 0.14$ h⁻¹, respectively. The highest growth rate was achieved with 1% J673A where $\mu = 0.19$ h⁻¹. A similar trend can be seen with the growth rates of the antifoam cultures to the total yields of GFP produced. The best yielding antifoams for GFP production, J673A, P2000 and SB2121 also had higher growth rates than the control. Higher growth rates could suggest that nutrients are taken up from the medium more rapidly, enabling the cell to grow more quickly and produce more recombinant protein. Infact, the antifoams may also affect the lipid composition of the yeast

cell membrane[193, 194], possibly allowing more efficient diffusion of methanol into the cell resulting in faster growth and a greater level of recombinant GFP production[66].

Overall, all of the antifoams tested increased the total recombinant protein yield, and this was achieved at higher concentrations than would normally be used for defoaming purposes. The best effect was observed when 1% P2000 was added to the culture after 48 h, and the total yield of GFP in 20 mL was increased from 244 µg to 422 µg. When the GFP yield was normalized by dividing by the OD to obtain the yield of GFP per unit OD at 48 h, it was found that the effects of antifoam addition were not due to changes in the growth of the cultures, except for P2000 and SB2121, suggesting at least two mechanisms of action of the antifoams for improving the yield of GFP. During the log phase of growth of the cells, the highest growth rates were seen with cultures containing 1% J673A, 1% P2000 and 1% SB2121. For P2000 and SB2121, these increases in growth rate could contribute to improved cell densities, agreeing with the normalized yields findings. For J673A, as the normalized yield data suggested that the improvements in total yield were not due to changes in growth, the high growth rate could indicate that the properties of the membrane lipids in this culture were altered by the antifoam, allowing nutrients to be taken up more rapidly which were utilized for recombinant protein production rather than to increase biomass.

3.5 Effect of antifoams in scale up into 2 L shake flasks

Antifoams are more commonly used in larger scale systems such as bioreactors. Before scaling up into a bioreactor, the antifoams were evaluated in 500 L BMMY medium in 2 L non-baffled shake flasks to determine whether their effects could be observed on a larger scale. The lowest yielding antifoam concentration that had a significant effect upon GFP production in the smaller shake flasks (0.8% Antifoam C) and one of the best yielding antifoams (0.8% J673A) were evaluated in this system. The results were determined by measuring the samples in triplicate using a fluorimeter, therefore n = 3 for each data set. The data are shown in Fig. 3.24.



Figure 3.24: GFP production in 2 L flasks in the presence of antifoam Effect of antifoams upon GFP production by P. pastoris after 48 h in 2 L shake flasks containing 500 mL BMMY medium where n = 3.

Fig 3.24 demonstrates that the effects of the antifoams can be applied to larger scale shake flasks with the same trend of effects as previously observed. Antifoam C at 0.6% produced a lower yield of GFP in 100 mL shake flasks than 0.8% J673A, but still produced a higher total yield than the control. J673A at 0.8% produced a much higher total yield of GFP than the control which was again almost double, and also the 0.6% Antifoam C cultures in both the small scale and large scale shake flasks. These data suggest that the effects of the antifoams are not specific to small shake flasks, and could be replicated in larger cultures to boost recombinant protein yields.

3.6 Effect of polyethylene glycol and ethylene glycol upon GFP yield

Some of the antifoams that increased the yield of GFP in shake flasks contain components that have similar compositions to other agents such as ethylene glycols and polyethylene glycols. P2000 is a polypropylene glycol and SB2121 is a polyalkylene glycol. An experiment was conducted to see if other similar agents not designed for defoaming

purposes could have the same effects as their antifoam counterparts. A polyethylene glycol (PEG) and an ethylene glycol (EG) were added at 0.5% and 1% to 20 mL BMMY in 100 mL non-baffled shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP and incubated for 48 h. The results are illustrated in Fig. 3.25.





The two other agents tested do not appear to have the same effects upon GFP yield as the antifoams at the concentrations tested, and in all cases except for 0.5% polyethylene glycol, decreased the yield. These findings imply that there could be a relationship between the ability of an agent to destroy foam, hence its use as an antifoaming agent, and the ability to affect recombinant protein production. It is possible that a there is a common component or mechanism of action of the antifoaming agents, which as well as destroying foam, can at certain concentrations lead to an improvement in total recombinant protein yield.

3.7 Effect of antifoams upon GFP purification

There is a general concern that addition of high concentrations of antifoam can interfere with down stream processes and purification of the proteins. As all of the antifoams increased the yields of GFP at higher concentrations than would normally be added, an investigation was conducted to determine whether they inhibited the purification of GFP. Shake flask cultures were set up in duplicate in 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks with 20 mL *P. pastoris* culture producing GFP in the presence of the optimum concentration of antifoam from the shake flask experiments. After 48 h, 15 mL of each culture was purified using a one-step Ni-NTA nickel affinity column. A silver stain was performed on some of the samples before and after purification (Fig 3.26A). The GFP present in the supernatant before purification, in the wash and in the elution was measured by fluorimetry. The data were converted to percentages of the total GFP content to allow comparison, shown in Fig. 3.26B.

Compared to the control, a greater percentage of GFP was present in the elution of the samples containing 1% J673A and 1% SB2121. The other antifoam samples contained a similar percentage of GFP compared to the control, suggesting that antifoams, at these concentrations and for this method of purification, do not inhibit purification of GFP. The presence of 1% J673A and SB2121 also appeared to improve the final percentage of GFP obtained in the elution.



Figure 3.26: The effect of antifoams upon the purification of GFP using nickel affinity columns A) Silver stain with crude and eluted samples; B) Comparison between the percentage of GFP present in each stage of the purification process. A represents Antifoam A, J represents J673A and P represents P2000. In all cases n = 6.

3.8 Effect of antifoams upon human erythropoietin production

In order to determine if the effects of the antifoam were specific to GFP, or whether they could be applied to another soluble protein, their effects upon the production of erythropoietin (EPO) were evaluated. The same system was used and antifoams at 0.6% and 1% were added to the 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks with 20 mL BMMY media containing *P. pastoris* producing secreted EPO. These concentrations were chosen as previously with GFP, at 0.6% all of the antifoams significantly increased the total protein yield, and at 1% some of the highest yields were obtained. Flasks were again set up in triplicate for each condition. Samples were collected at 48 h and measurements were attempted by performing an ELISA, however there was found to be unacceptable variability between samples read on different plates. This method was therefore deemed to be unreliable, and hence Western blots were performed on the samples. Western blots are not an ideal method to compare the quantity of protein produced under different conditions, therefore future experiments would also include a standard of known quantity on each to more accurately compare between blots. Nonetheless, the band intensity was measured using Image J software. The data were then averaged as illustrated in Fig. 3.27.

Fig 3.27 suggests the best condition for the production of EPO in shake flasks was without any antifoam addition and that the antifoams at these concentrations did not improve the yield of protein in comparison. The highest yield in the presence of the antifoams was observed with 1% J673A which was not significantly lower than the control, followed by 0.6% J673A. The most detrimental effect upon EPO production was seen when 0.6% Antifoam C was added to the flasks. Except for J673A, the other antifoam conditions tested had a pronounced detrimental effect upon the protein yield, emphasizing the importance of optimizing the antifoam and concentration to be used during the protein production process.



The Western blots from four SDS-page gels are shown in A) to D). E) shows a bar chart representing the relative amount of EPO produced. The black bar shows the relative amount of EPO in cultures without any antifoam present and the white bars show the effects of antifoam addition at 0.6% and 1% of the panel of antifoams. In each case n = 3.

3.9 Effect of antifoams upon adenosine 2a receptor production

 $A_{2a}R$, a membrane-bound protein, was produced in the same set up as previously described with 0.5% and 1% of each antifoam added to 20 mL BMMY cultures. Single point radioligand binding assays with $A_{2a}R$ antagonist [³H]ZM241385 were performed on 100 µg of membrane protein for each of the samples in duplicate (n= 6). The results are shown in Fig. 3.28.



Figure 3.28: The effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ production in shake flasks



The data suggest that overall, adding antifoams at these concentrations is detrimental to the production of $A_{2a}R$ in shake flasks. There are also large variations in results for some of the antifoam-containing cultures. However, 0.5% J673A has the least limiting effect upon the yield of the protein of the antifoams tested. The lowest yield was achieved in the presence of 1% P2000.

3.10 Summary

The Bartsch test demonstrated that each antifoam has a different effectiveness upon the destruction of foam which may be influenced by their different compositions and therefore different mechanisms of foam destruction. These antifoams when incubated with *P. pastoris* cells, did not reduce the viability of the cells, even at high concentrations. All of the antifoams tested in shake flasks increased the total yield of GFP at concentrations higher than would usually be used in bioreactor cultures for defoaming purposes. The best effects were observed with 1% P2000 which increased the total GFP yield from 244 µg to 422 µg. The least effective antifoam was Antifoam C, but this antifoam still significantly increased the total GFP yield compared to the control. When the total yield data was normalized to obtain the yield of GFP per unit OD, antifoams P2000 and SB2121 appeared to have caused the increases in protein yield due to changes in the growth of the cells. Although there was no statistical correlation between foam destruction capacity and either total or specific yield, J673A and SB2121 were the most effective at foam destruction and among the best at increasing GFP yield, whilst Antifoam A was the least effective and produced lower yields than J673A and P2000.

When the growth rates of *P. pastoris* cells in the log phase were measured in the presence of the concentration of antifoam that produced the highest yield of GFP, Antifoam C grew more slowly than the control without antifoam, Antifoam A grew at the same rate, P2000 and SB2121 had slightly higher growth rates, and J673A had a higher growth rate, 0.19 h^{-1} compared to 0.12 h^{-1} for the 0% antifoam culture.

Investigation into the effects of other similar agents to the antifoams, PEG and EG, showed that they appeared to have a detrimental effect overall upon the total yields of GFP. This implies that there is something specific to antifoams which produces the effects upon the growth or recombinant protein yields of *P. pastoris* cells producing GFP. The effects of antifoam J673A and Antifoam C were investigated in 2 L shake flasks, and it was found that their effects had the same trend as in 100 mL shake flasks, suggesting that the effects of the antifoams can be scaled up. The effect of the antifoams at their optimum concentration for GFP production on the purification of the protein was investigated, as

these concentrations are high and are thought to inhibit purification. It was found that the presence of antifoams was not detrimental to the purification of GFP using nickel affinity column purification, and in addition, 1% J673A and 1% SB2121 appeared to improve the concentration of GFP present in the elution.

When the antifoams were tested on the production of EPO in shake flasks at the concentrations that yielded more GFP than the controls, it was found that the highest total yield was achieved without antifoam present. The least detrimental antifoam was 1% J673A. When the same investigation was conducted with A_{2a}R, again the cultures without antifoam appear to produce the highest yields. Again the least detrimental antifoam was J673A but this time at 0.5%. Due to the large variation in counts obtained for the samples containing 0.5% J673A, it is unclear whether this condition was more effective at increasing the yield of A_{2a}R than the control and this data set would need to be repeated. It is possible that too few antifoam concentrations were tested, and that the optimal concentration of antifoam is dependent upon the protein. Lower concentrations may have increased the yields compared to the control, and could be examined in future work. The variations observed could also be attributed to pipetting error leading to variations in the concentrations of ligand present in each of the tubes. To reduce this problem the number of replicates should be increased to ensure the data obtained from this sensitive technique is more robust. Alternatively, larger volumes and amounts of membrane protein could be used if available, such as 500 μ g rather than 100 μ g.

The investigations in this Chapter have shown that antifoams can affect the production of recombinant protein and the growth of *P. pastoris* cells in shake flasks. For the production of recombinant GFP, the effects were beneficial at high concentrations and in some cases almost doubled the total yield of GFP obtained. They appear to have at least two mechanisms of action; one that improves the production or secretion of GFP and another that influences the growth of the cells. For other proteins, a detrimental effect was observed. This highlights the importance of screening for optimal antifoams and concentrations in bioprocesses, as the addition of antifoams has the capacity to enhance the yield of protein, or become detrimental.

4. MECHANISMS OF ANTIFOAM ACTION

The antifoams tested in Chapter 3 had a range of effects in the shake flask evaluations depending upon the type and concentration as well as on the protein being produced. It was noted that the antifoams appeared to have at least two mechanisms of action leading to increases in yield of GFP; one that suggested the improvements were due to a change in the growth of the cells, and the other an improvement in the production level and/or secretion of the protein. These possible mechanisms were further investigated in shake flask format, by examining the effects of the antifoams upon secretion and retention of GFP, membrane composition and changes in the growth characteristics of the cells as measured by the effects of the antifoams upon dissolved oxygen (DO) and the volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient ($k_L a$)

4.1 The effect of antifoams upon GFP secretion

GFP was chosen as the target protein for secretion and retention investigations as many of the observations of Chapter 3 were made using this protein. GFP is also easy to detect due to its fluorescent properties, making it the ideal choice for flow cytometry experiments.

4.1.1 Effect of antifoams on the total yield of GFP determined by flow cytomety and fluorometry

An investigation into whether antifoam addition might have a physical influence on the cells was conducted. The amount of GFP retained in the cell was measured (by flow cytometry) and that secreted into the culture medium (by fluorimetry). The *P. pastoris* cells were cultured in the same shake flask system used for the protein production investigation discussed in Chapter 3. Antifoam concentrations of 0.6% were chosen as these were the lowest concentrations to increase the total yields of GFP in the shake flask experiments, except for J673A where 0.8% increased the total yield compared to the control. Samples

were taken after 48 h and following a haemocytometer count, were diluted with PBS to be in the region of 10^{6} - 10^{7} cells/mL. 2mL of the diluted samples were analyzed using the flow cytometer. These data represent the GFP retained in the cells, while the GFP secreted in the shake flask experiments was measured by fluorimetry. In order to compare these two different data sets, each was normalized to its respective 0% antifoam control, which was consequently set to 1. The values shown in Fig. 4.1 are for determinations at 48 h (n = 3). The significance of the changes in retained and/or secreted GFP compared to the respective 0% antifoam control was analyzed by a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test where * = P ≤ 0.05 and ** = P ≤ 0.01.

Fig. 4.1 shows that addition of Antifoam A, Antifoam C, J673A and P2000 caused a statistically significant increase (P < 0.01) in the amount of GFP secreted into the medium compared with the 0 % antifoam control. The amount of protein retained in the cells was also greater suggesting that antifoam addition enhanced the ability of the cells to produce recombinant GFP. For P2000 however, more GFP was retained inside the cells compared with the 0 % antifoam control. This is consistent with the growth of the cells being affected by P2000 addition rather than resulting in improved secretion efficiency, and also suggests that there has been some metabolic change to the cells compared to the control. Data for SB2121 was similar to that for P2000. These data also correlate with the fluorescence microscopy pictures in Fig 3.22 of Chapter 3, where GFP can be clearly seen retained inside the cells of cultures containing P2000 and SB2121.



Figure 4.1: The effect of antifoams upon GFP secretion and retention

The amount of GFP retained in the cell analyzed by flow cytometry (white bars), and that secreted into the culture medium analyzed by fluorimetry (black bars). For the retained dataset n = 3 and secreted dataset n = 9.

It is possible that the antifoams were not only increasing the recombinant proteins being produced by *P. pastoris*, but could have an effect upon total protein secretion. A bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay is a commonly used method to determine total protein. This assay was performed on cultures incubated with 0%, 0.5% and 1% antifoams for 48 h to allow investigation of the range of concentrations. Samples were measured in triplicate and analyzed by a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test where $* = P \le 0.05$ and $** = P \le 0.01$ and $*** = P \le 0.001$). The data are illustrated in Fig 4.2.

The antifoams did not cause any change in the total concentration of all proteins in the supernatant measured by BCA assay for cultures containing antifoams at representative concentrations of 0 %, 0.5 % and 1 %, except for 0.5 % Antifoam C (P < 0.05) and 1 % SB2121 (P < 0.01). In the presence of these two antifoam concentrations, a decrease of 13–14 % was observed in the total protein concentration of the supernatant compared to 0 % antifoam-containing control cultures. At time point T0, as expected before induction, there was significantly less protein in these samples compared to the control (P < 0.001). These data suggest that as the antifoams did not increase the total protein being produced by *P*.

pastoris, the antifoam effects might be specific to the recombinant protein production pathway.





The effect of antifoams at 0.5% and 1% v/v upon total protein secretion by P. pastoris producing GFP after 48 h measured by BCA assay. A represents Antifoam A, C represents Antifoam C, J represents J673A, P represents P2000 and S represents SB2121 and T0 represents time zero. In each case n = 6.

AOX1 expression in the presence of methanol can account for up to 30% of the total soluble protein[22], however this did not appear to be the case when the yields of GFP produced under the control of this promoter in the shake flask investigations of Chapter 3 were compared with the total yields of protein produced. 20 mL cultures without antifoam produced 250 μ g of GFP, however the total yield of all protein was in the region of 100 mg. This suggests that the soluble GFP accounts for only 0.25 % of all protein in the medium. This implies that in the shake flask experiments the methanol induction was not optimal, or the methanol became limiting during the investigation. Induction in shake flasks therefore could be optimized in future work.

4.1.2 Effect of antifoams upon lipid composition of *P. pastoris* membranes

Further to the observations that antifoams may influence the ability of the *P. pastoris* cells to secrete recombinant GFP, the lipid composition of the cells incubated in the presence of optimum concentrations of the antifoams for 48 h was compared using electrospray mass spectrometry. Preliminary data analysis suggests that there was a relative change in the phosphatidylcholine composition of the lipids of membrane samples of 48 h *P. pastoris* cells incubated with 1% P2000 compared to control membrane lipids. The data also suggest a relative change in the phosphatidylinositol composition of membrane lipids from each of the antifoam-containing cultures compared to those without antifoam. Further analysis is required to determine the precise effects of the antifoams upon the lipid composition of *P. pastoris* cultures incubated with antifoam.

4.2 Effect of antifoams on the growth characteristics of cells producing GFP

The precise effects of antifoams upon cells is not well documented. Several growth characteristics of *P. pastoris* were therefore investigated in the presence of the panel of antifoams.

4.2.1 The effects of antifoams upon cell metabolism

The shake flask results from Chapter 3 showed that *P. pastoris* producing GFP in the presence of some of the antifoams produced differing amounts of protein and grew differently to the control. This implies that there may have been changes to the metabolism of the cells, which can be detected as changes in the heat output rate by microcalorimetry.

The thermal activity monitor (TAM) is a sensitive differential calorimeter developed in order to study biological systems[172] and is shown in Fig. 4.3. Calorimetry involves the measurement of heat. Differential calorimeters are able to measure the difference in heat between the sample and a reference[195]. In *P. pastoris* cultures, the temperature difference
between cultures containing 0% antifoam and the optimum antifoam concentration was measured by incubating the cells at 30°C and setting the reference temperature of the TAM to 30°C, maintained by a water bath. A constant flow of sample from the shake flask cultures through the TAM allowed differences in the heat between the reference and the samples to be detected and displayed graphically by DigiTam software.



Figure 4.3: Thermal activity monitor (TAM)

A TAM set up and photographed at Aston University. A water bath maintains the reference temperature while lines draw culture through the calorimeter and allow differences in heat to be monitored.

The antifoams were added at their optimum concentration to BMMY shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP in a setup identical to that of Chapter 3. The flasks were incubated at 30°C, 220 rpm with the lines from the TAM drawing the culture into the calorimeter using a pump set to a flow rate of 30 rpm for all experiments. The TAM water bath was set to 30°C and the baseline calibrated. The data were recorded over 20 h, as *P. pastoris* cells began to block the lines once the optical density increased after this time point.

Two control shake flasks were set up from the same culture with cells in the exponential phase without antifoam and run simultaneously to illustrate the fact that there was no difference in heat output between the two channels and cultures set up using the same initial culture. Antifoams were also added to BMMY without culture to demonstrate that the antifoams themselves did not produce any additional heat output. Data were logged using Digitam software. Control data are shown are Fig 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Heat output rate produced by control cultures TAM heat output rate data for cultures of P. pastoris *in BMMY without antifoam, represented by 0% Antifoam 1 and 2, and data for BMMY with two antifoams, 1% J673A and 1% SB2121 without culture.*

The control data show that for the two cultures containing no antifoam, 0% Antifoam 1 and 0% Antifoam 2, there is minimal difference in the heat output data. This shows that cultures set up at the same time and from the same preculture produce a reproducible heat output trace. For BMMY medium containing the optimum concentration of antifoams, there was no heat output, demonstrated in Fig 4.4 by 1% J673A and 1% SB2121, illustrating the fact that any differences in heat output profiles for cultures with antifoams is not due to heat output of the antifoams themselves.

Test cultures containing antifoams were then set up and two flasks containing cultures from the same culture were monitored simultaneously; one culture without antifoam and the other with the optimum concentration of antifoam. The data for each antifoam are shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6. The TAM data for Antifoam A run 1 (Fig 4.5A) show that as the cells grew, more heat was given out when compared to the control culture, suggesting a difference in the metabolism of the cells. However, run 2 (Fig. 4.5B) shows a different trace; less heat was given out by both cultures compared to the first run, and the control culture produced slightly more heat than the culture containing Antifoam A. The traces for run 2 again suggest that there was a difference in metabolism between the cultures, which is again different from the first run. These differences between runs may be due to the different cultures being used for each run which would contain a different population of cells in different phases of growth, therefore heat output would not be identical between cultures.

0.8% Antifoam C run 1 (Fig. 4.5C) showed a greater heat output for the culture without antifoam, again suggesting a difference in metabolism. Run 2 (Fig4.5D) shows an almost identical heat output trace for cultures with and without Antifoam C, implying that during this run, the metabolism of the cells was not affected by the antifoam.

For J673A cultures, both run 1 and 2 (Fig 4.5E and F) showed a greater heat output for cultures containing 1% J673A. This strongly suggests that the metabolism between the different cultures had been affected by the presence of this antifoam. The P2000 culture shown in run 1 (Fig.4.6A) produced more heat than the control, however in the second run (Fig.4.6B), the traces were similar. The SB2121 run 1 culture (Fig.4.6C) produced more heat, but produced less heat than the control in the second run (4.6D). It also grew much more slowly than the cultures in the first run, suggesting that most of the cells were in late log phase or stationary phase.



Figure 4.5: Heat output rate produced by antifoam containing cultures Heat output rate of shake flask cultures of P. pastoris *producing GFP with and without optimum antifoam concentrations measured by on-line flow microcalorimetry. A: Antifoam A run1; B: Antifoam A run 2; C: Antifoam C run 1; D: Antifoam C run 2; E: J673A run 1; F: J673A run 2*



Figure 4.6: Heat output rate produced by antifoam containing cultures

Heat output rate of shake flask cultures of P. pastoris producing GFP with and without optimum antifoam concentrations measured by on-line flow microcalorimetry. A: P2000 run1; B: P2000 run 2; C: SB2121 run 1; D: SB2121 run 2.

Overall, the data suggest that although there was variability between runs, when comparisons were made between runs with cultures set up from the same initial culture, the antifoams in most cases did affect the metabolism of the cells. This suggests that the cells are growing differently which could be linked to the increases in yield of GFP for these cultures. The antifoams appeared to cause the cells to produce more heat in several cases, seen most clearly with J673A. Less heat was observed with some SB2121 and Antifoam C cultures, and in some cases did not greatly change the heat output as seen with some P2000 and Antifoam A cultures. It might be that cells in a certain growth phase are more affected by the presence of the antifoams. For example, if a greater number of the cell population were entering stationary phase, perhaps the antifoams had less effect. Although cells were taken from cultures in log phase, it is possible that they contained cells that were in late log or stationary phase which could explain differences between traces. Because of the variation in the data which may be due to the population of the cells present, it is unclear whether increases or decreases in heat output can be directly linked to an increase in productivity.

4.2.2 Effect of antifoams upon dissolved oxygen availability in cultures

Antifoams can affect the DO available in the medium, and this effect has been observed in several studies[59, 93, 196]. Therefore, it was investigated whether the antifoams affected the DO in the shake flasks and thereby altered the growth of the cells.

4.2.2.1 Measurements in a multiwell format

In the first instance, the effect of each antifoam concentration upon DO was measured with a PreSens SensorDish Reader (SDR). This equipment was loaned by Applikon Biotechnology and is able to detect oxygen and pH in a multiwell plate format. A 24 well OxoDish was selected with sensor spots at the bottom of the wells containing luminescent dye shown in Fig 4.7A. The dye is excited by the SensorDish reader upon which the multiwell plate sits, and the luminescence lifetime is detected through the transparent bottom of the plate. The luminescence lifetime depends upon the oxygen partial pressure in the medium and is monitored wirelessly by the software (Fig. 4.7B), converting it into percentage oxygen in the medium using calibration data and an internal conversion formula. Real time measurements can be viewed throughout the experiment and displayed in the form of a graph[197].





A) A well from an OxoDish containing DO and pH sensor spots allowing online measurement of dissolved oxygen partial pressure and pH; B) SDR main units. Images adapted from the Presens SFR web page[197].

P. pastoris cultures producing GFP containing the first antifoam to be tested, Antifoam A, were set up in the multiwell plate in BMMY medium and incubated at 30°C for 48 h. The

results obtained while using this system were variable; some wells did not appear to detect the oxygen in the medium as accurately as others. Using this multiwell format, there was also a problem with evaporation of the samples due to the small volumes used which may have interfered with the readings. Some of the data generated for Antifoam A in BMMY are shown in Fig. 4.8. This graph also highlights some of the problem wells, where the DO remained low before suddenly increasing.



Figure 4.8: PreSens SensorDish reader data

Data generated for a 24 well setup with cultures of P. pastoris in BMMY producing GFP in the presence of various concentrations of Antifoam A.

It was decided that for more comparable conditions to those that had been used for the shake flask experiments of Chapter 3, another piece of equipment with the same technology would be used in a shake flask format. It was anticipated that this would avoid the problems of evaporation seen in the multiwell setup.

4.2.2.2 Measurements in a shake flask format

The effect of the addition of each of the antifoams on DO was assessed in shake flask cultures with the PreSens Shake Flask Reader (SFR, loaned by Applikon Biotechnology), and flasks with DO patches allowing online monitoring. A flask containing pH and DO sensor spots is illustrated in Fig. 4.9A, and the SFR in Fig. 4.9B. Similar to the SDR, the sensor patches in the flasks contain luminescent dyes which are excited by the SFR. Again, the luminescence lifetime depends upon the oxygen partial pressure and is monitored wirelessly by the software, which converts it into percentage oxygen in the medium using calibration data and an internal conversion formula. The data can be displayed graphically in real time[198].



Figure 4.9: PreSens shake flask reader equipment

A) A shake flask containing DO and pH sensor spots allowing online measurement of dissolved oxygen partial pressure and pH; B) SFR main unit. Images adapted from the Presens SFR web page[198].

The experimental set up was the same as originally used for the shake flask experiments, except 125 mL shake flasks with sensor spots were used as the closest match to 100 mL flasks. Cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP were set up in 25 mL BMMY medium in the sensor flasks and clamped upon the SFR in a shaking incubator set to 30°C. The DO in the flasks was monitored over 48 h.

Figure 4.10 shows that there was no difference in DO in the flasks in the presence or absence of antifoam for each antifoam. After approximately 12 h for each culture condition, the DO in the flasks became limiting. Since functional GFP can be expressed by anaerobic bacteria and in media containing 0.1 ppm dissolved oxygen[199], there was no concern that this would influence the data obtained. For the cultures containing Antifoam A, C and J673A, methanol was added before it was fully consumed and became limiting. For the cultures containing P2000 and SB2121, methanol addition was delayed in order to observe the effects on the DO of the cultures where methanol was limiting. The DO decreased as the cells metabolized the methanol present in the medium and rose once they had consumed it as was seen with P2000 and SB2121 cultures. DO then remained high in the P2000 and SB2121 cultures until additional methanol was added at which point the DO immediately decreased and utilization continued. Methanol concentrations for the P2000 and SB2121 cultures were confirmed by gas chromatographic analysis. Some of these data are shown in Fig.4.11. Overall, there was no difference in the DO content of cultures containing antifoam and those without. This suggested that the antifoams either did not have any effect upon DO in shake flasks, or if they did have an effect, it was too small to be detected by this equipment. It is possible that in low volumes, effects upon DO may also be small and thus did not have any noticeable effect upon the growth of the cells. Alternatively, the antifoams may have increased the DO in the flasks and the cells in these cultures rapidly consumed any extra oxygen in order to produce more recombinant protein. In that case, the DO detected in the flasks would appear to be the same as that of the control.







Figure 4.11: Methanol chromatography trace for **P. pastoris** *shake flask culture supernatant Chromatography trace for supernatant from a sample of* **P. pastoris** *in BMMY incubated with 1% P2000 for 6 h. Methanol concentrations were calculated by measuring the area under the graph. No peaks were observed for samples at 24 h suggesting that no methanol was present.*

4.2.3 Effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ production in shake flask cultures of *S. cerevisiae* strains with different requirements for DO

As discussed previously, antifoams are widely believed to exert their action by influencing the oxygen available in the medium, as measured by DO and k_La . As there did not appear to be any difference in the DO in shake flasks in the presence or absence of concentrations of antifoams examined, another approach was used. Strains were therefore selected for which data suggest that recombinant protein yields are related to high or low DO conditions. The *S. cerevisiae* TM6* strain has been observed to produce more $A_{2a}R$ in high DO conditions and the WT strain found to produce more $A_{2a}R$ in low DO conditions in preliminary small scale screening performed by Z. Bawa, Aston University (unpublished data), shown in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1: Effect of DO upon $A_{2a}R$ production by WT and TM6* S. cerevisiae strains. Data provided by Z. Bawa, Aston University

DO (%)	WT (fmol/mg protein)	TM6* (fmol/mg protein)
30	442.13	4.59
50	14.01	35.47

These strains were incubated with 0.6% Antifoam A which was found to increase the k_La and 1% Antifoam A was found to lower the k_La . Samples were taken once the glucose in the culture had decreased to 30 mmol. The yield of $A_{2a}R$ produced was assayed by radioligand binding. The data are shown below in Fig 4.12.



Figure 4.12: $A_{2a}R$ production in S. cerevisiae in the presence of antifoams Effect of Antifoam A at 0.6% and 1% v/v upon the production of $A_{2a}R$ in two strains of S. cerevisiae, TM6* and WT in 100mL shake flasks. In all cases (except 1% Antifoam A with TM6* where n = 1) n = 6.

The data shown demonstrate that in the presence of 1% Antifoam A, the TM6* strain produced significantly less $A_{2a}R$ than the 0.6% Antifoam A culture. 0.6% Antifoam A in

shake flasks was found to increase the $k_L a$, and TM6* has previously been found to produce more A_{2a}R under conditions with high DO, suggesting that the antifoam may have caused an increase in protein yield by altering the rate of oxygen transfer in the culture medium. However, with the WT strain, there was also less A_{2a}R produced in the culture containing 1% Antifoam A although this strain had been observed to produce a better yield of protein in low DO conditions. The difference in yield was not as pronounced as the differences seen for TM6*. This could suggest that the DO in the flask is a more essential parameter in order for the TM6* strain to produce recombinant proteins, whereas it may be less critical to the growth and protein production of the WT strain. It could alternatively suggest that the antifoam had another unknown effect which caused the difference in yields and the change to the $k_L a$ were not substantial enough to alter the DO conditions in the flask to the optimum levels required to produce higher protein yields. Again as with the DO shake flask experiments, it is possible that if there were any changes to the DO in these cultures influenced by the antifoams, it could be small and therefore not large enough to have resulted in any noticeable effect. The DO present in the flasks may already have been sufficient for the growth of the cells and the production of recombinant protein, and any changes to this did not have any further influence. Since a control without antifoam was not performed, it is unknown whether the concentrations of antifoam tested improved or reduced the yield compared to 0%. Follow up experiments including this control need to be performed to fully interpret the results.

4.2.4 Effect of antifoams upon the $k_L a$ characteristics of cultures in shake flasks

As P2000 and SB2121 affected the density of the cultures as shown in Chapter 3, there is a possibility that the oxygen transfer rate in the system was affected by antifoam addition which may explain the increase in GFP yields. The volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient, k_La , is a measure of how readily oxygen dissolves into the medium, whilst the DO is the quantity oxygen that has dissolved into the medium and is affected by the k_La . As this coefficient is widely recognized to be affected by antifoams[59, 93, 94, 200], the k_La was therefore measured in shake flasks in the presence of 0-1% v/v of the antifoams. The

PreSens SFR was again used for this investigation with 125 mL non-baffled shake flasks with 25 mL BMMY at 30°C without any inoculum. The dynamic method of k_La measurement based upon the method outlined by Bandyopadhyay and Humphrey[201] was used.

The experiment was carried out by firstly sparging the flask with compressed air until the DO reached saturation at approximately 80% air saturation. This reading was taken to be the 100% DO saturation in the flask. The k_La measurements were carried out by starting at 100 % DO and flushing with nitrogen until the DO dropped to 0 % (See Figure 4.13).





125 mL shake flasks with sensor spots containing 25 mL P. pastoris producing GFP in BMMY were clamped above the detectors with lines allowing sparging with compressed air and N_2 . Photographed at Aston University.

The flask was then supplied with air and the DO gradually rose to 100 % saturation, whereupon it was again flushed with nitrogen to reduce it to 0 % before reconnecting the

air. The time points were recorded by the SFR software and DO was plotted as a function of time as shown by Fig. 4.14. As several antifoam concentrations were tested, they were added cumulatively in a step-wise fashion to the flask once the DO was at 100% saturation, followed by a flush with nitrogen.



Figure 4.14: $k_L a$ measurements logged by SFR software SFR software logging changes in DO in the presence of antifoam while sparging with compressed air to increase the DO and with N_2 to reduce it to 0%.

The data generated for the upwards slope of the plot where oxygen dissolved into the medium were used to calculate the $k_L a$ using the following formula:

$$k_L a (t_2 - t_1) = \ln \left(\begin{array}{c} c_{1,\infty} - c_{1,t_1} \\ c_{\overline{1,\infty}} - c_{\overline{1,t_2}} \end{array} \right)$$

where t_1 and t_2 are consecutive time points, $c_{1,\infty}$ is the oxygen saturation concentration and c_1 is the oxygen concentration at each time point. $c_{1,\infty}$ was calculated by using the following constants:

- XO_2 (Fraction of O_2 in air) = 0.2095
- T (Temperature) = 30° C or 303 K
- P (Approximate pressure in the flask) = 1 bar
- R (Gas constant) = 8.3144 J/(K x mol)
- MO_2 (O_2 partition coefficient) = 30

Combining C = n / V, where C is the concentration of gas in the head space, n is the number of moles and V is the volume, and the universal gas law PV= nRT, gives C = P / (RT). This enables the concentration of air in the gas phase, or all gases, to be calculated. The gas concentration of O₂ in the gas phase was then calculated by multiplying the concentration of gas in air by XO₂. Dividing the gas concentration of O₂ by MO₂ gave the maximum liquid oxygen saturation concentration, $c_{1,\infty}$ at 100% DO. DO percentage values at a particular time point were converted to oxygen concentrations by dividing by 100 and multiplying by $c_{1,\infty}$. The k_La data for the shake flasks with BMMY media in the presence of antifoam are shown in Table 4.2. The data were normalized to the control (0% antifoam) to allow comparison between the antifoams.

Table 4.2: The effect of antifoam addition to the k_La in shake flasks with BMMY medium. The data highlighted in yellow represent no significant change from the control k_La , green a significant increase and red a significant decrease in the % change of k_La . In all cases n = 2.

	% Antifoam					
Antifoam	0%	0.2%	0.4%	0.6%	0.8%	1%
Antifoam A	100	98.6	290	380.8	78.1	55.4
Antifoam C	100	43.2	89.5	138.6	269.4	98.8
J673A	100	66.6	58.7	58.5	58.4	108.2
P2000	100	63.9	115.9	116.2	34.7	32.3
SB2121	100	70.2	102.8	65.1	45.8	43.8

Addition of 0.4% and 0.6% Antifoam A caused a large increase in $k_L a$ compared to the control, whereas addition of the related antifoam, Antifoam C, led to an initial reduction in $k_L a$, which increased on addition of antifoam up to 0.8% and then returned to control levels at 1%. After an initial decrease in $k_L a$ was caused by J673A addition up to 0.4%, it remained relatively constant up to 1%. Addition of P2000 at all concentrations tested caused relatively minor changes to the $k_L a$. SB2121 addition did not substantially increase the $k_L a$ at any of the concentrations tested. Most of the concentrations investigated caused a decrease in the $k_L a$. In shake flasks, the $k_L a$ was higher at mid-range values and decreased with increasing concentration. Overall there was no statistically significant correlation between increased $k_L a$ and total yield.

4.3 Antifoams as potential carbon sources

It is possible that the antifoam agents could provide a carbon source for the *P. pastoris* cells which could explain the boost to productivity observed with the GFP cultures. J673A, for example, contains fatty acids on a vegetable oil base and it is thought that vegetable oils may be metabolized as a carbon source[202], which could explain why J673A addition enhanced the yield of GFP. In order to determine whether the antifoams could be metabolized, shake flask cultures were set up as before in 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks with 20 mL culture producing GFP. A culture was set up in BMGY medium and then the cells were transferred to medium without any glycerol or methanol with 1mL of each antifoam (5% v/v) denoted BMAY. Controls were set up in medium that did not contain glycerol, methanol or antifoams which was denoted BMY. All shake flasks were set up in triplicate. The OD₅₉₅ was measured after 24 h and the data are shown in Fig 4.15.



Figure 4.15: Antifoams as potential carbon sources at 5% v/v The effect of 1 mL of antifoam in medium without either glycerol or methanol present upon P. pastoris growth *in shake flasks after 24 h. In each case n =3.*

The data in Fig 4.15 show that Antifoam A can be metabolized by the *P. pastoris* cells in the absence of other carbon sources. Compared to the control cultures without any antifoam added, the OD was significantly higher. The related antifoam, Antifoam C, however led to a reduction in the OD in comparison with the control. Antifoams J673A and SB2121 did not have much effect upon the growth of the cells compared to the control. Cultures containing P2000 did not grow at all.

Further shake flask experiments were set up taking the best and worst yielding conditions. This time 2 mL (10% v/v) Antifoam A were added and 2 mL P2000 to see if the effects on the OD would be more pronounced and if higher concentrations of antifoam were required to obtain any growth for P2000. The data are shown in Fig 4.16.



Figure 4.16: Antifoams A and P2000 as potential carbon sources at 10% v/v The effect of 2 mL Antifoam A and P2000 upon P. pastoris growth in shake flasks in medium without either glycerol or methanol present after 24 h. In each case n = 3.

Fig 4.16 shows that at higher volumes of Antifoam A, the OD has increased to double that of the control. This suggests that the volume of antifoam A added previously was depleted in the first set of experiments and became limiting to the growth. Antifoam A can clearly be metabolized in the absence of other carbon sources, and at 2 mL, the OD in this experiment of 16 is almost comparable to the OD's of 24 h shake flask cultures of BMGY after this period, which are usually between 18-22. The cultures containing 2 mL P2000 grew in this investigation, suggesting that the concentration of antifoam required to allow growth varies between antifoams. It appears that although the antifoams may be metabolized at concentrations of 10% v/v, the highest concentration used in the initial shake flask experiments was 1% v/v therefore for all of the antifoams, possibly except for Antifoam A, this concentration would be unlikely to substantially affect the growth of the cells if methanol became limiting. In the case of these antifoams, a different mechanism may be responsible for the changes in the yield of protein.

4.4 Summary

Antifoams have been demonstrated to affect the ability of *P. pastoris* cells to secrete recombinant GFP and can have various effects depending upon the type and concentration. Investigation into their effects upon the secretion of GFP by *P. pastoris* cells showed that in the case of cultures containing Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A, significantly more protein was secreted into the medium than the cultures without antifoam. Cultures containing P2000 and SB2121 retained significantly more GFP than the control, and produced more GFP, both retained and secreted, overall. When total complement of protein produced by cultures containing the antifoams was measured, it was found that it had not significantly been increased. This suggested that the antifoams influenced only the recombinant protein secretion pathway for GFP and had no effect upon total protein produced by *P. pastoris*.

Preliminary mass spectrometry data for glycerophospholipids suggested that there may have been a change to the relative compositions of phosphatidylcholine for 1% P2000 containing cultures and phosphatidylinositol composition for each antifoam-containing culture compared to controls. Microcalorimetery data suggested that the antifoams did affect the metabolism of the cells, illustrated by increases or reductions in heat output compared to control cultures. Due to varied data however, it is unclear whether the increases in yield of GFP can be linked with either an increase or a decrease in heat output. Investigation into the effects of antifoams upon DO suggested that there was no difference in the DO in the flasks both with and without antifoam, implying that effects were either too small to be detected, or that the cells were rapidly utilizing any extra oxygen causing the traces to appear similar. Effects upon the $k_L a$ were more noticeable, with Antifoam A and C at two concentrations increasing the $k_L a$ and other antifoams and concentrations either causing no change or decreasing it. While there was no correlation with the total GFP yields suggesting that the DO was already sufficient for the cells to grow, the antifoams had very different effects upon the $k_L a$ which should be taken into account along with the recombinant protein to be produced, as some proteins may sensitive to DO concentrations, such as EPO[187] and antifbody Fab fragments[203].

When the ability of *P. pastoris* cells to metabolize the antifoams in the absence of other carbon sources was examined, it was found that at 5% v/v only cultures containing Antifoam A were able to grow better than the control. P2000 cultures did not grow at all, however, when the concentration was increased to 10%, the cells were able to grow and Antifoam A-containing cultures grew almost as well as cultures in medium containing methanol or glycerol. However, in the shake flask experiments, antifoams were added up to 1%, therefore except possibly for those containing Antifoam A, the concentration would not be high enough in these cultures to allow the cells to grow any better should methanol have become limiting.

It seems that the antifoams have several mechanisms of action, and although the exact mechanism for the increases in GFP yield could not be pinpointed from these investigations, it is most likely that a combination of effects led to the changes to recombinant protein yield.

5. THE EFFECTS OF ANTIFOAMS UPON RECOMBINANT PROTEIN PRODUCTION IN BIOREACTORS

After initial screening experiments for optimal conditions in shake flasks, bioreactors are usually employed in order to produce large quantities of the recombinant protein of interest. Antifoams are more commonly used in this system than in shake flasks, as stirring and the introduction of the gases required for the organisms to grow lead to foam formation which can compromise the sterility of the culture if a foam-out occurs. Foaming may also cause damage to the equipment if foam blocks a filter and over pressurization of the vessel results. The antifoams examined in Chapter 3 were therefore tested in bioreactors in order to determine whether their effects could be reproduced on a large scale to further boost protein yield. GFP and $A_{2a}R$ were the target proteins for these investigations. Their effects upon the DO and k_La were specifically investigated as optimization of these parameters in bioreactors is often an objective in scale-up.

5.1. Effect of antifoams upon GFP production in bioreactors

A commonly-used bioreactor for recombinant protein production is the stirred-tank reactor with agitation provided by impellors[183]. A 3 L stirred-tank autoclavable bioreactor and equipment from Applikon Biotechnology were used for these investigations (See Chapter 2 Fig 2.1 for an image of the set up). A preculture of *P. pastoris* strain X33-GFP was grown overnight in BMGY. The bioreactor was set up and 1 L basal salts medium added before autoclaving. Basal salts medium was used for these experiments as it is more commonly used in large scale recombinant protein production as the composition is well defined, unlike BMGY or BMMY which contain yeast extract. The probes were connected and the DO probe allowed to polarize overnight. The next day, the temperature of the bioreactor was set to 30°C and the pH was set to 5.0 with 28% v/v ammonium hydroxide and 50% v/v phosphoric acid. The stirrer was put into a cascade ranging from 700 rpm to 1,250 rpm to maintain a DO setpoint of 30%. 1.5 L/min of compressed air was passed into the vessel. An oxygen cylinder containing 40%: 60% nitrogen: oxygen was also connected to the mass

flow controller unit at 2.5 bar to allow further control of the DO to maintain the 30% setpoint. These settings were maintained for 1 h and the DO calibrated to 100%. 4.35 mL PTM₁ trace salts was added aseptically and the required volume of antifoam was also added[204].

The bioreactor was then inoculated to an OD_{595} of 0.5 in 1 L with the preculture. The run was started immediately after inoculation and BioXpert software was used to log the data. The batch phase continued until a DO spike was observed[66], indicating that the glycerol present in the growth medium had been metabolized (20–24 h after inoculation). A fed batch phase was then begun to increase biomass using 50% v/v glycerol with 12 mL PTM₁ trace salts per L of feed. After 4 h of fed batch, the culture was starved for 1 h to ensure all remaining glycerol was utilized. Induction with 20% v/v methanol was then performed to initiate recombinant protein production. Holmes *et al* found that the highest protein yielding induction feed for *P. pastoris* producing GFP was a 60% methanol 20% sorbitol feed[36]. Problems were encountered while using this feed, however, as the sorbitol accumulated in the tubing causing it to burst. The second most productive feed was 20% v/v methanol therefore this was used for each run. The induction phase was allowed to continue to around 96 h post-inoculation. A typical bioreactor trace is shown in Fig 5.1.



Figure 5.1: Example bioreactor trace plotted using BioXpert software

The black trace shows the pH maintained at the setpoint of 5 throughout the run. The red trace shows the temperature which was set to 30°C. The green trace represents cylinder is sparged into the medium. Stirrer speed reduces as the DO concentration becomes higher, causing a continual fluctuation in DO around 30%. The pink trace the DO in the medium which is kept around the set point of 30 %. Once the concentration is lower than 30%, the stirrer speed increases and enriched air from the shows the CO_2 produced by the culture and the yellow trace shows the density of the cells.

5.1.1 Effect of antifoams upon total GFP yield in bioreactors

Initial bioreactor experiments were conducted using the best yielding antifoam concentrations observed in the small scale shake flask evaluations described in Chapter 3. The antifoams were added to bioreactor cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP at 0.1% and at the optimum concentration in shake flasks as shown in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1: Concentrations of antifoam added to 1 L bioreactor cultures of P. pastoris producing GFP. Control concentrations were 0.1% and the optimum concentrations from shake flasks were used for the test concentrations.

Antifoam	Control	Volume	Test	Volume	
	Concentration	Added	Concentration	Added	
Antifoam A	0.1%	1 mL	0.6%	6 mL	
Antifoam C	0.1%	1 mL	0.8%	8 mL	
J673A	0.1%	1 mL	1%	10 mL	
P2000	0.1%	1 mL	1%	10 mL	
SB2121	0.1%	1 mL	1%	10 mL	

Antifoams were added immediately prior to inoculation. In the case of 0.1% Antifoam C and 0.1% P2000, foaming occurred during the run, and more antifoam was added (200 μ L and 500 μ L, respectively). All conditions were performed in duplicate, except for 0.1% and 0.6% Antifoam A which were performed in quadruplicate as some of these runs were preliminary tests, initially run for 51 h. GFP measurements were made as previously for the shake flask experiments using fluorimetry with a recombinant GFP standard and basal salts medium as a blank. The results are shown in Fig 5.2.



Fig 5.2 E shows that after 100 h the best antifoam condition was 0.1% SB2121 which resulted in a total yield of 59 mg/L GFP, followed by 0.1% P2000 (Fig 5.2 D) which produced a total yield of 47 mg/L GFP. The poorest yielding condition was 0.1% Antifoam A (Fig 5.2A) which produced a total yield of 8 mg/L (although it is unclear if 0.6% would have produced less GFP if the run had lasted 100 h as the 0.1% Antifoam A run did), followed by 0.8% Antifoam C which produced 12 mg/L GFP.

In the shake flask studies, a higher concentration of antifoam had produced a higher yield, whereas in the bioreactors a higher yield was seen at a low concentration of antifoam, except for Antifoam A. Although a different concentration effect was observed, the trend for the highest yielding and lowest yielding antifoams was still the same.

The yield of GFP produced by the bioreactor cultures containing Antifoam A decreased after 71.5 h for 0.1% and after 52 h for 0.6%. This suggests possible increased protease activity in the presence of this antifoam, especially as the effect occurred sooner with a higher concentration. Shake flask cultures were set up with a dilution series of protease inhibitors, however the *P. pastoris* cells did not grow in any of the cultures. Possible protease activity could be more easily verified by setting up a bioreactor culture with a protease deficient strain and comparing the effects of the presence of 0.6% Antifoam A on yields in the non-protease deficient strain used here.

To confirm the fluorimetry readings which suggest that the cultures with 0.1% antifoam produced a higher total yield of GFP, a Western blot was performed on 18 μ L sample supernatants for 0.1% SB2121 and 1% SB2121. The Western shown in Fig. 5.3 backs up the fluorimetery data with darker bands present for the 0.1% samples compared to the 1% samples.



Figure 5.3: Western blot performed on bioreactor X33-GFP culture samples

A) 0.1% SB2121 and B) 1% SB2121. Protein ladder marker with bands at 25 and 35 kDa show that the sample bands are 29 kDa GFP. The band obtained for the 0.1% SB2121 sample is much darker than that of the 1% sample suggesting the presence of more protein.

5.1.2 Effect of antifoams upon specific yield of GFP

To determine whether altered growth of the cells in the bioreactor cultures explained the differences in yield, the dry cell weights for 1 mL of cells was measured and used to calculate the dry cell weight per L. The total yield of GFP per L was divided by the dry cell weight per L to obtain the yield of GFP per mg of cells. The data are shown in Fig 5.4.

The data show that with the exceptions of J673A and SB2121, more GFP was produced per mg of cells by the cultures containing higher concentration cultures than those with 0.1% v/v antifoam. SB2121 again produced the most GFP at 0.1% (1.9 µg GFP/mg cells) with a large difference of approximately double the GFP yield compared to the 1% cultures (0.8 µg GFP/mg cells). A difference in specific yield between the two concentrations suggests that this was not due to a difference in the growth of the cells, which is in contrast to the effects observed in the shake flask experiments. The cultures containing J673A also showed a large difference in the specific yield of GFP produced, with more GFP present per mg of cells in the 0.1% cultures. Again this suggests that the effects are not due to changes in the growth of the cells, which is also what was observed in the shake flask experiments. P2000 cultures showed little difference between the 0.1% and 1% cultures, however slightly more GFP was produced in the cultures containing 1% which is the opposite to the results for the total yield where 0.1% produced more total GFP. This result is similar to that seen for the shake flask investigation, where there was no significant difference between the high and low concentrations, suggesting that for these cultures the increase in total GFP yield could be due to changes in the growth of the cells.



Antifoam A at 0.6% produced more GFP per mg cells at 50 h compared to cultures containing 0.1% antifoam, which was the same trend as for the total yield. There was a slightly larger difference in the amount of protein produced therefore increases in total yield appear to be due to another mechanisms of action and not due to the growth of the cells. Bioreactor cultures containing Antifoam C normalized to the specific yield of GFP showed small differences at each concentration therefore the total yield increases were due to the growth of the cells. For this antifoam, the higher concentration produced more GFP per mg of cells than the 0.1% cultures.

The same trend is still observed for the best and worst producing antifoam effects for the specific yield as the total yield in bioreactors as well as the shake flask experiments, with the most productive antifoams being SB2121, J673A and P2000, and the poorest being Antifoams A and C. The antifoams can again be split into two different categories according to their mechanisms of action; those that caused increases to total GFP yields due to changes in growth as shown by P2000 and Antifoams A and C; and those that caused an increase in production or secretion of GFP per cell as demonstrated by antifoams SB2121 and J673A. The antifoams in each group are also interesting, as previously in the shake flasks P2000 and SB2121 had caused changes to growth, whereas in the bioreactors it appears that Antifoams A and C also have this effect rather than increasing the secretion or production per cell. Another interesting trend is that the two antifoams that produced a greater amount of GFP at 0.1% for both the total and specific yields (SB2121 and J673A) are in the group that seems to enhance the secretion or production of the protein. In contrast, P2000, Antifoam A and Antifoam C which caused a switch in concentration effect upon normalizing the total GFP yield to the per mg of cells yield (although differences were small) are also all in the same group which appears to have influenced the growth of the cells. This could suggest that antifoams that enhance the production or secretion of the GFP are more effective at this when added at low concentrations to bioreactors, but in all cases, except for Antifoam A, the total yield is improved by adding 0.1% antifoam rather than higher concentrations.

5.1.3 Influence of the culture medium on the results

One of the conditions that differed in the bioreactor experiments compared to the shake flask tests was basal salts medium was used instead of BMMY. To rule out the involvement of the medium on the 'concentration switching' effect seen with the bioreactor results, a shake flask experiment was set up as previously, this time using basal salts medium. Cultures were set up in basal salts medium containing 40 g /L glycerol. Flasks were then set up in basal salts medium containing 0.5% v/v methanol and were inoculated with the culture to an OD of 1. Either 0.1% or the optimum antifoam concentration observed in the BMMY shake flasks was added and the flasks were incubated for 48 h at 30°C, 220 rpm. Samples were measured in triplicate and analyzed by a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test where $* = P \le 0.05$ and $** = P \le 0.01$ and $*** = P \le$ 0.001). Data are shown in Fig. 5.5.





Af A represents cultures containing Antifoam A, Af C represents Antifoam C, J represents J673A, P represents P2000 and S represents cultures containing SB2121. In each case n = 9.

Fig 5.5 shows that all 0.1% antifoam-containing samples produced a significantly greater yield of GFP than the control in basal salts medium, except for those containing Antifoam A and C. This was mirrored at higher concentrations of antifoams. In addition, the higher concentrations of antifoam also produced more GFP than the 0.1% cultures with the exception of 0.6% Antifoam C, which is similar to the trend seen for the BMMY shake flask results. Again, the best yielding antifoams were J673A, P2000 and SB2121. This suggests that the switching effect is not due to changing from BMMY medium to basal salts medium in the bioreactors.

Notably, the total GFP yields in basal salts medium in shake flasks were much lower than those achieved in BMMY medium. The 0% cultures in BMMY medium produced approximately 250 µg of GFP in 20 mL compared to 60 µg in basal salts medium. The maximum total GFP yield in BMMY was 422 µg compared to just 80 µg in basal salts medium. Interestingly, the ODs reached in basal salts medium were higher than achieved in BMMY. The average OD for cultures without antifoam was 49.4 compared to 22.66 in BMMY. Therefore, in basal salts medium the cells produced much less GFP per cell than in BMMY. This implies that basal salts medium is less suitable for recombinant protein production in small scale shake flask cultures. It is possible that as methanol was not constantly fed into the flasks as it would be in the bioreactors, this suggests that cultures growing in basal salts medium may require the constant feed of methanol to produce greater quantities of protein, whereas in BMMY the nutrients and methanol provided are enough for the cells to effectively produce recombinant protein.

5.1.4 Influence of the point of addition of the antifoam

In order to determine whether the antifoams had a better or worse effect upon the production of recombinant protein when added at the beginning of the fermentation or only when required to destroy foam, J673A was added to bioreactor cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP at concentrations of 0.1% and 1% only when foaming occurred. This was around 20 h after the start of the run for each culture, and the conditions were run in duplicate. Data are shown in Fig.5.6.



Figure 5.6: Effect of J673A addition to bioreactor cultures only when foaming occurred J673A at 0.1% and 1% J673A were added only when required to reduce foaming to cultures of P. pastoris *producing GFP in 3 L stirred tank bioreactors. Foaming occurred around 20 h into the run and antifoams were added. Induction occurred at 27 h. In each case n = 6.*

When antifoam J673A was added to the bioreactor cultures once foaming occurred, the total yield when it was added to 0.1% was 50 mg, whereas at 1% the total yield was 20 mg. The same trend was observed as when the antifoam was added from the beginning of the run, with 0.1% producing the best effect. However, 43 mg was obtained when J673A was present throughout the run, suggesting that adding this concentration of antifoam later in the run had a better effect. When 1% J673A was present from the start of the run, a total yield of 30 mg was achieved, but when this concentration was added when foaming occurred, only 20 mg of GFP was produced. For this concentration, it appears to be more effective when added at the start of the run, although this could also reflect batch-to-batch variation.

5.2 Effect of antifoams upon oxygen availability in bioreactors

As demonstrated by the GFP bioreactor experiments, low concentrations of antifoam produced a better yield, whereas the opposite was true in the shake flasks where high concentrations produced more GFP. This change in concentration effect occurred upon scaling up from a shake flask to a bioreactor, where the most obvious difference between these two systems is the oxygen transfer characteristics of the system. The difference in the physical properties of the vessels such as the shape affects the k_La . In a shake flask, the oxygen in the flask is uncontrolled and as seen in Chapter 4 (Fig 4.10), the DO dropped to 0% as the cells consumed the methanol in the medium. In a bioreactor however, the DO can be maintained at the desired setpoint by introduction of air or oxygen-enriched gas, or by stirring. An investigation into the effects of the antifoams upon the k_La and the DO in bioreactors was therefore conducted in order to determine whether these parameters might explain the differences observed.

5.2.1 Effect of antifoams upon $k_L a$ in bioreactors

The antifoams in the shake flasks had an effect upon the k_La at different concentrations, although this did not seem to be correlated with recombinant protein yield. Their effects upon k_La in the bioreactors were expected to differ from that of the shake flasks. In this system, the dynamic method of k_La measurement outlined by Bandyopadhyay and Humphrey[201] was again used in the absence of cells.

1L of BMMY was dispensed into the bioreactor and the antifoams were added in a stepwise manner. The bioreactor settings were a stirrer speed of 700 rpm, temperature set to 30°C, and 1.0 L/min flow rate of air. A DO probe was connected and calibrated[205]. The DO data were recorded with a Picolog ADC-16 recorder every 300 ms via the DO measurements from the DO probe. The $k_L a$ measurements were carried out by starting at 100% DO, adding the required volume of antifoam then flushing with nitrogen until the DO had reached 0%. This was repeated twice for each antifoam concentration and the data were recorded via a laptop. These data were used to calculate the $k_L a$, as explained in Chapter 4. The results are shown in Table 5.2 with red indicating a decrease in $k_L a$, yellow no significant difference and green indicating an increase.

Table 5.2: Effect of the presence of antifoams upon k_La in a 3 L stirred-tank bioreactor at increasing concentrations. Percentage increases and decreases are shown in relation to the control readings taken without antifoam present (100%). Green indicates an increase, yellow no change and red a decrease to k_La .

	% Antifoam							
Antifoam	0%	0.01%	0.1%	0.2%	0.4%	0.6%	0.8%	1%
Antifoam A	100	118.8	55.6	63.8	50.4	88.7	147.1	206.9
Antifoam C	100	338.5	140.3	207.5	238.4	232.7	265.3	366.2
J673A	100	64.5	51.7	204	90.7	99.6	130.9	103.9
P2000	100	270.4	140.8	94.7	68.7	193	211.5	769
SB2121	100	52.8	34.9	39.9	23.4	32.6	73.1	35.7

The only antifoam to not decrease the k_La at any of the concentrations tested was Antifoam C. The k_La was highest at 1% and lowest at 0.1%. SB2121 decreased the k_La at each concentration, with the highest being at 0.8% and the lowest at 0.4% which was the lowest k_La value out of all the conditions investigated. P2000 caused the biggest increase in k_La out of the antifoams at 1%. Antifoam A initially caused a decrease in the k_La which was then doubled at 1% and J673A caused a decrease in k_La at low concentrations and increased it at 0.8%. In most cases the antifoams reduced the k_La at low concentrations which rose again at high concentrations.

Compared to the k_La in shake flasks, in the bioreactors there were more conditions which caused an increase in k_La . The k_La was only significantly increased in the shake flasks at concentrations of 0.4% and 0.6% Antifoam A and 0.6% and 0.8% Antifoam C. These data show there are very clear differences in the effect of antifoams upon k_La in shake flasks and bioreactors. The bioreactor k_La data could not be correlated to that of the total GFP yield data in this study, as at least one other antifoam concentration is required to generate a further data point to enable analysis. These experiments could be performed at an
intermediate concentration, such as 0.5%, in the future to gain further insight into the effects of $k_L a$ upon protein yield in bioreactors.

5.2.2 Effect of antifoams upon DO control in bioreactors

Antifoams affect the DO in bioreactors[200]. To test whether their effects on the DO are substantial enough to influence the growth of the cells, J673A was added during the induction phase and the air supply was switched off. The stirrer remained on to prevent the cells from settling at the bottom of the bioreactor but was taken out of cascade and stayed at 700 rpm throughout the induction phase. J673A was added at 0.1% and 1% and the runs were performed in duplicate. Fig 5.7 illustrates the results.



Figure 5.7: Effect of J673A upon GFP yield without DO control in bioreactors Effect of 0.1% and 1% J673A upon GFP production by P. pastoris in 3 L stirred-tank bioreacotrs without DO control during the induction phase. The stirrer speed was set to 700 rpm throughout the run and the air supply was turned off. In each case n = 3.

0.1% J673A, again had the best effect out of the two concentrations, however the yields were extremely low compared to runs where DO was maintained at 30%. The yields for both concentrations without DO control did not change from the GFP yields produced at the beginning of induction. This suggests that if there is an effect upon the DO by the

antifoams, it is not sufficient for the cells to grow and produce high levels of recombinant protein.

As the cultures shown in Fig 5.7 did not grow sufficiently to produce high yields of GFP, J673A addition was tested at 70% DO. If DO is not limiting, the effects of the antifoam should be removed and less difference in the yield of GFP observed. 0.1% or 1% J673A were therefore added and the DO set point placed at 70%. The bioreactors were run for 78.5 h. The data are shown in Figure 5.8 with the J673A total GFP yield data at 30% DO from Fig 5.2 for comparison).



Figure 5.8: Effect of J673A at different DO settings in bioreactors Effect of 0.1% and 1% J673A upon GFP production by P. pastoris *at 70% DO and 30% DO in 3 L stirred tank bioreactors with data for 0.1% and 1% J673A at 30% DO for comparison.*

Figure 5.8 suggests that even when the DO in bioreactors is high, there is still a significant difference between the total yield of GFP at high and low concentrations of J673A. Again, the same trend as previously observed was demonstrated; in the presence of 0.1% J673A, 40 mg/L of GFP was produced and 11 mg/L in the presence of 1% J673A. As there were still significant differences in the yield of protein at both antifoam concentrations, this

suggests that the effect of antifoams upon DO is not a major influence on the ability of the cells to produce GFP.

When the 70% DO data is compared to yields at 30%, it is demonstrated that 0.1% J673A added at both of these DO settings provides the largest GFP yields. The 70% cultures produced more GFP, suggesting that production of GFP is improved at higher DO settings which agrees with findings by Holmes *et al*[36]. However, the data for the 1% J673A cultures show that at 30% DO, more GFP was produced than at 70%.

The total yield of GFP was divided by the dry cell weights to obtain the specific yield of GFP per mg of cells. The data are shown in Fig 5.9.



Figure 5.9: Effect of J673A upon specific yield at 70% DO Effect of 0.1% and 1% J673A upon the specific yield of GFP per mg of P. pastoris cells at 70% DO in 3 L stirred tank bioreactors with data for 0.1% and 1% J673A at 30% for comparison. For all datasets n = 6.

The same trend is observed for the normalized data shown in Fig 5.9 for the 70% DO cultures implying that the difference in effects is not due to changes in the growth of cells at this DO setting. Again as was observed for the total yield, bioreactor cultures with 0.1% J673A at 70% DO produced a higher yield of GFP than at 30% DO, and 1% J673A cultures at 30% DO produced a higher yield than those at 70% DO. The investigations into the

effect of antifoams upon DO in bioreactors suggest that although antifoam can influence the $k_L a$, their effects upon DO do not explain any improvements in yield of GFP.

5.3 Effect of antifoam upon total EPO yield in bioreactors

Bioreactors with *P*. pastoris producing EPO were set up containing 0.6% Antifoam C and 1% J673A as these were the lowest and highest yielding conditions, respectively, from the shake flask investigation. Western blots were performed upon the samples, however many bands were observed as demonstrated by Fig 5.10. Several blots were performed using new samples with similar results. This made it difficult to come to a conclusion as to effects of each antifoam. Previous attempts at performing ELISAs proved to be inaccurate, therefore the results from these experiments were inconclusive. EPO is highly glycosylated and the carbohydrate chains make up around 30% of its mass (approximately 32-37 kDa)[120]. It has been previously found upon production of recombinant EPO by *P. pastoris* that several glycoisoforms may be produced. These were visualized as smears or several bands when Western blots were performed [120]. The presence of differing amounts of glycans could explain the presence of multiple bands on the Western blots shown in Fig 5.10. It appears that production in a bioreactor provides conditions more favorable for the formation of several different glycoisoforms. This could be due to a change from BMMY medium to basal salts medium, or due to more efficient oxygenation and feeding when compared to shake flasks.



Figure 5.10: Western blot performed on bioreactor X33-EPO samples

Western blot performed on supernatant samples from P. pastoris producing soluble EPO in a 3 L bioreactor. Lanes contain samples in the presence of different antifoams, however due to the presence of numerous bands, the effect of the antifoams upon EPO production in bioreactors was inconclusive. Protein ladder marker indicates the size of bands in kDa.

5.4 Effect of antifoams upon total A_{2a}R yield in bioreactors

In the shake flask investigation, 0.5% J673A produced the best yield of $A_{2a}R$ and 1% P2000 the lowest out of the antifoam conditions tested. Bioreactor cultures were set up with these concentrations of antifoam to discover whether the antifoams had the same effect in scale up. The settings used were a stirrer cascade of 700 – 1,250 rpm, pH 5, basal salts medium, and 1.5 L/min air flow rate. Temperature was 30°C during the batch and fed batch phases and dropped to 22°C during induction. The effect of reducing the temperature during induction was found by Fraser to double the yield of $A_{2a}R$ produced[76]. He also found an improvement in yield upon adding the $A_{2a}R$ antagonist, theophylline, however this was not added during these investigations to reduce the number of variables present for the antifoams to interact with. Membrane preparations were analyzed from 10 mL of culture at 23, 51 and 76 h post-innoculation. Radioligand binding assays were performed on the samples in triplicate. The results are shown in Fig 5.11 and illustrate data at 79 h post-innoculation where the protein yield was highest.



Figure 5.11: The effect of antifoams upon $A_{2a}R$ *production by* **P. pastoris** *in bioreactors* 0% antifoam, 0.5% J673A and 1% P2000 bioreactor membrane preps from 79 h post-inoculation cultures analyzed by radioligand binding to determine $A_{2a}R$ yield. In each case n = 4.

These data show that the highest yielding condition tested was without antifoam added to the cultures. Of the antifoams, 1% P2000 added to the bioreactor produced a higher yield of $A_{2a}R$ than the best condition in the shake flask, 0.5% J673A. Again there is a switching of effects of the antifoams upon scale up into the bioreactors. When a t-test was performed on the culture with very little antifoam, the bioreactor equivalent of 0%, compared to the culture containing 1% P2000, there was no significant difference between the $A_{2a}R$ yields. Binding curves were also performed on these samples to determine the B_{max} and K_d for each condition. Each tube contained 100 µg of membrane protein with increasing concentrations of radiolabeled ZM241285. Binding curves were performed with 3 readings per concentration of radiolabeled ZM241385 ligand. The curves were performed twice, with the repeat performed on a different day. The curves are illustrated in Fig 5.12 with the B_{max} and K_d for each antifoam condition.



Figure 5.12: Binding curve for $A_{2a}R$ produced in the presence of antifoam

Saturation binding curve for production of $A_{2a}R$ by P. pastoris in the presence of 0%, 1% P2000 and 0.5% J673A bound to increasing concentrations of $[^{3}H]ZM241285$. B_{max} in pmol/mg protein and K_{d} in nM. Standaed error is shown in brackets and n = 4. $B_{max} P = 0.048$ measured by one-way ANOVA.

The highest B_{max} was obtained for the $A_{2a}R$ samples without antifoam present which was 6.64 pmol/mg protein. The lowest B_{max} was seen in the presence of 0.5 % J673A which supports the data in Figures 5.11 at 1.11 pmol/mg protein. 1% P2000 had the highest B_{max} out of the two antifoam conditions tested, however this was 2.29 pmol/mg protein and lower than that achieved without antifoam. This is consistent with the data from Fig 5.11 that also showed a higher yield of protein was produced with the control culture. In experiments conducted by Fraser, for membrane preparations of $A_{2a}R$ produced using *P*. *pastoris*, the B_{max} was 8.5 ± 0.1 pmol/mg membrane protein. This value is higher than the B_{max} values achieved in these experiments, however theophylline was not added which is known to improve the yields[76] and this could account for the slightly lower values here.

The lowest K_d was seen with the 1% P2000 samples at 2.83 nM, and the highest with 0.5% J673A at 22.77 nM. The K_d for the 0% samples was 6.64 nM, suggesting that although the B_{max} was lower for the 1% P2000 samples, the affinity of the ligand for the receptor was slightly higher than in the presence of 0% antifoam. Fraser's membrane-bound $A_{2a}R$ K_d

values varied slightly between samples; $K_d = 0.35 \pm 0.02$; 0.79 ± 0.06 ; 1.39 ± 0.12 nM, but were lower than those achieved in these experiments.

The error values are high for these data, but the curves were performed on different days and variability was seen between these measurements. It has been noticed in the laboratory that the $A_{2a}R$ appears to degrade over time once membrane preparations have been isolated. This may explain why there was variation between binding curve results performed on different days.

5.5 Summary

In bioreactors, the opposite effects were observed than in the shake flask GFP experiments. While high concentrations had previously resulted in higher total yields of GFP in flasks, in bioreactors low concentrations led to higher total yields. The best antifoam was SB2121 at 0.1% which produced 60 mg/L. The trend for the best and worst antifoams however remained similar to that for the shake flask experiments. When the total GFP yield data were normalized, the trends were similar to the total yield data, with 0.1% antifoams still producing much higher yields of GFP per dry cell weight, except for Antifoam C. For this antifoam, the increase in total yield in bioreactors appears to be due to the growth of the cells. The change in medium from BMMY to minimal medium was also investigated; the trend in GFP yield for cultures grown in minimal medium in shake flasks however was the same as for BMMY so this does not account for changes in the trends when scaling up from shake flasks into bioreactors.

When P2000 and J673A were tested upon bioreactor cultures of $A_{2a}R$, it was found that whereas in shake flasks J673A had produced the least detrimental effect upon protein yield and P2000 had led to the lowest yield, the opposite was true in bioreactors. However, the control culture containing approximately 10 µL of Antifoam A, still produced a higher yield of $A_{2a}R$ than both antifoam conditions. A binding curve showed that the K_d was lowest for 1% P2000 than the control, suggesting that although less protein had been produced, the affinity of the receptor for the ligand was higher for cultures in the presence of this antifoam. J673A had a higher K_d than both the control and P2000 samples. Bioreactor cultures producing EPO in the presence of antifoams were inconclusive as to the effect of the antifoams upon the yield due to smearing and the presence of several bands which could be attributed to several different glycoisoforms.

In bioreactors, the effect of the antifoams upon $k_L a$ was still variable depending upon the type and concentration. SB2121 was the only antifoam this time to decrease the $k_L a$ at every concentration tested. The data suggest that antifoams have a more positive effect upon $k_L a$ in bioreactors than they do in shake flasks. Bioreactors containing 0.1% and 1% J673A without DO control during the induction showed that DO is important for the growth of the cells and the production of recombinant protein. At 0.1% J673A, the $k_L a$ was decreased from the control $k_L a$, and at 1% the $k_L a$ remained the same. These factors did not appear to influence the growth of the culture positively, therefore the effects of J673A at these concentrations did not benefit the growth of the cells. At 70% DO however, there was still a difference between the total yield of GFP produced, suggesting that the antifoam effect upon DO does not contribute significantly to the increases in yield observed.

Based on these findings and from shake flasks it is likely that another mechanism is responsible for these results or a combination of factors is involved.

6. DISCUSSION

The investigations described in this thesis have shown that antifoams can influence the yield of recombinant proteins produced by yeast, on both a small scale in shake flasks and on a large scale in bioreactors. There are a range of different types of antifoam available, some of which destroy foam more effectively than others. The concentrations at which antifoams affect protein yields is dependent upon the type of antifoam, the recombinant protein itself and the system it is produced in. The antifoams were found to affect the growth of the cells, the ability of the cells to secrete or retain protein and also the k_La .

6.1 The effect of antifoams upon recombinant protein yield

Antifoams can be split into two categories of fast and slow antifoams, depending upon their mechanism of foam destruction. Slow antifoams are often oils which destroy foam over a longer period of time. Fast antifoams are generally mixed agents which enter foam films within a short space of time and destroy them by the bridging-stretching mechanism[92]. It has also been observed that the most effective agents at destroying foam are those with the most efficient oil film spreading characteristics[206]. Due to the rapid destruction of the foam by all the agents investigated in the Bartsch test in Chapter 3, these antifoams fall into the category of fast antifoams.

One of the least effective agents Antifoam C, is a 30% aqueous emulsion of Antifoam A[192] which may have contributed to the reduced activity compared to the other agents. This does not however appear to influence the ability of this antifoam to increase the yield of protein, although out of the panel of antifoams, it possessed the weakest ability to increase the yield of protein. Antifoam J673A produced the best foam destruction results, which coincides with one of the best increases in protein yield observed out of these antifoams. This antifoam is an alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable oil base and it is known that vegetable oils can alter the structure of foams by increasing bubble size and reducing the stability of the foam[202]. Antifoam SB2121 also had a larger effect upon

increasing the total yields of GFP compared to Antifoams A and C and was better at destroying foam. P2000 however, produced the highest yield of GFP, but was worse at destroying foam than all the agents but Antifoam C. There is a trend between the ability of the panel of antifoams to destroy foam and increase the yield of GFP in shake flasks, except for antifoam P2000. A better understanding of the components present in each antifoam is required to determine the mechanisms and differences in foam destruction by each antifoam.

Other agents with similar properties such as PEG and EG appeared not to have a benefit upon recombinant GFP production. It seems that there is a common mechanism or a direct link between foam destruction and recombinant protein yield, which is supported by the Bartsch test data. It has also been demonstrated that the effects of the antifoams upon GFP production can be scaled up to larger volumes in shake flasks. This could therefore possibly be of benefit to those producing recombinant proteins in these systems without access to the much more costly large scale bioreactors and associated equipment.

6.1.1 The effects of antifoam upon GFP yields

In the 100 mL shake flask study of the effect of antifoams upon GFP production, addition of the five antifoams tested increased the total yield of secreted recombinant GFP produced by 20 mL *P. pastoris* cultures. Generally, the total GFP yield secreted into the culture medium was increased when antifoam was added at concentrations of at least 0.4% v/v compared with the 0% antifoam control. These concentrations are higher than those that would be used for defoaming purposes in bioreactors, which are normally below 0.1%, and which caused no effect in these experiments. The biggest effect was seen with addition of 1% P2000 to the cultures, and the total yield of GFP was increased from 244 µg to 422 µg. Addition of 1% J673A to a 20 mL culture yielded 394 µg GFP compared with 246 µg GFP when there was no antifoam present. This is notable as J673A is approved for industrial use.

When the specific yield of GFP was calculated for shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP, there was found to be no statistically significant difference in the specific yield at each antifoam concentration compared with the control for cultures containing P2000 and SB2121 (with the exception of 1% P2000). This finding suggested that the enhancements in total yield due to P2000 or SB2121 addition might be attributable to changes in the number of the cells since there was no change in the yield per cell. This suggested at least two methods of action were responsible for the effects of the antifoams upon GFP production. In bioreactor cultures, it was found that cultures containing Antifoam C and P2000 at 0.1% contained a greater number of cells which contributed to the increases in GFP yield compared to those containing higher concentrations. Interestingly, slightly more GFP appeared to be produced per mg of cells by cultures containing higher concentrations of antifoam, although the total yields were greater with 0.1% antifoam due to greater numbers of cells in these cultures.

6.1.2 The influence of antifoams upon culture growth rates

The growth rates for the log phase cultures in the presence of the antifoams suggest that cultures containing 0.8% Antifoam C had the slowest growth, whereas the highest yielding antifoams, J673A, P2000 and SB2121 also had higher growth rates, with J673A growing the fastest at ($\mu = 0.19 \text{ h}^{-1}$). A similar observation was made by Holmes *et al*, where J673A increased the growth of *P. pastoris* and J673A, P2000 and SB2121 increased the growth of *S. cerevisiae* producing a recombinant Fc fusion protein in shake flasks[82]. Increased growth rates have been found to lead to increased productivity[184, 207] which is true for 0.6% Antifoam A, 1% J673A, 1% P2000 and 1% SB2121 cultures which grew at similar or higher growth rates than the control cultures and produced a higher yield of GFP. However, some studies aiming to control growth rates in order to improve specific productivity (q_p) have found that maximal specific growth rates did not relate to maximal specific productivity[208-211]. It has also been found that high levels of protein expression may lead to a reduction in specific growth rate[69]. This could explain the results obtained for Antifoam C at 0.8% which grew at a lower growth rate than the control but still produced a

higher yield of protein. It seems that the relationship between growth rate and productivity varies depending upon the specific parameters of the cultures.

Antifoams have been shown to influence the permeability of yeast cells as well as the sterol distribution[193]. If the antifoams in the *P. pastoris* cultures producing GFP had affected the membrane permeability by altering the sterol composition and leading to an increase in diffusion of nutrients or methanol into the cells, this may have allowed the cells to grow at a higher rate, as an increasing substrate uptake rate has been correlated to increasing growth rates[184]. In addition, the cells may also have produced a higher yield of recombinant protein due to a higher nutrient uptake rate, as increases in specific uptake rate has been linked to increases in specific productivity[184, 212]. This suggests that certainly in the case of antifoams J673A, P2000 and SB2121, an increase in nutrient uptake caused by an alteration of the permeability of the membrane could have lead to a higher growth rate and as a result an increase in protein yield. TAM data suggests that in the presence of J673A there was a difference in metabolism compared to control cultures. This could be as a result of increased nutrient uptake thereby altering the metabolism of the cells. Antifoam A, and most notably Antifoam C, grew more slowly and TAM data for these antifoams was inconclusive. This may suggest a different mechanism for the increase in GFP yield for these antifoams.

6.1.3 The influence of antifoams upon secretion

Combining flow cytometry and fluorimetry data showed that the antifoams can influence the amount of GFP retained inside the cell as well as the amount secreted into the medium. Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A enhanced the GFP secreted compared to 0% antifoam suggesting that the increase in total yield observed could be due to this secretion effect. This is consistent with an earlier study which suggested that antifoams can affect cell permeability in yeast by perturbing sterol biosynthesis which then alters the permeability of the membrane[193]. It has recently been shown that alterations in the ergosterol biosynthesis pathway have been linked with increases in recombinant protein secretion and that surfactants may affect the membrane fluidity also leading to a greater amount of secreted protein[194]. Antifoams P2000 and SB2121 produced a higher total yield of GFP compared to the other antifoams as discussed in Chapter 3, however the flow cytometry data showed that a greater proportion of this protein was retained inside the cell. This is also clearly visible in the fluorescence microscopy images of the cultures (Fig. 3.21), with P2000 and SB2121 cells appearing greener than the others. The increases in yield in the presence of Antifoam A, C and J673A could therefore be due to the fact that the GFP is secreted more efficiently from the cell as a result of increased permeability of the membrane. This suggests that the antifoam effect may be especially beneficial for the production of soluble proteins. Although more GFP was produced overall, it seems that for these antifoams, the main reason for increase in total GFP was due to an increase in the secretion of the GFP. The presence of the antifoam may have not only allowed more GFP to be secreted, but this increase in secretion may have in turn reduced a bottle-neck and allowed the cell to produce more recombinant protein as it did not accumulate inside the cell.

6.1.4 Influence of antifoams upon membrane composition

Yeast plasma membranes contain polar lipids such as glycerophospholipds and sphingolipids. Non-polar lipids consist of free fatty acids, diacylglycerols, triacylglycerols, sterols and steryl esters[213]. Ergosterol is a major component of yeast plasma membranes[214-216] and helps to maintain the structure of the membrane[215] as sterols are rigid hydrophobic molecules with a polar hydroxyl group[217]. Membrane fluidity is important for nutrient uptake and exchange of substrates[217], and affects the movement and activity of membrane proteins and insertion sites[218]. Fatty acids and sterols affect the fluidity of the membrane[218]. Preliminary analysis of electrospray mass spectrometry data suggested changes in relative phosphatidylcholine composition in 1% P2000 samples and changes in relative phosphatidylinositol composition for all antifoam-containing cultures compared to controls. These findings imply that the antifoams may have affected the lipid composition of the membranes which has been suggested previously[193]. However, a more detailed analysis of the data is required in addition to investigation of the antifoam effects upon other lipid classes to confirm these findings and correlate them to improvements in secretion of recombinant protein or more efficient nutrient uptake.

6.1.5 Antifoams as a carbon source

There is evidence to suggest that vegetable oils may be metabolized as a carbon source[202], but there is no information regarding the ability of yeast to metabolize the other agents such as silicone polymers or polyalkylene glycols. The investigation into adding the antifoam agents into medium as a carbon source (denoted BMAY) revealed that *P. pastoris* could grow in medium without carbon sources (denoted BMY). It appeared that the cells in these cultures may have utilized the peptone and YNB for growth which became limiting resulting in lower ODs being reached than if either glycerol or methanol were present. Cultures containing 1 mL (5% v/v) J673A and SB2121 reached similar ODs as cultures in the medium without any antifoam added. This implies that these two antifoams were not beneficial to the growth of the cells at this concentration. Antifoam C and most significantly P2000 actually appeared to inhibit the growth of the yeast. Antifoam A was the only antifoam at this concentration that allowed the cells to grow more than the control implying that this antifoam can be metabolized and utilized by the cells for growth.

When P2000 and Antifoam A were added at 10% v/v, the OD for the culture containing Antifoam A increased up to 17, which is almost as high as cultures growing on glycerol, with ODs between 18-25. The P2000 culture grew almost as well as the control culture, suggesting that certain antifoams need to be added at higher concentrations to prevent inhibition of growth and for any useful effect upon growth to occur. It has been found that certain strains of bacteria, such as Sphingomonads, *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* can utilize polypropylene glycols as well as polyethylene glycols as a sole carbon source[219]. This was not found with the concentrations of P2000, which is a polypropylene glycol, in these experiments. However, the OD increased upon increasing the volume so it is possible that when added at high concentrations it could provide enough of a carbon source to be metabolized enabling the yeast to grow.

6.1.6 The influence of culture format

Bioreactor cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP had the opposite effect when antifoams were added at high concentrations. This main difference from scaling up from shake flasks to bioreactors is the oxygenation in the medium, which is discussed further in section 6.2. It is likely that the DO in bioreactors is already sufficient for the growth of the cells in both shake flasks and bioreactors, and although the antifoams did influence the k_La , this did not affect the way the cells grew. This suggests that other mechanisms are responsible, such as an alteration to membrane permeability leading to better secretion of protein or a faster uptake rate of nutrients.

6.1.7 Protein-dependent effects

When the effect of the antifoams upon other proteins was evaluated in shake flasks, it was found that of the concentrations tested, the control cultures produced a higher yield of protein for both EPO and A_{2a}R. The antifoams at these concentrations tested appeared to be detrimental to the production of these proteins, however J673A had the best effect in both cases. When the A_{2a}R investigation was carried out in bioreactors, it was found that P2000, which had previously had the most detrimental effect upon protein production produced a higher yield of A_{2a}R than J673A. In shake flask experiments for S. cerevisiae WT and TM6* strains producing A_{2a}R, a decrease in yield was observed for both strains when increasing the Antifoam A concentration from 0.6% to 1%. The effect of Antifoam A upon $k_L a$ may have contributed to these results in the case of the TM6* strain which has been found to produce a higher yield of A_{2a}R at high DO conditions. This evidence highlights the fact that it is important to evaluate the antifoams and different concentrations in each bioprocess system and for each recombinant protein, as the yield could be boosted or it could be severely decreased. If further concentrations had been tested upon EPO and A_{2a}R cultures, it is possible that a combination would have been discovered that did boost the yield. It is likely that as the control cultures produced the best yields in both the shake flasks and bioreactors, that the optimum antifoam concentrations for these two proteins is low.

6.2 The effects of antifoams upon the oxygenation of recombinant cultures

The shake flask investigations on oxygenation of the cultures showed that in the presence of antifoams, there was no overall difference in the DO present in the media compared to cultures without antifoam. This is most likely to be because the addition of the antifoams had not led to a noticeable effect upon the DO, but may possibly be due to the fact that the cells had consumed any extra dissolved oxygen made available. The bioreactor experiments conducted without any DO control during the induction phase clearly demonstrated that the cells could not grow under these conditions. This suggests that the effects, if any, of the antifoams upon DO are small and do not contribute substantially to the growth of the cells. This would agree with the shake flask DO findings, if as the trace may suggest, there was no change in the DO between control and antifoam cultures.

When the effects of the antifoams upon how readily the oxygen dissolves into the medium (the $k_L a$, which therefore influences the DO available to cells) was investigated, a different effect was observed upon the $k_L a$ for each of the antifoams at different concentrations and between shake flasks and bioreactors. The $k_L a$ of a system can be influenced by several factors such as the properties of the medium like viscocity, the presence of organisms and their by-products. Additions to the medium such as antifoams also have an effect [57]. Changes to the $k_L a$ can be due to effects on kl (m/s) and on a (specific surface area m⁻¹)[59, 200]. It has been suggested that antifoams enhance bubble coalescence and increase bubble size leading to a reduction in the specific surface area therefore lowering $k_L a$ [59, 83, 93, 94, 200]. However it has also been previously observed by Morao et al and Liu et al that at higher concentrations of antifoam agents the $k_L a$ rises. They concluded that this could be due to the detrimental effects of bubble coalescence and reduced a reaching a limit and contacting bubbles coalescing suppressing surface motility and decreasing surface tension. This then leads to decreasing bubble size and $k_L a$ rises again. Secondly it is possible that antifoams accumulate oxygen from rising bubbles as they have good oxygen solubility, and release it to the aqueous phase. Bubbles bursting at the surface also disperse small drops of the antifoam causing more oxygen to be released [58, 59]. In the case of oils which have a greater oxygen solubility than water, oil droplets may increase oxygen permeability in the

water boundary layer of the gaseous dispersion[202]. Koide suggested that the ability of antifoams to reduce k_L is less for bubble swarms than for a single bubble[97]. Yagi *et al* suggested that surfactants can lead to rippling or eddying which influences the k_La . They found that k_L was not greatly affected by antifoam agents, and their main effect was upon a[57]. This could explain why a change in the trends of k_La were observed between the shake flasks and bioreactors, as there is a significant difference in the surface area of the cultures.

In the shake flask investigations there was no correlation between the yield of GFP and the k_La . There also does not appear to be any trend between the k_La and protein yield in bioreactors. It is therefore possible that the $k_L a$ is already providing sufficient DO for the cells to grow and produce protein and is not a limiting factor, suggesting a combination of factors is responsible for the increases in GFP yield observed. As mentioned previously, in bioreactor cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP, a switch in the concentration effects of the antifoams was observed. A major difference between shake flasks and bioreactors is the oxygenation. However, investigations into the effect of the antifoams upon the $k_L a$ and the actual DO concentrations did not suggest that the antifoams had improved the yield by influencing these parameters. The precise reason for the switching in concentration effect of the antifoams upon scale up could not be explained from these investigations. However, a combination of factors is responsible for the way the cells grow and produce recombinant protein, which varies with each individual bioprocess. Therefore changing conditions changes the effects and interactions of these parameters, and when the culture conditions are scaled up, different factors to those in the shake flasks would affect the cultures resulting in a different antifoam effect. For these reasons the optimum conditions, including antifoam addition, should be evaluated for each bioprocess and system.

6.3 The effects of antifoam upon protein purification

GFP was successfully purified using nickel affinity columns and in two cases, with J673A and SB2121, appeared to improve the amount of GFP purified. This could be explained by the antifoams aiding the binding of the protein to the resin beads, as there also appeared to

be less GFP present in the flow through of these samples. For this protein and purification method, high concentrations of antifoam are not an issue.

6.4 Conclusion and future work

The aim of this thesis has been to investigate the range of effects that antifoams could influence in bioprocesses to highlight the importance of careful selection of antifoam type and concentration for each individual process as well as to provide information regarding their mode of action. The main focus of this work has been to determine the effects of high concentrations of antifoam addition to cultures, as low concentrations are more frequently used due to concerns that high concentrations affect purification. This study has not only shown antifoams added at high concentrations in shake flasks can increase protein yields, but also that they do not have a detrimental effect upon purification of the protein.

The biological effects of antifoams are poorly understood and this is in part due to the range of types available and the lack of information regarding their compositions being available from the manufacturers. Antifoams have commonly been added to bioprocesses without considering their possible effects, but as an additive, these effects should be assessed. This work has demonstrated that each antifoam not only destroys foam with a range of effectiveness, but may also affect the cells and the proteins themselves.

From these studies, it has been demonstrated that the concentration of antifoams added to the process can vastly influence the yield of protein, to both positive and negative effect. The type of antifoam, too is important, as some antifoams, such as J673A seem to have an overall less detrimental effect than others, for example Antifoam C. The system to which the agents are added can also completely reverse the effects observed, namely when scaling up from a shake flask into a bioreactor. Finally, the protein that is to be produced is also an important factor; certain antifoams and concentrations, while beneficial to the production of one protein could prove to be detrimental to the production of another. This study found that antifoams can increase the yield of GFP, by enhancing its secretion, improving growth rates or increasing biomass. While the antifoams were found to increase and decrease k_La both in shake flasks and bioreactors, it did not appear to be sufficient to cause any change to the productivity of the cells. Their effect upon the DO in shake flasks was found to be minimal. This suggests that their influence upon these factors is not as important as the many articles detailing their effects suggest. Instead their effects upon the cells themselves, such as effects upon the permeability of the membrane leading to an increase in nutrient or methanol uptake rate, seems to be of more consequence.

Some of the mechanisms investigated in this study which may explain the improvements in GFP yield is summarized below for each antifoam:

- Antifoam A: Improvements to protein secretion
- Antifoam C: Improvements to protein secretion
- J673A: Increased specific growth rate (and possibly higher nutrient uptake) and improvements to protein secretion
- P2000: Increased specific growth rate (and possibly higher nutrient uptake) and increased biomass
- SB2121: Increased specific growth rate (and possibly higher nutrient uptake) and increased biomass

Of the antifoams tested, J673A produced the most beneficial effects overall. It was the most effective antifoaming agent at foam destruction, and produced some of the biggest increases to protein yield in both shake flask and bioreactor GFP cultures. In shake flask cultures of EPO and A_{2a}R at the concentrations tested, it had the least detrimental effect and produced similar yields to the control cultures. Cultures in shake flasks containing 1% J673A also had higher growth rates than with the other antifoams. A summary of the effects of the antifoams is shown in Table 6.1.

3FP vield [†]	Onfimitm col	ncentration	Affects grow	uth of cells	Growth	Affects	Metaholized
Bioreactor	Shake flask	Bioreactor	Shake flask	Bioreactor	rate	secretion	at 5% v/v #
13.5 mg	0.6%	0.6%	No	No	0.12 h ⁻¹	Yes	Yes
21.68 mg	0.8%	0.1%	No	Yes	$0.09 \ h^{-1}$	Yes	No
43.02 mg	1%	0.1%	No	No	$0.19 \ {\rm h}^{-1}$	Yes	No
47.17 mg	1%	0.1%	Yes	Yes	$0.15 \ h^{-1}$	No	No
58.66 mg	1%	0.1%	Yes	No	$0.14 \ h^{-1}$	No	No
×	 k Bioreactor 13.5 mg 21.68 mg 43.02 mg 47.17 mg 58.66 mg 	K Bioreactor Shake flask 13.5 mg 0.6% 21.68 mg 0.8% 43.02 mg 1% 47.17 mg 1% 58.66 mg 1%	k Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor 13.5 mg 0.6% 0.6% 21.68 mg 0.8% 0.1% 43.02 mg 1% 0.1% 47.17 mg 1% 0.1% 58.66 mg 1% 0.1%	K Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor Shake flask 13.5 mg 0.6% 0.6% No 21.68 mg 0.8% 0.1% No 43.02 mg 1% 0.1% No 47.17 mg 1% 0.1% Yes 58.66 mg 1% 0.1% Yes	K Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor 13.5 mg 0.6% 0.6% No No No 21.68 mg 0.8% 0.1% No Yes 43.02 mg 1% 0.1% No Yes 47.17 mg 1% 0.1% Yes Yes 58.66 mg 1% 0.1% Yes No	k Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor rate 13.5 mg 0.6% 0.6% No No No 0.12 h ⁻¹ 21.68 mg 0.8% 0.1% No Yes 0.09 h ⁻¹ 43.02 mg 1% 0.1% No Yes 0.19 h ⁻¹ 47.17 mg 1% 0.1% Yes 0.19 h ⁻¹ 58.66 mg 1% 0.1% Yes 0.14 h ⁻¹	κ Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor Shake flask Bioreactor rate secretion 13.5 mg 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% No No No No Yes Yes 21.68 mg 0.8% 0.1% No No $0.12 h^1$ Yes 43.02 mg 1% 0.1% No No $0.09 h^1$ Yes 47.17 mg 1% 0.1% Yes $0.19 h^1$ Yes 58.66 mg 1% 0.1% Yes $0.14 h^1$ No

Table 6.1: Summary of the effect of antifoams upon recombinant GFP production by P. pastoris in both shake flasks and bioreactors

⁺ Maximum GFP yield at the end of the fermentation, approximately 100 h post-inoculation for all cultures except 0.6% Antifoam A (51 h post-inoculation).

At 5% v/v in the absence of glycerol or methanol

In summary, the investigations conducted in this thesis have illustrated that antifoams, could increase the productivity of a process or hinder it. The benefits of investigating the optimum type of antifoam and concentration were demonstrated by experiments in both shake flask and bioreactor cultures of *P. pastoris* producing GFP where significant improvements in yield were observed. The importance of selecting the most appropriate concentration was also highlighted by investigations with antifoams upon EPO and A_{2a}R yield. It is not likely that the precise mechanisms of antifoams action will be easily understood, especially as has been shown by this work, that a combination of factors may have led to the effects upon protein yields. For these reasons, it is important to thoroughly evaluate the effects of antifoam addition to fermentation cultures on both a small and large scale.

As the antifoams affect several factors, there is still useful research that could be conducted in this area. Future work could include testing the antifoams upon EPO and $A_{2a}R$ at a wider range of concentrations to determine whether antifoams could be used to boost the productivity of these proteins as well as GFP. The effects of different concentrations of antifoam upon the binding affinity of $A_{2a}R$ and its ligands could also be informative if the presence of antifoams could potentially improve the affinity. Further concentrations could also be tested in bioreactors with GFP cultures at lower concentrations to determine whether 0.1% is actually the highest yielding concentration. TAM data suggested that there may be a difference in metabolism of the cells in the presence of J673A. This coupled with an increase in nutrient or substrate uptake due to a change in the permeability of the cells could explain its mechanism of action. This theory could be further explained by measuring the rate of methanol uptake using a methanol probe in the presence of different antifoams and concentrations. Polysome profiling could also reveal an insight into the effects of antifoams upon translation within the cell which in turn could provide more information about how the cells are growing in the presence of these agents.

Previously, antifoams have been added to bioprocesses with little regard to their possible influence. This study has demonstrated their effect upon cells and recombinant protein production, and emphasizes the benefit of their optimization.

201

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Jeong KJ, Jang SH, Velmurugan N: **Recombinant antibodies: engineering and** production in yeast and bacterial hosts. *Biotechnology Journal* 2011, 6:16-27.
- Cardi D, Montigny C, Arnou B, Jidenko M, Marchal E, Maire MI, Jaxel C: Heterologous expression and affinity purification of eukaryotic membrane proteins in view of functional and structural studies: The example of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase. *Methods Mol Biol* 2010, 601:247-267.
- 3. Cordle RA, Lowe ME: **Purification and characterization of human procolipase expressed in yeast cells**. *Protein Expression and Purification* 1998, **13**:30-35.
- Kjeldsen T, Pettersson AF, Hach M: Secretory expression and characterization of insulin in *Pichia pastoris*. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* 1999, 29:79-86.
- 5. Ecamilla-Treviño LL, Viader-Salvad'o JM, Barrera-Saldaña HA, Guerrero-Olazar'an M: **Biosynthesis and secretion of recombinant human growth hormone in** *Pichia pastoris*. *Biotechnology Letters* 2000, **22**:109-114.
- 6. Marsic D, Hughes RC, Byrne-Steele ML, Ng JD: **PCR-based gene synthesis to produce recombinant proteins for crystallization**. *BMC Biotechnology* 2008, **8**.
- 7. Mullis KB: Chapter 8: Recombinant DNA technology and molecular cloning. *Scientific American* 1990, 262.
- 8. Hannig G, Makrides SC: **Strategies for optimizing heterologous protein expression in** *Escherichia coli*. *TIB Tech* 1998, **16**.
- 9. EasySelect *Pichia* Expression Kit [http://tools.invitrogen.com/content/sfs/manuals/easyselect_man.pdf]
- 10. *Pichia* [http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/68010843]
- Baumann K, Dato L, Graf AB, Frascotti G, Dragosits M, Porro D, Mattanovich D, Ferrer P, Branduardi P: The impact of oxygen on the transcriptome of recombinant S. cerevisiae and P. pastoris - a comparative analysis. BMC Genomics 2011, 12.
- 12. Spencer DM, Spencer JFT, Fengler E, Figueroa LId: Yeasts associated with algarrobo trees (Prosopis spp.) in northwest Argentina: A preliminary report *Journal of Industrial Microbiology* 1994, 14:472-474.

- Schutter KD, Lin YC, Tiels P, Hecke AV, Glinka S, Weber-Lehmann J, Rouzé P, Peer YVd, Callewaert N: Genome sequence of the recombinant protein production host *Pichia pastoris*. *Nature Biotechnology* 2009, 6:561-566.
- Rossanese OW, Soderholm J, Bevis BJ, Sears IB, J. O'Connor, Williamson EK, Glick BS: Golgi Structure Correlates with Transitional Endoplasmic Reticulum Organization in Pichia pastoris and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. The Journal of Cell Biology 1999, 145(69-81).
- 15. Cregg JM, Shen S, Johnson M, Waterham HR: *Pichia* Protocols, vol. 103. Totowa, New Jersey: Humana Press; 1998.
- 16. Flores C, Rodríguez C, Petit T, Gancedo C: **Carbohydrate and energy-yielding** metabolism in non-conventional yeasts. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2006, 24:507-529.
- 17. Gancedo C, Gancedo JM, Sols A: Glycerol Metabolism in Yeasts Pathways of Utilization and Production. *European J Biochem* 1968, **5**:165-172.
- Sola A, Maaheimo H, Ylonen K, Ferrer P, Szyperski T: Amino acid biosynthesis and metabolic flux profiling of *Pichia pastoris*. Eur J Biochem 2004, 271:2462– 2470.
- Mattanovich D, Graf A, Stadlmann J, Dragosits M, Redl A, Maurer M, Kleinheinz M, Sauer M, Altmann F, Gasser B: Genome, secretome and glucose transport highlight unique features of the protein production host *Pichia pastoris*. *Microb Cell Fact* 2009, 8.
- 20. Bollok M, Resina D, Valero F, Ferrer P: Recent Patents on the *Pichia Pastoris* Expression System: Expanding the Toolbox for Recombinant Protein Production. *Recent Patents on Biotechnology* 2009, **3**:192-201.
- 21. Fernandez JM, Hoeffler JP (eds.): Gene Expression Systems. Using nature for the art of expression. London: Acedemic Press; 1999.
- 22. Cregg J: The *Pichia* system.
- 23. Fischer R, Vaquero-Martin C, Sack M, Drossard J, Emans N, Commandeur U: Towards molecular farming in the future: transient protein expression in plants. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* 1999, **30**:117-120.
- 24. Cregg JM, Barringer KJ, Hessler AY, Madden KR: *Pichia pastoris* as a host system for tranformations. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1985, **5**:3376-3385.
- 25. Walker GM: **Yeast physiology and Biotechnology**. West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons; 1998.

- 26. Schroer K, Luef KP, Hartner FS, Glieder A, Pscheidt B: Engineering the *Pichia pastoris* methanol oxidation pathway for improved NADH regeneration during whole-cell biotransformation. *Metabolic Engineering* 2010, **12**:8-17.
- 27. Cos O, Ramón R, Montesinos JL, Valero F: **Operational strategies, monitoring** and control of heterologous protein production in the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris* under different promoters: A review. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2006, **5**(17).
- 28. Gellissen G: *Hansenula polymorpha*: Biology and Applications Wiley-VCH; 2002.
- 29. Macauley-Patrick S, Fazenda ML, McNeil B, Harvey LM: Heterologous protein production using the *Pichia pastoris* expression system. *Yeast* 2005, **22**:249-270.
- 30. Poza M, Sestelo ABF, Ageitos JM, Vallejo JA, Veiga-Crespo P, Villa TG: Cloning and Expression of the XPR2 Gene from *Yarrowia lipolytica* in *Pichia pastoris*. J Agric Food Chem 2007, 55:3944-3948.
- 31. Hartner FS, Glieder A: **Regulation of methanol utilisation pathway genes in yeasts**. *Microb Cell Fact* 2006, **5**.
- 32. *Pichia pastoris* Protein Expression [http://www.chipeptalk.com/uploadedFiles/Peptalk/Exhibitor_Kit/VTUs_2nd_gener ation_AOX1_promoter_library.pdf]
- 33. Bill RM: Yeast a panacea for the structure-function analysis of membrane proteins? . *Current Genetics* 2001, 40:157-171.
- 34. Cereghio J, Cregg JM: Heterologous protein expression in the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris*. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2000, **24**:45-66.
- 35. Öberg F, Sjöhamn J, Fischer G, Moberg A, Pedersen A, Neutze R, Hedfalk K: Glycosylation Increases the Thermostability of Human Aquaporin 10 Protein. *The journal of biological chemistry* 2011, **286**:31915-31923.
- 36. Holmes WJ, Darby RA, Wilks MD, Smith R, Bill RM: **Developing a scalable** model of recombinant protein yield from *Pichia pastoris*: the influence of culture conditions, biomass and induction regime. *Microb Cell Fact* 2009, **8**:35.
- 37. Apte-Deshpande A, Rewanwar S, Kotwal P, Raiker VA, Padmanabhan S: Efficient expression and secretion of recombinant human growth hormone in the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris*: potential applications for other proteins. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* 2009, **54**:197-205.
- 38. Swartz JR: Advances in *Escherichia coli* production of therapeutic proteins. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 2001, **12**:195-201.

- 39. Dominguez A, Ferminan E, Sanchez M, Gonzalez FJ, Perez-Campo FM, Garcia S, Herrero AB, San Vicente A, Cabello J, Prado M *et al*: **Non-conventional yeasts as hosts for heterologous protein production**. *Int Microbiol* 1998, **1**(2):131-142.
- 40. Gellissen G: Production of Recombinant Proteins. Novel Microbial and Eukaryotic Expression Systems: Wiley; 2005.
- 41. Higgins SJ, Hames BD: **Protein Expression: A Practical Approach**. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- Montesino R, García R, Quintero O, Cremata JA: Variation in N-Linked Oligosaccharide Structures on Heterologous Proteins Secreted by the Methylotrophic Yeast Pichia pastoris. Protein Expression and Purification 1998, 14:197-207.
- 43. Inc. GWB. In.; 2009.
- 44. J. L. Gordon, D. Armisén, Proux-Wéra E, ÓhÉigeartaigh ES, Byrne KP, Wolfe1 KH: Evolutionary erosion of yeast sex chromosomes by mating-type switching accidents. *PNAS* 2011, 108:20024-20029.
- Lin Z, Li W-H: Expansion of Hexose Transporter Genes Was Associated with the Evolution of Aerobic Fermentation in Yeasts. *Mol Biol Evol* 2010, 28(1):131–142.
- Goffeau A, Barrell BG, Bussey H, Davis RW, Dujon B, Feldmann H, Galibert F, Hoheisel JD, Jacq C, Johnston M *et al*: Life with 6000 genes. *Science* 1996, 274(5287):546 - 567.
- 47. Otterstedt K, Larsson C, Bill RM, Stahlberg A, Boles E, Hohmann S, Gustafsson L: Switching the mode of metabolism in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *EMBO reports* 2004, **5**:532 - 537.
- 48. Strausberg RL, Strausberg SL: **Overview of Protein Expression in** *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Current Protocols in Protein Science* 1995, **5.6**.
- 49. Li H, Sethuraman N, Stadheim TA, Zha D, Prinz B, Ballew N, Bobrowicz P, B-K.Choi, Cook WJ, Cukan M *et al*: **Optimization of humanized IgGs in glycoengineered** *Pichia pastoris*. *Nature Biotechnology* 2006, **26**:210 - 215.
- Kalidas c, Joshi L, Batt C: Characterization of glycosylated variants of βlactoglobulin expressed in *Pichia pastoris*. *Protein Engineering* 2001, 14:201-207.
- 51. Hamilton SR, Davidson RC, Sethuraman N, Nett JH, Jiang Y, Rios S, Bobrowicz P, Stadheim TA, Li H, Choi B-K *et al*: Humanization of Yeast to Produce Complex Terminally Sialylated Glycoproteins. *Science* 2006, 313:1441-1443

- 52. Li P, Gao X, Arellano RO, Renugopalakrishnan V: Glycosylated and Phosphorylated Proteins—Expression in Yeast and Oocytes of Xenopus: Prospects and Challenges—Relevance to Expression of Thermostable Proteins. Protein Expression and Purification 2001, 22:369-380.
- 53. Sorensen HP: Towards universal systems for recombinant gene expression. *Microb Cell Fact* 2010, 9:27.
- 54. Panula-Perälä J, Šiurkus J, Vasala A, Wilmanowski R, Casteleijn MG, Neubauer P: Enzyme controlled glucose auto-delivery for high cell density cultivations in microplates and shake flasks. *Microb Cell Fact* 2008, 7.
- 55. Tribe LA, Briens CL, Margaritis A: Determination of the Volumetric Mass Transfer Coefficient (k,a) Using the Dynamic "Gas Out-Gas In" Method: Analysis of Errors Caused by Dissolved Oxygen Probes. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 1994, 46:388-392.
- 56. Stanbury PF, Whittaker A, Hall SJ: **Principles of Fermentation Technology**, Second edn: Butterworth Heinemann; 1995.
- 57. Yagi H, Yoshida F: **Oxygen absorption in fermenters effects of surfactants, antifoaming agents and sterilized cells**. *Journal of Fermentation Technology* 1974, **52**:905-916.
- 58. Liu H-S, Chiung W-C, Wang Y-C: Effect of lard oil and caster oil on oxygen transfer in an agitated fermentor. *Biotechnology Techniques* 1994, **8**:17-20.
- 59. Morao A, Maia C, Fonseca M, Vasconcelos J, Alves S: Effect of antifoam addition in gas-liquid mass transfer in stirred fermenters. *Bioprocess Engineering* 1999, **20**:165-172.
- 60. Koehn J, Hunt I: **High-Throughput Protein Production (HTPP): a review of** enabling technologies to expedite protein production. *Methods Mol Biol* 2009, **498**:1-18.
- 61. Harms J, Wang X, Kim T, Yang X, Rathore AS: **Defining process design space for biotech products: case study of** *Pichia pastoris* **fermentation**. *Biotechnology Progress* 2008, **24**(655-662).
- 62. Mandenius CF, Brundin A: **Bioprocess optimization using design-of-experiments methodology.** *Biotechnology Progress* 2008, **24**:1191-1203.
- 63. André N, Cherouati N, Prual C, Steffan T, Zeder-Lutz G, Magnin T, Pattus F, Michel H, Wagner R, Reinhart C: Enhancing functional production of G proteincoupled receptors in *Pichia pastoris* to levels required for structural studies via a single expression screen. *Protein Science* 2006, 15:1115-1126.

- 64. Katritch V, Cherezov V, Stevens RC: **Diversity and modularity of G proteincoupled receptor structures**. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 2011.
- 65. Hjersted JL, Henson MA: **Optimization of fed-batch** *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation using dynamic flux balance models. *Biotechnology progress* 2006, 5:1239-1248.
- 66. Dietzsch C, Spadiut O, Herwig C: A fast approach to determine a fed batch feeding profile for recombinant *Pichia pastoris* strains. *Microb Cell Fact* 2011, 10.
- 67. Zhang W, Bevins MA, Plantz BA, Smith LA, Meagher MM: Modeling *Pichia pastoris* Growth on Methanol and Optimizing the Production of a Recombinant Protein, the Heavy-Chain Fragment C of Botulinum Neurotoxin, Serotype A. *Papers in Biotechnology* 2000, 18.
- 68. Kolb P, Klebe G: **The Golden Age of GPCR Structural Biology: Any Impact on Drug Design?** *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* 2011.
- 69. Ramon R, Ferrer P, Valero F: Sorbitol co-feeding reduces metabolic burden caused by the overexpression of *Rhizopus oryzae* lipase in *Pichia pastoris*. *Journal of Biotechnology* 2007, **130**:39-46.
- Zhang W, Hywood-Potter KJ, Plantz BA, Schlegel VL, Smith LA, Meagher MM: *Pichia pastoris* fermentation with mixed-feeds of glycerol and methanol: growth kinetics and production improvement. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol* 2003, 30:210-215.
- 71. Attwood TK, Findlay JBC: **Fingerprinting G-protein-coupled receptors**. *Protein Engineering* 1994, **7**(2):195-203.
- 72. Fredriksson R, Lagerstrom MC, Lundin L, Schioth HB: **The G-Protein-Coupled Receptors in the Human Genome Form Five Main Families. Phylogenetic Analysis, Paralogon Groups, and Fingerprints**. *Mol Pharmacol* 2003, **63**:1256–1272.
- 73. Jaakola V-P, Griffith MT, Hanson MA, Cherezov V, Chien EYT, Lane JR, Ijzerman AP, Stevens RC: **The 2.6 Å Crystal Structure of a Human A2A Adenosine Receptor Bound to an Antagonist**. *Science* 2008, **322**:1211–1217.
- 74. Kolakowski JLF: **GCRDb: a G-protein-coupled receptor database**. *Recept Channels* 1994, **2**:1-7.
- 75. Drew D, Newstead S, Sonoda Y, Kim H, Heijne Gv, Iwata S: GFP-based optimization scheme for the overexpression and purification of eukaryotic membrane proteins in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Nature Protocols* 2008, 5:784-798.

- 76. Fraser NJ: **Expression and functional purification of a glycosylation deficient** version of the human adenosine 2a receptor for structural studies. *Protein Expression and Purification* 2006, **49**:129-137.
- 77. Weiss HM, Haase W, Michel H, Reiländer H: **Comparative biochemical and** pharmacological characterization of the mouse 5HT5A 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor and the human beta2-adrenergic receptor produced in the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris*. *Biochem J* 1998, 330:1137–1147.
- 78. King K, Dohlman HG, Thorner J, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ: **Control of yeast** mating signal transduction by a mammalian beta 2-adrenergic receptor and Gs alpha subunit. *Science* 1991, **250**:121-123.
- 79. Yu P, Yan Y, Tang Y: Medium optimization for endochitinase production by recombinant *Pichia pastoris* ZJGSU02 using response surface methodology. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 2011, **10**:75-84.
- 80. Routledge SJ, Hewitt CJ, Bora N, Bill RM: Antifoam addition to shake flask cultures of recombinant *Pichia pastoris* increases yield. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2011, **10**(17).
- 81. Routledge SJ, Bill RM: **The Effect of Antifoam Addition on Protein Production Yields**. In: *Recombinant Protein Production in Yeast*. Edited by Bill RM, vol. 866; In press.
- 82. Holmes W, Smith R, Bill R: **Evaluation of antifoams in the expression of a** recombinant FC fusion protein in shake flask cultures of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2006, **5**:30.
- 83. Varley J, Brown A, Boyd R, Dodd P, Gallagher S: **Dynamic multipoint** measurement of foam behaviour for a continuous fermentation over a range of key process variables. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 2004, **20**:61-72.
- 84. Denkov ND, Marinova K: Antifoam effects of solid particles, oil drops and oilsolid compounds in aqueous foams; 2006.
- 85. Kruglyakov P: **The mechanisms of antifoam action**. *Russian Chemical Reviews* 1994, **63**:471-482.
- 86. Foam control in fermentation processes: while chemical defoamers are ideal for foam prevention, mechanical systems provide gentle defoaming through a combination of foam destruction and foam recycling. [http://goliath.ecnext.com/coms2/gi_0199-116257/Foam-control-in-fermentationprocesses.html]
- 87. Höfer R: Struktol Foams and Foam Control. In.: Struktol; 2008.

- 88. Joshi K, Jeelani S, Blickenstorfer C, Naegeli I, Windhab E: Influence of fatty alcohol antifoam suspensions on foam stability Colloids and Surfaces. *A-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 2005, **263**:239-249.
- 89. Ju L-K, Sundararajan A: The effects of cells on oxygen transfer in bioreactors. *Bioprocess Engineering* 1995, **13**:271-278.
- 90. Bartsch O: Über Schaumsysteme. 1942.
- 91. Rosen J, Solash J: Factors affecting initial foam height in the Ross-Miles foam test. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society 1968, 46(399-402).
- 92. Denkov ND, Krastanka M, Christova C, Hadjiiski A, Cooper P: Mechanisms of Action of Mixed Solid-Liquid Antifoams: 3. Exhaustion and Reactivation. *Langmuir* 2000, 21:8163-8619.
- 93. Al-Masry W: Effects of antifoam and scale-up on operation of bioreactors. *Chemical Engineering and Processing* 1999, **38**:197-201.
- 94. Arjunwadkar SJ, Sarvanan K, Kulkarni PR, Pandit AB: **Gas-liquid mass transfer** in dual impeller bioreactor. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 1998, 1:99-106.
- 95. Calik P, Ileri N, Erdinc BI, Aydogan N, Argun M: Novel Antifoam for Fermentation Processes: Fluorocarbon-Hydrocarbon Hybrid Unsymmetrical Bolaform Surfactant. Langmuir 2005, 21(19):8613-8619.
- 96. Koch V, Rüffer H, Schügerl K, Innertsberger E, Menzel H, Weis J: Effect of Antifoam Agents on the Medium and Microbial Cell Properties and Process Performance in Small and Large Reactors. Process Biochemistry 1995, 30:435-446.
- 97. Koide K, Yamazoe S, Harada S: Effects of surface-active substances on gas hold up and gas-liquid mass transfer in bubble column. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan 1985, 18:287-292.
- 98. Etoc A, Delvigne F, Lecomte JP, Thonart P: Foam Control in Fermentation Bioprocess: From simple aeration tests to bioreactor. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol* 2006, **129-132**:392-404.
- 899. Rao JLUM, Satyanarayana T: Enhanced secretion and low temperature stabilization of a hyperthermostable and Ca2+-independent α-amylase of *Geobacillus thermoleovorans* by surfactants *Letters in Applied Microbiolgy* 2003, 36:191-196.
- Andersson E, Ramgren M, Hahn-Hagerdal B: The Influence of PEG on α-Amylase Production with *Bacillus* Species. 1987.

- 101. Mukaiyama H, Giga-Hama Y, Tohda H, Takegawa K: **Dextran sodium sulphate** enhances secretion of recombinant human transferrin in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Applied Microbial and Cell Physiology* 2009, **85**:155-164.
- 102. **The Fluorophore of Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)** [http://dwb4.unl.edu/Chem/CHEM869N/CHEM869NLinks/pps99.cryst.bbk. ac.uk/projects/gmocz/gfp.htm]
- 103. Green glow deciphered [http://www.bioedonline.org/news/news.cfm?art=5198]
- 104. Miyawaki A: Green Fluorescent Protein Glows Gold. Cell 2008, 135:987-990.
- 105. DeGiorgi F, Brini M, Bastianutto C, Marsault R, Montero M, Pizzo P, Rossi R, Rizzuto R: Targeting aequorin and green fluorescent protein to intracellular organelles. Gene 1996, 173:113-117.
- 106. Daunert S, Deo SK (eds.): Photoproteins in Bioanalysis: Wiley-VH; 2006.
- 107. Chalfie M, Kain SR (eds.): Green Fluorescent Protein Properties, Applications and Protocols: Wiley and Sons; 2006.
- 108. Stepanenko OV, Stepanenko OV, Shcherbakova DM, Kuznetsova IM, Turoverov KK, Verkhusha VV: Modern fluorescent proteins: from chromophore formation to novel intracellular applications. *BioTechniques* 2011, **51**:313-327.
- 109. Chudakov DM, Matz MV, Lukyanov S, Lukyanov KA: Fluorescent Proteins and Their Applications in Imaging Living Cells and Tissues. *Physiological Reviews* 2010, 90:1103-1163.
- 110. Yang F, Moss LG, G. N. Phillips J: **The molecular structure of green fluorescent** protein. *Nature Biotechnology* 1996, **14**:1246-1251.
- 111. Ormö M, Cubitt A, Kallio K, Gross L, Tsien R, Remington S: Crystal structure of the Aequorea victoria green fluorescent protein. *Science* 1996, 273:1392-1395.
- 112. Tsien RY: **The Green Fluorescent Protein**. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 1998, **67**:509-544.
- 113. Zupan AL, Trobec S, Gaberc-Porekar V, Menart V: **High expression of green fluorescent protein in** *Pichia pastoris* leads to formation of fluorescent particles. *Journal of Biotechnology* 2004, **109**(1-2):115-122.
- 114. Kamau SW, Grimm F, Hehl AB: Expression of Green Fluorescent Protein as a Marker for Effects of Antileishmanial Compounds In Vitro. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2001, 45:3654–3656.

- 115. Crameri A, Whitehorn E, Tate E, Stemmer W: Improved Green Fluorescent Protein by Molecular Evolution Using DNA Shuffling. *Nature Biotechnology* 1996, 14:315-319.
- 116. Kain SR, Adams M, Kondepudi A, Yang TT, Ward WW, Kitts P: Green fluorescent protein as a reporter of gene expression and protein localization. *Biotechniques* 1995, 4:650-655.
- Campbell TN, Choy FYM: Expression of two green fluorescent protein variants in citrate-buffered media in *Pichia pastoris*. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2002, 311:193–195.
- 118. Rizzuto R, Brini M, P. Pizzo, Murgia M, Pozzan T: Chimeric green fluorescent protein as a tool for visualizing subcellular organelles in living cells. *Current Biology* 1995, **5**:635-642.
- 119. P. Ross-Macdonald, A. Sheehan, Roeder GS, Snyder M: A multipurpose transposon system for analyzing protein production, localization, and function in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *PNAS* 1997, **94**:190-195.
- 120. Teh SH, Fong MY, Mohamed Z: **Expression and analysis of the glycosylation properties of recombinant human erythropoietin expressed in** *Pichia pastoris*. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* 2011, **34**:464-470.
- 121. Zhan H, Liu B, Reid SW, Aoki KH, Li C, Syed RS, Karkaria C, Koe G, Sitney K, Hayenga K *et al*: Engineering a soluble extracellular erythropoietin receptor (EPObp) in *Pichia pastoris* to eliminate microheterogeneity, and its complex with erythropoietin *Protein Engineering Design and Selection* 1999, 12:505-513.
- 122. Celik E, Calik P, Halloran SM, Oliver SG: **Production of recombinant human** erythropoietin from *Pichia pastoris* and its structural analysis. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 2007, **103**:2084-2094.
- 123. Syed RS, Reid SW, Li C, Cheetham JC, Aoki KH, Liu B, Zhan H, Osslund TD, Chirino AJ, Zhang J *et al*: Efficiency of signalling through cytokine receptors depends critically on receptor orientation. *Nature* 1998, **395**:511-516.
- 124. PDB: Crystal structure of human erythropoietin complexed to its receptor at **1.9 angstroms DOI:10.2210/pdb1eer/pdb** In.
- 125. Wang Z, J. H. Park, Park HH, Tan W, Park TH: Enhancement of Recombinant Human EPO Production and Sialylation in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells Through Bombyx mori 30Kc19 Gene Expression. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 2011, 108.

- 126. Neubig RR, Spedding M, Kenakin T, Christopoulos A: International Union of Pharmacology Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification. XXXVIII. Update on Terms and Symbols in Quantitative Pharmacology. Pharmacological Reviews 2003, 55:597–606.
- 127. Bohme I, Beck-Sickinger AG: **Illuminating the life of GPCRs**. *Cell Communications and Signalling* 2009, **7**.
- 128. Weiss J: G-protein-coupled receptors: molecular mechanisms involved in receptor activation and selectivity of G-protein recognition. *The FASEB Journal* 1997, **11**.
- 129. Ramakrishna D, Rao P: Applications of G protein-coupled receptors in clinical medicine. *Current Research in Neuroscience* 2011, 1:15-23.
- 130. **Physiology or Medicine 1994 Press Release** [http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/1994/press.html]
- 131. **The DB-DRD4 Database Project** [http://www.ibibiobase.com/projects/db-drd4/G_protein.htm]
- Beinborn M: Class B GPCRs: A Hidden Agonist Within? *Mol Pharmacol* 2006, 70:1-4.
- 133. Palczewski K, Kumasaka T, Hori T, Behnke CA, Motoshima H, Fox BA, Trong IL, Teller DC, Okada T, Stenkamp RE *et al*: Crystal structure of rhodopsin: A G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 2000, 289:739-745.
- 134. Congreve M, Marshall F: **The impact of GPCR structures on pharmacology and structure-based drug design**. *British Journal of Pharmocology* 2010, **159**:986-996.
- 135. Bill RM, Henderson PJF, Iwata S, Kunji ERS, Michel H, Neutze R, Newstead S, Poolman B, Tate CG, Vogel H: **Overcoming barriers to membrane protein structure determination**. *Nature Biotechnology* 2011, **29**:335–340.
- 136. Baker M: Making membrane proteins for structures: a trillion tiny tweaks. *Nature Methods* 2010, 7:429-433.
- 137. Shimamura T, Shiroishi M, Weyand S, Tsujimoto H, Winter G, Katritch V, Abagyan R, Cherezov V, Liu W, Han GW *et al*: **Structure of the human** histamine H1 receptor complex with doxepin. *Nature* 2011, 475.

- 138. Stewart GD, Valant C, Dowell SJ, Mijaljica D, Devenish RJ, Scammells PJ, Sexton PM, Christopoulos A: Determination of Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonist and Antagonist Pharmacology Using Saccharomyces cerevisiae: Implications for Ligand Screening and Functional Selectivity. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 2009, 331:277-286.
- O'Malley MA, Lazarova T, Britton ZT, Robinson AS: High-level expression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae enables isolation and spectroscopic characterization of functional human adenosine 2a receptor. Journal of Structural Biology 2007, 159:166-178.
- 140. Singh S, Gras A, Fiez-Vandal C, Ruprecht J, Rana R, Martinez M, Strange PG, Wagner R, Byrne B: Large-scale functional expression of WT and truncated human adenosine A2A receptor in *Pichia pastoris* bioreactor cultures. *Microb Cell Fact* 2008, 7.
- 141. Frielle T, Collins S, Daniel KW, Caron MG, R.J. Lefkowitz, Kobilka BK: Cloning of the CDNA for the human f31-adrenergic receptor. *PNAS* 1987, **84**:7920-7924.
- 142. Frielle T, Kobilka B, Lefkowitz RJ, Caron MG: Human β1- and β2-adrenergic receptors: structurally and functionally related receptors derived from distinct genes. Trends in Neurosciences 1988, 11:321-324.
- 143. Hu LA, Tang Y, Miller WE, Cong M, Lau AG, Lefkowitz RJ, Hall RA: beta 1adrenergic receptor association with PSD-95. Inhibition of receptor internalization and facilitation of beta 1-adrenergic receptor interaction with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J Biochem* 2000, 49:38659-38666.
- 144. Fauser C, Schimanski S, Wangemann P: Localization of b1-Adrenergic Receptors in the Cochlea and the Vestibular Labyrinth. *J Membrane Biol* 2004, 201:25-32.
- 145. Molenaar P, Bartel S, Cochrane A, Vetter D, Jalali H, Pohlner P, Burrell K, Karczewski P, Krause E-G, Kaumann A: Both b2- and b1-Adrenergic Receptors Mediate Hastened Relaxation and Phosphorylation of Phospholamban and Troponin I in Ventricular Myocardium of Fallot Infants, Consistent With Selective Coupling of b2-Adrenergic Receptors to Gs-Protein. Circulation 2000, 102:1814-1821.
- 146. Evans BN, Rosenblatt MI, Mnayer LO, Oliver KR, Dickerson IM: CGRP-RCP, a Novel Protein Required for Signal Transduction at Calcitonin Gene-related Peptide and Adrenomedullin Receptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000, 275(40):31438-31443.
- 147. Prado MA, Evans-Bain B, Dickerson IM: Receptor component protein (RCP): a member of a multi-protein complex required for G-protein-coupled signal transduction. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 2002, **30**:460-464.

- 148. Tolun AA, Dickerson IM, Malhotra A: **Overexpression and Purification of Human Calcitonin Gene Related Peptide - Receptor Component Protein (CGRP-RCP) in Escherichia coli**. Protein Expr Purif 2007, **52**:167-174.
- 149. Hulme EC, Trevethick MA: Ligand binding assays at equilibrium: validation and interpretation. *British Journal of Pharmocology* 2010.
- 150. Motulsky H: **The GraphPad Guide to Analyzing Radioligand Binding Data**. 1996.
- 151. Poyner DR, Wheatley M: **G Protein-Coupled Receptors Essential Methods**: Wiley-Blackwell; 2010.
- 152. Calık P, Orman MA, Celik E, Halloran S, Calık G, Ozdamar TH: Expression System for Synthesis and Purification of Recombinant Human Growth Hormone in *Pichia pastoris* and Structural Analysis by MALDI-ToF Mass Spectrometry. 2008, 24:221-226.
- 153. Won TY, Jeh HS, Kim CH, Choi HB, Han KB, Park SJ: **Purification and Characterization of Recombinant Human Growth Hormone Expressed in** *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Korean Biochemical Journal* 1991, **24**:278-284.
- 154. PDB: Human growth hormone bound to single receptor DOI: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.1669. In.; 1998.
- 155. Hahm MS, Chung BH: Secretory Expression of Human Growth Hormone in Saccharomyces cerevisiae Using Three Different Leader Sequences. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 2001, 6:306-309.
- 156. Calık P, Bayraktar E, Inankur B, Soyaslan ES, Sahin M, Taspınar H, Acık E, Yılmaz R, Ozdamard TH: Influence of pH on recombinant human growth hormone production by *Pichia pastoris*. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2010, 85:1628-1635.
- 157. Ikehara M, Ohtsuka E, Tokunaga T, Taniyama Y, Iwai S, Kitano K, Miyamoto S, Ohgi T, Sakuragawa Y, Fujiyama K et al: Synthesis of a gene for human growth hormone and its expression in Escherichia coli. Proc Nadl Acad Sci 1984, 81:5956-5960.
- 158. Sheppard MC: Growth Hormone Assay Standardization: An Important Clinical Advance. *Clinical Endocrinology* 2007, **66**:157-161.
- 159. Oster U, Bauer C, Rüdiger W: Characterization of Chlorophyll a and Bacteriochlorophyll a Synthases by Heterologous Expression in Escherichia coli. The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc 1997, 272:9671-9676.

- 160. **IPR011799 Chlorophyll synthase, ChlG** [http://www.ebi.ac.uk/interpro/IEntry?ac=IPR011799]
- Shalygo N, Czarnecki O, Peter E, Grimm B: Expression of chlorophyll synthase is also involved in feedback-control of chlorophyll biosynthesis. *Plant Mol Biol* 2009, 71:425–436.
- 162. **Tetrapyrrole metabolism** [http://www2.huberlin.de/biologie/plantphys/index.php?option=com_content&view =article&id=59&Itemid=77]
- 163. Kruse E, Uehlein N, Kaldenhoff R: **Protein family review: The aquaporins**. *Genome Biology* 2006, **7**(206).
- 164. Ikeda M, Beitz E, Kozono D, Guggino WB, Agre P, Yasui M: Characterization of Aquaporin-6 as a Nitrite Channel in Mammalian Cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 2002, 277:39873-39879.
- 165. Offermanns S, Rosenthal W: Encyclopedia of Molecular Pharmacology Second edn: Springer; 2008.
- 166. Agre P, King LS, Yasui M, Guggino WB, Ottersen OP, Fujiyoshi Y, Engel A, Nielsen S: Aquaporin water channels – from atomic structure to clinical medicine. J Physiol 2002, 542:3-16.
- Knepper MA, Nielsen S: Peter Agre, 2003 Nobel Prize Winner in Chemistry. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004, 15:1093-1095.
- 168. Takata K, Matsuzaki T, Tajika Y, Ablimit A, Hasegawa T: Localization and trafficking of aquaporin 2 in the kidney. *Histochem Cell Biol* 2008, 130:197-209.
- 169. Agre P, Bonhivers M, Borgnia M: The aquaporins, blueprints for cellular plumbing systems. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998, 273:14659-14662.
- 170. Oberg F, Ekvall M, Nyblom M, Backmark A, Neutze R, Hedfalk K: Insight into factors directing high production of eukaryotic membrane proteins; production of 13 human AQPs in *Pichia pastoris*. *Molecular Membrane Biology* 2009, 26:215-227.
- 171. [http://www.vivo.colostate.edu/hbooks/molecules/aquaporins.html]
- 172. Stoessel F: Thermal Safety of Chemical Processes: Risk Assessment and Process Design: John Wiley and Sons; 2008.
- 173. EasySelect Pichia Expression Kit. [http://tools.invitrogen.com/content/sfs/manuals/easyselect_man.pdf]
- 174. Laemmli UK: Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 1970, **227**:680-685.
- 175. Invitrogen: pPICZaA, B, and C *Pichia* expression vectors for selection on Zeocin[™] and purification of secreted, recombinant proteins; 2010.
- 176. Laboratories BR: Direct Cloning in Plasmid Libraries after Fragment Enrichment. Focus 1986, 8.
- 177. Hanahan D: in DNA Cloning: A Practical Approach, vol. 1. McLean, Virginia: IRL Press; 1985.
- 178. Grant SG, Jessee J, Bloom FR, Hanahan D: **Differential plasmid rescue from transgenic mouse DNAs into Escherichia coli methylation-restriction mutants**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990, **87**:4645-4649.
- 179. *E. coli* genotypes [http://openwetware.org/wiki/E._coli_genotypes]
- Bonander N, Ferndahl C, Mostad P, Wilks MDB, Chang C, Showe L, Gustafsson L, Larsson C, Bill RM: Transcriptome analysis of a respiratory Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain suggests the expression of its phenotype is glucose insensitive and predominantly controlled by Hap4, Cat8 and Mig1. BMC Genomics 2008, 9.
- 181. Genelute plasmid mini-prep kit [http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/etc/medialib/docs/Sigma/General_Information/pln_3 50.Par.0001.File.tmp/pln_350.pdf]
- 182. PowerPrepTM HP Plasmid Purification Systems [http://www.origene.com/assets/Documents/Marligen/PlasmidPurification/NP10004 7.pdf]
- 183. Shuler ML, Karagi F: **Bioprocess Engineering Basic Concepts**, Second edn: PH PTR; 2008.
- 184. Dietzsch C, Spadiut O, Herwig C: A dynamic method based on the specific substrate uptake rate to set up a feeding strategy for *Pichia pastoris*. *Microb* Cell Fact 2011, **10**.
- 185. Denkov ND, Tcholakova S, Marinova KG, Hadjiiski A: Role of Oil Spreading for the Efficiency of Mixed Oil–Solid Antifoams. *Langmuir* 2002, 18:5810-5817.
- 186. Spickett CM, Rennie N, Winter H, Zambonin L, Landi L, Jerlich A, Schaur RJ, Pitt AR: Detection of phospholipid oxidation in oxidatively stressed cells by reversed-phase HPLC coupled with positive-ionization electrospray [correction of electroscopy] MS. *Biochem J* 2001, 355:449-457.

- 187. Bora N, Bill R: **Bioprocess optimisation and scale up of erythropoietin** production in *Pichia pastoris*.
- 188. **Pichia Fermentation Process Guildelines** [http://tools.invitrogen.com/content/sfs/manuals/pichiaferm prot.pdf]
- 189. Downing AK (ed.): **Protein NMR techniques**. Totowa, New Jersey: Humana Press; 2004.
- 190. Silicones 7. Polymer Chemistry, Thermochemistry and Kinetics [http://chemwiki.ucdavis.edu/xApproaches/ChemCases/Heat_and_Chemical_Resist ant_Silicone_Rubber/Silicones_7._Polymer_Chemistry,_Thermochemistry_and_Kinetics]
- 191. Hewitt CJ, Nebe-Von-Caron G: **The application of multi-parameter flow** cytometry to monitor individual microbial cell physiological state. *Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology* 2004, **89**:197-223.
- 192. **Sigma product information: Antifoam data sheet** [http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/etc/medialib/docs/Sigma/Product_Information_Shee t/a7207pis.Par.0001.File.tmp/a7207pis.pdf]
- 193. Pawiroharsono S, Naji B, Bonaly R, Tonetti F, Chasseboeuf C, Richter P: Permeability and membrane sterol distribution in *Saccharomyces uvarum* and *Kluyveromyces bulgaricus* grown in presence of polyoxyalkylene lycol-oleic acid condensates. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 1987, 27:181-185.
- 194. Baumann K, Adelantado N, Lang C, Mattanovich D, Ferrer P: Protein trafficking, ergosterol biosynthesis and membrane physics impact recombinant protein secretion in *Pichia pastoris*. *Microb Cell Fact* 2011, **10**.
- 195. Höhne G, Hemminger W, Flammersheim H-J: **Differential scanning calorimetry**, Second edn: Springer; 2003.
- 196. Whiffin VS, Cooney MJ, Cord-Ruwisch R: Online Detection of Feed Demand in High Cell Density Cultures of *Escherichia coli* by Measurement of Changes in Dissolved Oxygen Transients in Complex Media. *Wiley Periodicals, Inc* 2003.
- 197. **SDR SensorDish Reader** [http://www.presens.de/products/brochures/category/systems/brochure/sdrsensordish-reader/page/probes-63.html]
- 198. SFR Shake Flask Reader [http://www.presens.de/products/brochures/category/systems/brochure/sfr-shake-flask-reader/page/probes-54.html]

- 199. Hansen MC, Palmer RJ, Udsen C, White DC, Molin S: Assessment of GFP fluorescence in cells of *Streptococcus gordonii* under conditions of low pH and low oxygen concentration. *Microbiology* 2001, 147:1383-1391.
- 200. Kawase Y, Moo-Young M: The effect of antifoam agents on mass transfer in bioreactors. *Bioprocess Engineering* 1990, **5**:169-173.
- 201. Bandyopadhyay P, Humphrey AE: Dynamic measurement of the volumetric oxygen transfer coefficient in fermentation systems. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 1967, **9**:533-544.
- 202. Rols JL, Goma G: Enhanced oxygen transfer rates in fermentation using soybean oil-in-water dispersions. *Biotechnology Letters* 1991, 13:7-12.
- 203. Baumann K, Maurer M, Dragosits M, Cos O, Ferrer P, Mattanovich D: Hypoxic fed-batch cultivation of *Pichia pastoris* increases specific and volumetric productivity of recombinant proteins. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2007, 100:177–183.
- 204. Routledge SJ, Clare M: Setting up a Bioreactor for Recombinant Protein Production in Yeast. In: *Recombinant Protein Production in Yeast*. Edited by Bill RM, vol. 866; In press.
- 205. Wernau WC, Wilke CR: New Method for Evaluation of Dissolved Oxygen Probe Response for *k*_L*a* Determination. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 1973, 15.
- 206. Jha BK, Christiano SP, Shah DO: Silicone Antifoam Performance: Correlation with Spreading and Surfactant Monolayer Packing. *Langmuir* 2000, 16.
- 207. Plantz BA, Sinha J, Villarete L, Nickerson KW, Schlegel VL: *Pichia pastoris* fermentation optimization: energy state and testing a growth-associated model. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 2006, **72**:297-305.
- 208. Potgieter TI, Kersey SD, Mallem MR, Nylen AC, d'Anjou M: Antibody expression kinetics in glycoengineered *Pichia pastoris*. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2010, **106**:918-927.
- 209. Kobayashi K, Kuwae S, Ohya T, Ohda T, Ohyama M, Tomomitsu K: High level secretion of recombinant human serum albumin by fed-batch fermentation of the methylotrophic yeast, *Pichia pastoris*, based on optimal methanol feeding strategy. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 2000, **90**:280-288.
- 210. Zhang W, Sinha J, Smith LA, Inan M, Meagher MM: Maximization of Production of Secreted Recombinant Proteins in *Pichia pastoris* Fed-Batch Fermentation. . Biotechnology progress 2005, 21:386-393.

- 211. Sinha J, Plantz BA, Zhang W, Gouthro M, Schlegel V, Liu C-P, Meagher MM: Improved production of recombinant ovine interferon-t by Mut+ strain of *Pichia pastoris* using an optimized methanol feed profile. *Biotechnology* progress 2003, 19(794-802).
- 212. Cunha AE, Clemente JJ, Gomes R, Pinto F, Thomaz M, Miranda S, Pinto R, Moosmayer D, Donner P, Carrondo MJT: **Methanol induction optimization for scFv antibody fragment production in** *Pichia pastoris*. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2004, **86**:458-467.
- 213. Xiao W (ed.): Yeast Protocols: Humana Press 2006.
- 214. Zinser E, Paltauf F, Daum G: **Sterol composition of yeast organelle membranes** and subcellular distribution of enzymes involved in sterol metabolism. *Journal* of Bactriology 1993, **175**:2853-2858.
- 215. Smith SJ, Crowley JH, L. W P: **Transcriptional regulation by ergosterol in the yeast** *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1996, **16**:5427-5432.
- Benchekroun K, Bonaly R: Physiological properties and plasma membrane composition of Saccharomyces cerevisiae grown in sequential batch culture and in the presence of surfactants. Applied Microbial and Cell Physiology 1992, 36:673-678.
- 217. Esslinger HM (ed.): Handbook of Brewing: Wiley-VCH; 2009.
- 218. Robinson AS (ed.): **Membrane protein expression in** *S. cerevisiae*: Wiley-VCH; 2011.
- 219. Hu X, Fukutani A, Liu X, Kimbara K, Kawai F: Isolation of bacteria able to grow on both polyethylene glycol (PEG) and polypropylene glycol (PPG) and their PEG/PPG dehydrogenases *Applied Microbial and Cell Physiology* 2006, 73:1407-1413.

8. APPENDICES

8.1. RCP-TEV-GFP sequence alignment

Alignment of the plasmid DNA sequence with the expected construct sequence using

T-Coffee software version 8.99.



RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	265 265	CAATTCTGCGCTTCTCAGTAACTACGAGGTATT CAATTCTGCGCTTCTCAGTAACTACGAGGTATT	297 297
cons	265	*****************************	297
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	298 298	TCAGTTACTAACTGATCTGAAAGAGCAGCGTAA TCAGTTACTAACTGATCTGAAAGAGCAGCGTAA	330 330
cons	298	******************************	330
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	331 331	AGAAAGTGGAAAGAATAAACACAGCTCTGGGCA AGAAAGTGGAAAGAATAAACACAGCTCTGGGCA	363 363
cons	331		363
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	364 364	ACAGAACTTGAACACTATCACCTATGAAACGTT ACAGAACTTGAACACTATCACCTATGAAACGTT	396 396
cons	364	*****************************	396
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	397 397	AAAATACATATCAAAAACACCATGCAGGCACCA AAAATACATATCAAAAACACCATGCAGGCACCA	429 429
cons	397	**************************	429
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	430 430	GAGTECTGAAATTGTEAGAGAATTTETEACAGE GAGTEETGAAATTGTEAGAGAATTTETEACAGE	462 462
cons	430	***********	462
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	463 463	ATTGAAAAGCCACAAGTTGACCAAAGCTGAGAA ATTGAAAAGCCACAAGTTGACCAAAGCTGAGAA	495 495
cons	463	**********************************	495
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	496 496	GCTCCAGCTGCTGAACCACCGGCCTGTGACTGC GCTCCAGCTGCTGAACCACCGGCCTGTGACTGC	528 528
cons	496	********	528
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	529 529	TGTGGAGATCCAGCTGATGGTGGAAGAGAGTGA TGTGGAGATCCAGCTGATGGTGGAAGAGAGTGA	561 561
cons	529	***********	561
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	562 562	AGAGCGGCTCACGGAGGAGCAGATTGAAGCTCT AGAGCGGCTCACGGAGGAGCAGATTGAAGCTCT	594 594
cons	562		594

RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	595 TCTCCACACCGTCACCAGCATTCTGCCTGCA	GA 627
RCP-TEV-GFP	595 TCTCCACACCGTCACCAGCATTCTGCCTGCA	GA 627
cons	595 **********************	627
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	628 GCCAGAGGCTGAGCAGAAGAAGAATACAAAC	AG 660
RCP-TEV-GFP	628 GCCAGAGGCTGAGCAGAAGAAGAATACAAAC	AG 660
cons	628	<mark>**</mark> 660
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	661 CAATGTGGCAATGGACGAAGAGGACCCAGCA	GC 693
RCP-TEV-GFP	661 CAATGTGGCAATGGACGAAGAGGACCCAGCA	GC 693
cons	661 +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	693
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	694 GGCCCAGCCGGCCGTCTCGGATCGGTACCTC	GA 726
RCP-TEV-GFP	694 GGCCCAGCCGGCCGTCTCGGATCGGTACCTC	GA 726
cons	694 ********************* *********	726
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	727 AAATCTTTATTTTCAAGGTCCGCGGCGGCCG	CT 759
RCP-TEV-GFP	727 AAATCTTTATTTTCAAGGTCCGCGGCGGCGGCCG	759
cons	727 11111111111111111111111111111111111	759
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	760 TATGAGTAAAGGAGAAGAACTTTTCACTGGA	GT 792
RCP-TEV-GFP	760 TATGAGTAAAGGAGAAGAACTTTTCACTGGA	792
cons	760 **********************	792
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	793 TGTCCCAATTCTTGTTGAATTAGATGGTGAT	GT 825
RCP-TEV-GFP	793 TGTCCCAATTCTTGTTGAATTAGATGGTGAT	825
cons	793	825
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	826 TAATGGGCACAAATTTTCTGTCAGTGGAGAGG	36 858
RCP-TEV-GFP	826 TAATGGGCACAAATTTTCTGTCAGTGGAGAGG	36 858
cons	826 ************************************	858
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	859 TGAAGGTGATGCAACATACGGAAAACTTACC	891
RCP-TEV-GFP	859 TGAAGGTGATGCAACATACGGAAAACTTACC	891
cons	859 ************************************	891
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	892 TAAATTTATTTGCACTACTGGAAAACTACCT	924
RCP-TEV-GFP	892 TAAATTTATTTGCACTACTGGAAAACTACCT	31 924
cons	892 ****************************	

RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	925 TCCATGGCCAACACTTGTCACTACTTTCTCTTA	957
RCP-TEV-GFP	925 TCCATGGCCAACACTTGTCACTACTTTCTCTTA	957
cons	925	957
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	958 TGGTGTTCAATGCTTTTCCCGTTATCCGGATCA	990
RCP-TEV-GFP	958 TGGTGTTCAATGCTTTTCCCGTTATCCGGATCA	990
cons	958	990
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	991 TATGAAACGGCATGACTTTTTCAAGAGTGCCAT	1023
RCP-TEV-GFP	991 TATGAAACGGCATGACTTTTTCAAGAGTGCCAT	1023
cons	991 <mark></mark>	1023
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1024 GCCCGAAGGTTATGTACAGGAACGCACTATATC	1056
RCP-TEV-GFP	1024 GCCCGAAGGTTATGTACAGGAACGCACTATATC	1056
cons	1024	1056
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1057 TTTCAAAGATGACGGGAACTACAAGACGCGTGC	1089
RCP-TEV-GFP	1057 TTTCAAAGATGACGGGAACTACAAGACGCGTGC	1089
cons	1057	1089
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1090 TGAAGTCAAGTTTGAAGGTGATACCCTTGTTAA	1122
RCP-TEV-GFP	1090 TGAAGTCAAGTTTGAAGGTGATACCCTTGTTAA	1122
cons	1090 ***********	1122
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1123 TCGTATCGAGTTAAAAGGTATTGATTTTAAAGA	1155
RCP-TEV-GFP	1123 TCGTATCGAGTTAAAAGGTATTGATTTTAAAGA	1155
cons	1123 ******	1155
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1156 AGATGGAAACATTCTCGGACACAAACTCGAGTA	1188
RCP-TEV-GFP	1156 AGATGGAAACATTCTCGGACACAAACTCGAGTA	1188
cons	1156	1188
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1189 CAACTATAACTCACACAATGTATACATCACGGC	1221
RCP-TEV-GFP	1189 CAACTATAACTCACACAATGTATACATCACGGC	1221
cons	1189	1221
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1222 AGACAAACAAAAGAATGGAATCAAAGCTAACTT	1254
RCP-TEV-GFP	1222 AGACAAACAAAAGAATGGAATCAAAGCTAACTT	1254
cons	1222	1254
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ	1255 CAAAATTCGCCACAACATTGAAGATGGATCCGT	1287
RCP-TEV-GFP	1255 CAAAATTCGCCACAACATTGAAGATGGATCCGT	1287
cons	1255 ************************	

RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1288 TCAACTAGCAGACCATTATCAACAAAATACTCC 1288 TCAACTAGCAGACCATTATCAACAAAATACTCC	1320 1320
cons	1288	1320
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1321 AATTGGCGATGGCCCTGTCCTTTTACCAGACAA 1321 AATTGGCGATGGCCCTGTCCTTTTACCAGACAA	1353 1353
cons	1321 *****************************	1353
RCP-TEV-GFP RCP-TEV-GFP	1354 CCATTACCTGTCGACACAATCTGCCCTTTCGAA 1354 CCATTACCTGTCGACACAATCTGCCCTTTCGAA	1386 1386
cons	1354	1386
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1387 AGATCCCAACGAAAAGCGTGACCACATGGTCCT 1387 AGATCCCAACGAAAAGCGTGACCACATGGTCCT	1419 1419
cons	1387 ***************************	1419
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1420 TCTTGAGTTTGTAACTGCTGCTGGGATTACACA 1420 TCTTGAGTTTGTAACTGCTGCTGGGATTACACA	1452 1452
cons	1420	1452
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1453 TGGCATGGATGAGCTCTACAAAATTCTAGAACA 1453 TGGCATGGATGAGCTCTACAAAATTCTAGAACA	1485 1485
cons	1453 *************************	1485
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1486 AAAACTCATCTCAGAAGAGGATCTGAATAGCGC 1486 AAAACTCATCTCAGAAGAGGATCTGAATAGCGC	1518 1518
RCP-TEV-GFPsequ RCP-TEV-GFP	1519 CGTCGACCATCATCATCATCATCAT 1543 1519 CGTCGACCATCATCATCATCATCAT 1543	
cons	1519 ***********************************	

Translated:

LFAASSALAAPVNTTTEDETAQIPAEAVIGYSDLEGDF DVAVLPFSNSTNNGLLFINTTIASIAAKEEGVSLEKRE AEAAGILMetEVKDANSALLSNYEVFQLLTDLKEQRKE SGKNKHSSGQQNLNTITYETLKYISKTPCRHQSPEIVR EFLTALKSHKLTKAEKLQLLNHRPVTAVEIQLMetVEE SEERLTEEQIEALLHTVTSILPAEPEAEQKKNTNSNVA MetDEEDPAAAQPAVSDRYLENLYFQGPRRPLMetSKGE ELFTGVVPILVELDGDVNGHKFSVSGEGEGDATYGKL TLKFICTTGKLPVPWPTLVTTFSYGVQCFSRYPDHMetK RHDFFKSAMetPEGYVQERTISFKDDGNYKTRAEVKFE GDTLVNRIELKGIDFKEDGNILGHKLEYNYNSHNVYIT ADKQKNGIKANFKIRHNIEDGSVQLADHYQQNTPIGD GPVLLPDNHYLSTQSALSKDPNEKRDHMetVLLEFVTA

8.2 Human growth hormone sequence alignment

Alignment of the plasmid DNA sequence with the expected construct sequence using T-Coffee software version 8.99.

* BAD AVG GOOD			
* hahsequencing hah cons	: 100 : 100 : 100		
hghsequencing hgh	1	ATGAGATTTCCTTCAATTTTTACTGCTGTTTTATTC ATGAGATTTCCTTCAATTTTTACTGCTGTTTTATTC	36 36
cons	1		36
hghsequencing hgh	37 37	GCAGCATCCTCCGCATTAGCTGCTCCAGTCAACACT GCAGCATCCTCCGCATTAGCTGCTCCAGTCAACACT	72 72
cons	37		72
hghsequencing hgh	73 73	ACAACAGAAGATGAAACGGCACAAATTCCGGCTGAA ACAACAGAAGATGAAACGGCACAAATTCCGGCTGAA	108 108
cons	73		108
hghsequencing hgh	109 109	GCTGTCATCGGTTACTCAGATTTAGAAGGGGATTTC GCTGTCATCGGTTACTCAGATTTAGAAGGGGATTTC	144 144
cons	109		144
hghsequencing hgh	145 145	GATGTTGCTGTTTTGCCATTTTCCAACAGCACAAAT GATGTTGCTGTTTTGCCATTTTCCAACAGCACAAAT	180 180
cons	145	************************************	180
hghsequencing hgh	181 181	AACGGGTTATTGTTTATAAATACTACTATTGCCAGC AACGGGTTATTGTTTATAAATACTACTATTGCCAGC	216 216
cons	181		216
hghsequencing hgh	217 217	ATTGCTGCTAAAGAAGAAGGGGTATCTCTCGAGAAA ATTGCTGCTAAAGAAGAAGGGGTATCTCTCGAGAAA	252 252
cons	217	***********	252
hghsequencing hgh	253 253	AGAGAGGCTGAAGCTGAATTCCACCATCACCATCAC AGAGAGGCTGAAGCTGAATTCCACCATCACCATCAC	288 288
cons	253	******	288

hghsequencing	289 CATATTGAAGGGAGATTCCCAACTATACCACTATC	T 324
hgh	289 CATATTGAAGGGAGATTCCCAACTATACCACTATC	324
cons	289 ************************************	324
hghsequencing	325 CGTCTATTCGATAACGCTATGCTTCGTGCTCATCG	T 360
hgh	325 CGTCTATTCGATAACGCTATGCTTCGTGCTCATCG	T 360
cons	325 **********************	360
hghsequencing	361 CTTCATCAGCTGGCCTTTGACACCTACCAGGAGTT	T 396
hgh	361 CTTCATCAGCTGGCCTTTGACACCTACCAGGAGTT	396
cons	361 	* 396
hghsequencing	397 GAAGAAGCCTATATCCCAAAGGAACAGAAGTATTC	A 432
hgh	397 GAAGAAGCCTATATCCCAAAGGAACAGAAGTATTC	A 432
cons	397 ***** *******************************	432
hghsequencing	433 TTCCTGCAGAACCCCCAGACCTCCCTCTGTTTCTC	468
hgh	433 TTCCTGCAGAACCCCCCAGACCTCCCTCTGTTTCTC	468
cons	433 *******	468
hghsequencing	469 GAGTCTATTCCGACACCCTCCAACAGGGAGGAAAC	A 504
hgh	469 GAGTCTATTCCGACACCCTCCAACAGGGAGGAAAC	A 504
cons	469 ************************* ***********	504
hghsequencing	505 CAACAGAAATCCAACCTAGAGCTGCTCCGCATCTC	C 540
hgh	505 CAACAGAAATCCAACCTAGAGCTGCTCCGCATCTC	C 540
cons	505 <mark></mark>	540
hghsequencing	541 CTGCTGCTCATCCAGTCGTGGCTGGAGCCCGTGCA	G 576
hgh	541 CTGCTGCTCATCCAGTCGTGGCTGGAGCCCGTGCA	G 576
cons	541 <mark>************************************</mark>	576
hghsequencing	577 TTCCTCAGGAGTGTCTTCGCCAACAGCCTGGTGTA	612
hgh	577 TTCCTCAGGAGTGTCTTCGCCAACAGCCTAGTGTA	612
cons	577 ****************************	612
hghsequencing	613 GGCGCCTCTGACAGCAACGTCTATGACCTCCTAAA	648
hgh	613 GGCGCCTCTGACAGCAACGTCTATGACCTCCTAAA	6648
cons	613 ************************************	* 648
hghsequencing	649 GACCTAGAGGAAGGCATCCAAACGCTGATGGGGAG	684
hgh	649 GACCTAGAGGAAGGCATCCAAACGCTGATGGGGAG	684
cons	649 ножносто странование с 649 но странование с 649 но странование с 649 но странование с 649 но странование с	684



Translated:

Met R F P S I F T A V L F A A S S A L A A P V N T T T E D E T A Q I P A E A V I G Y S D L E G D F D V A V L P F S N S T N N G L L F I N T T I A S I A A K E E G V S L E K R E A E A E F H H H H H H H I E G R F P T I P L S R L F D N A Met L R A H R L H Q L A F D T Y Q E F E E A Y I P K E Q K Y S F L Q N P Q T S L C F S E S I P T P S N R E E T Q Q K S N L E L L R I S L L L I Q S W L E P V Q F L R S V F A N S L V Y G A S D S N V Y D L L K D L E E G I Q T L Met G R L E D G S P R T G Q I F K Q T Y S K F D T N S H N D D A L L K N Y G L L Y C F R K D Met D K V E T F L R I V Q C R S V E G S C G F Stop

8.3 Presentations and publications arising from this thesis

Presentation given at the IChemE Young Researchers Meeting 2010 and awarded first prize.



The effect of antifoam on recombinant protein yield

By Sarah Routledge

Fermentation

- Exploitation of microorganisms
 - Yeast used as expression systems Pichia pastoris
- Proteins
 - Insulin
 - Human growth hormone
 - ► GFP
- Shake flasks
 - Initial screening for conditions
- Bioreactors
 - Culture thousands of litres





Foaming and Chemical Antifoams

- Foaming reduces efficiency
 - Increased costs
 - Reduced productivity
 - Detrimental effects
- Both positive and negative effects observed
- Observation upon
 - Foam destruction
 - k_La volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient
 - Concentration effect
 - Media
 - Growth of organisms
 - Protein production

 Usually added to a process without consideration of the effects







Antifoams Affect Total Protein Yield in Shake Flasks

- All antifoams increased total protein yield at higher concentrations than those normally used
- Antifoams A and C show significant effect upon yield of GFP above 0.6%
- Antifoam J673A shows the best effect of the antifoams tested at 0.8%
- The effects of antifoam addition are not due to changes in growth rate of the cultures, except for P2000 and SB2121



Influence of Antifoams Upon Oxygen Availability

Volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient

•
$$k_L a(t_2-t_1) = \ln \left(\frac{c_1, \infty - c_1, t_1}{c_1, \infty - c_1, t_2} \right)$$

- Antifoams reported to reduce k_La at low concentrations
- Certain antifoams may increase $k_L a$ at higher concentrations



Correlation of $k_L a$ and Protein Yield

- Antifoams had a positive effect upon the $k_L a$ for each of the antifoams except SB2121.
- The only antifoam that increased the $k_L a$ at each concentration was Antifoam C.
- k_La at increasing concentrations of P2000 is correlated with the yield of GFP obtained in shake flasks at the same concentrations
- R² of 0.7

 P value > 0.05

 $k_L a h^{-1} as a Percentage of 0% Antifoam (%)$
- The rest of the antifoam k_La measurements and yields of GFP were not found to have any correlation, suggesting that changes in k_La are not the mechanism leading to increased protein yield for these antifoams.

Aston University

Flow Cytometry

- Determine whether more GFP was retained or secreted under the influence of antifoams
- Flow cytometry data used to determine retained GFP
- Total GFP yield used to determine secreted GFP
- Assume control data = 1 to compare between antifoam effects



Effect of Antifoams on GFP Retained and Secreted by *P. pastoris* X33



Summary

- > Antifoams can increase recombinant protein yield at higher
- They affect the k_La in bioreactors both positively and negatively depending upon the antifoam and the concentration
 Increased k_La was correlated to increased yield for P2000
- They can alter the ability of the cell to secrete GFP
- Antifoams tested can be split into two different groups by their mechanism of action
- Changes to growth
 - PŽ000
 - ▶ SB2121
- Improved secretion:

 - Antifoam AAntifoam C
 - ▶ J673A



RESEARCH



Open Access

Antifoam addition to shake flask cultures of recombinant *Pichia pastoris* increases yield

Sarah J Routledge¹, Christopher J Hewitt², Nagamani Bora¹ and Roslyn M Bill^{1*}

Abstract

Background: *Pichia pastoris* is a widely-used host for recombinant protein production. Initial screening for both suitable clones and optimum culture conditions is typically carried out in multi-well plates. This is followed by up-scaling either to shake-flasks or continuously stirred tank bioreactors. A particular problem in these formats is foaming, which is commonly prevented by the addition of chemical antifoaming agents. Intriguingly, antifoams are often added without prior consideration of their effect on the yeast cells, the protein product or the influence on downstream processes such as protein purification. In this study we characterised, for the first time, the effects of five commonly-used antifoaming agents on the total amount of recombinant green fluorescent protein (GFP) secreted from shake-flask cultures of this industrially-relevant yeast.

Results: Addition of defined concentrations of Antifoam A (Sigma), Antifoam C (Sigma), J673A (Struktol), P2000 (Fluka) or SB2121 (Struktol) to shake-flask cultures of *P. pastoris* increased the total amount of recombinant GFP in the culture medium (the total yield) and in the case of P2000, SB2121 and J673A almost doubled it. When normalized to the culture density, the GFP specific yield (μ g OD₅₉₅⁻¹) was only increased for Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A. Whilst none of the antifoams affected the growth rate of the cells, addition of P2000 or SB2121 was found to increase culture density. There was no correlation between total yield, specific yield or specific growth rate and the volumetric oxygen mass transfer coefficient (k_La) in the presence of antifoam. Moreover, the antifoams did not affect the dissolved oxygen concentration of the cultures. A comparison of the amount of GFP retained in the cell by flow cytometry with that in the culture medium by fluorimetry suggested that addition of Antifoam A, Antifoam C or J673A increased the specific yield of GFP by increasing the proportion secreted into the medium.

Conclusions: We show that addition of a range of antifoaming agents to shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris* increases the total yield of the recombinant protein being produced. This is not only a simple method to increase the amount of protein in the culture, but our study also provides insight into how antifoams interact with microbial cell factories. Two mechanisms are apparent: one group of antifoams (Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A) increases the specific yield of GFP by increasing the total amount of protein produced and secreted per cell, whilst the second (P2000 or SB2121) increases the total yield by increasing the density of the culture.

Background

The laboratory-scale production of recombinant proteins using *P. pastoris* requires that cells are cultured either in large shake flasks or in continuously stirred tank bioreactors. In these vessels, the formation of foam is an issue that requires intervention. This is in contrast to the situation in the small vessels typically used in the



Foaming can lead to reduced yields since bursting bubbles can damage proteins [2] and can also result in a loss of sterility if the foam escapes [3]. In bioreactors, foaming can lead to over-pressure if a foam-out blocks an exit filter. To prevent the formation of foam, mechanical foam breakers, ultrasound or, most often, the addition of chemical antifoaming agents (or "antifoams") [3] are routinely employed.

There is a well-established literature on antifoams [3]. One useful classification categorizes them as either



© 2011 Routledge et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{*} Correspondence: r.m.bill@aston.ac.uk

¹School of Life and Health Sciences, Aston University, Aston Triangle, Birmingham B4 7ET, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

hydrophobic solids dispersed in carrier oil, aqueous suspensions/emulsions, liquid single components or solids [4-6]. Several mechanisms of action for these agents have been suggested which include bridging-dewetting, spreading fluid entrainment and bridging-stretching [7]. Many are commercially-available, with 19 being sold by Sigma-Aldrich alone. While little information is routinely given about their composition, their specific antifoam properties have been thoroughly investigated. These include their effects on foam height with time, their influence on the volumetric oxygen mass transfer coefficient ($k_{\rm L}a$) of the system, their gas hold-up characteristics and their globule size and distribution in relation to their action upon foams [3,5,7-11]. Such studies have been performed in various growth media in both the absence and presence of cultures of prokaryotic and eukaryotic microbes.

In contrast, literature on the biological effects of antifoams on recombinant protein yields from microbial cell factories is more limited. Additional file 1: Table S1 shows an analysis of representative examples of this body of work including previous studies on four bacterial hosts and one yeast species. In some cases, the additives tested are not antifoams sensu stricto. It is also noteworthy that the yeast, Schizosaccharomyces pombe, is not widely used in biotechnology applications and that there have been no prior studies on the biological effects of antifoam addition to recombinant P. pastoris cultures. A recent review stated that in the last 15 years, 80% of all recombinant genes reported in the literature were expressed in either Escherichia coli or P. pastoris [12]. In this study, we therefore examined five antifoams that are widely used in controlling the foaming of recombinant P. pastoris cultures [13-16] in order to analyze effects over and above that of their de-foaming action. We looked at polypropylene glycol (PPG) P2000 that is analogous to previously-examined liquid single components of the PPG-type [11] as well as examples from other categories such as Antifoam A and Antifoam C, which are silicone polymers, SB2121, which is a polyalkylene glycol, and J673A, which is an alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable base and has not previously been documented in this context: for all antifoams examined, this was the first report of their effect on the yield of recombinant GFP secreted from shake-flask cultures of P. pastoris.

Results

We wanted to establish whether antifoams affect recombinant protein yield in *P. pastoris* X33 cultures, and if so to investigate the underlying mechanisms. To examine this we chose an experimental system, under the control of the methanol-inducible *AOX1* promoter, comprising GFP secreted from 20 mL cultures in shake

flasks in the presence of five different antifoams at a range of concentrations from 0-1% v/v. These concentrations are higher than the 0.1% routinely used for de-foaming purposes. The total amount of GFP in these 20 mL cultures (the total yield) was measured by fluorimetry 48 h post-induction.

Antifoam addition affects total GFP yield in shake flasks

The total yield of GFP as a function of Antifoam A addition rose significantly at concentrations of 0.6% and above (Figure 1A) with no further increases above 1% (data not shown). A similar but more pronounced trend was observed for Antifoam C (Figure 1B), which is unsurprising since Antifoam C is a 30% emulsion of the same antifoam concentrate as Antifoam A, but with different non-ionic emulsifiers [17]. Figure 1C shows that addition of 1% J673A almost doubled the total yield of GFP compared to the control without antifoam, representing one of the largest effects of the antifoams evaluated. At concentrations above 1%, the total yield of GFP decreased (data not shown). Addition of P2000 (Figure 1D) also resulted in a significant increase in total yield at or above 0.6%, while addition of SB2121 (Figure 1E) increased total yield at concentrations above 0.4%. In both cases the largest improvement was obtained on addition of 1% of the antifoam, again almost doubling the yield. Overall, the five antifoams tested all increased the total yield of GFP at concentrations in the range of 0.4-1% v/v. The highest yield was achieved by adding 1% P2000 (422 µg GFP) followed by 1% SB2121 (396 µg GFP), 1% J673A (394 µg GFP), 0.6% Antifoam A (373 µg GFP) and 0.8% Antifoam C (348 µg GFP). All five yields were significantly higher than the corresponding yields from the 0% control, as shown in Figure 1.

The effects of antifoam addition are due to changes in culture density for P2000 and SB2121

To account for any changes in the growth characteristics of the cells on addition of the antifoams, we normalized the total yield to the optical density of the cultures to obtain the specific yield (μ g OD₅₉₅⁻¹). OD₅₉₅ was demonstrated to be a reliable measure of cell density in these experiments by comparing the number of cells at a given OD₅₉₅ in the absence and presence of a range of concentrations of the different antifoams used in our study: there was no statistically significant difference in cell number between cells harvested at a given OD₅₉₅ in the absence or presence of all antifoam concentrations tested. Typical values were 4.8×10^7 cells/ mL at an OD₅₉₅ of 20.5 in the absence and presence of 0.5% SB2121.

For Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A, the specific yield data were similar in trend to the total yield data



(Figure 1A-C): addition of these antifoams in the range 0.6-1% v/v caused a significant increase in specific yield compared to the control cultures with no antifoam. For cultures containing P2000 or SB2121, however, there was no statistically significant difference in the specific yield at each antifoam concentration compared with the control except for 1% SB2121 where P < 0.05 (Figure 1D-E). This suggested that the enhancements in total yield due to P2000 or SB2121 addition might be attributable to changed growth characteristics of the cells. The specific growth rates (μ) for cultures containing either 1% P2000 or 1% SB2121 were 0.17 h⁻¹ and 0.18 h⁻¹ respectively compared with 0.17 h^{-1} for the control samples (0%) antifoam) indicating that the growth characteristics during the log phase were not affected by the presence of the antifoams. However, we noted an increase in OD_{595} (at both 24 and 48 h) with increasing antifoam concentration for both antifoams (Figure 1D-E; 48 h data), which was less pronounced for Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A (Figure 1A-C). We concluded, therefore, that there was more than one mechanism of antifoam action: one due to changed culture density (P2000, SB2121) and a second due to increased cellular production levels of recombinant GFP (Antifoam A, Antifoam C, J673A).

Antifoam addition does not affect cell viability

We investigated the influence of antifoams on cell viability by propidium iodide exclusion and flow cytometry. In this assay, dead cells are stained red [18] and appear in population C (Figure 2) while live cells fluoresce green due to GFP production and appear in population B. The data shown in Figure 2A suggest that there are no dead cells present in cultures containing 0% antifoam. Figure 2B shows that the same result was obtained in the presence of 0.6% Antifoam A. This result was seen for all antifoams tested.



The foam destruction capacity of an antifoam is related to its ability to improve GFP yield

We wanted to understand how the five antifoams increase total yield and hence began by evaluating their foam destruction properties. Simple methods of determining the ability of antifoams to reduce foam are the Bartsch shaking test [19] and the Ross-Miles pouring test [20]. A Bartsch shaking test was conducted (Figure 3) and demonstrated that in the absence of an antifoaming agent, initial foam destruction was quick until a stable foam was formed. Foam height reduced slowly and in the 15 min testing time did not reach zero (Figure 3A). The most effective agent for foam reduction was J673A, where less foam was formed after initial shaking, and destruction was rapid. Antifoam C had the least activity of the agents tested. All antifoams were effective at foam destruction and most foam was destroyed within one minute (Figure 3B). Although there was no statistical correlation between foam destruction capacity and either total or specific yield, J673A was the most effective at foam destruction and one of the best at increasing GFP yield, whilst Antifoam C was the least effective.

Improved yields cannot be explained by antifoaminduced changes in GFP fluorescence

In order to determine whether any of the antifoams affected the fluorescence of GFP, 1% antifoam was incubated in BMMY for 48 h to mimic the experimental setup. This was then spiked with a similar concentration of recombinant GFP standard to that obtained in Figure 1. There was no significant difference between the fluorescence of GFP in the presence and absence of any of the antifoams suggesting that they did not influence the sample readings. The fluorescence values of the antifoams themselves were also measured at 1% and found to be minimal, similar to the buffer control readings.

The $k_L a$ characteristics of antifoam-containing cultures are not correlated with improvements in GFP yield

As P2000 and SB2121 affected the density of the cultures, we investigated the possibility that the oxygen availability in the system was affected by antifoam addition and that this could explain increased GFP yields. The $k_L a$ was therefore measured in shake flasks in the presence of 0-1% v/v of these antifoams. Addition of 0.4% or 0.6% Antifoam A caused a large increase in $k_L a$ compared to the control (Figure 4A), whereas addition of the related antifoam, Antifoam C, led to an initial reduction in $k_L a$, which increased on addition of antifoam up to 0.8% and then returned to control levels at 1%. After an initial decrease in $k_L a$ was caused by J673A addition up to 0.4%, it remained relatively constant up to 1%. Addition of P2000 at all concentrations tested caused relatively minor changes to the k_La . SB2121 addition did not substantially increase the $k_L a$ at any of the concentrations tested. Overall, there was no correlation between $k_L a$ and total yield for any of the conditions tested, or with the density of the cultures,



suggesting that changes in $k_L a$ may not directly lead to increased protein yield for these antifoams.

DO in shake flasks is not affected by the presence of antifoams P2000 and SB2121

In addition to measuring $k_L a$, we looked at the dissolved oxygen (DO) content of the cultures. The effect of 1% P2000 or 1% SB2121 addition on DO was assessed in shake flask cultures with PreSens DO patches and online monitoring. Figure 5 shows that there was no difference in DO in the flasks in the presence or absence of antifoam: after approximately 12 h for each culture condition the DO in the flasks became limiting. Since functional GFP can be expressed by anaerobic bacteria and in media containing 0.1 ppm dissolved oxygen [21], there was no concern that this would influence our data. DO decreased as the cells metabolized the methanol present in the medium and rose once they had consumed it. DO remained high until additional methanol was added at which point the DO immediately decreased and utilization continued. Methanol concentrations were confirmed by gas chromatographic analysis (data not shown). Overall, there was no difference in the DO content of cultures containing antifoam and those without.

Addition of Antifoam A, Antifoam C or J637A affects the total yield of GFP secreted into the medium

We next investigated whether antifoam addition might have a physical influence on the cells. We therefore

measured the amount of GFP retained in the cell (by flow cytometry) and that in the culture medium (by fluorimetry). Figure 6 shows that addition of Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A caused a statistically significant increase (P < 0.01) in the amount of GFP secreted into the medium compared with the 0% antifoam control. The amount of protein retained in the cells was also greater suggesting that antifoam addition enhanced the ability of the cells to produce recombinant GFP. For P2000 however, more GFP was retained inside the cells compared with the 0% antifoam control. This is consistent with the growth of the cells being affected by P2000 addition rather than resulting in improved secretion efficiency, and also suggests that there has been some metabolic change to the cells compared to the control. Data for SB2121 was similar to that for P2000. We also noted that addition of antifoam did not cause any change in the total concentration of all proteins in the supernatant (measured using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay) for cultures containing antifoams at representative concentrations of 0%, 0.5% and 1%, except for 0.5% Antifoam C (P < 0.05) and 1% SB2121 (P < 0.01). In the presence of these 2 antifoam concentrations, a decrease of 13-14% was observed in the total protein concentration of the supernatant compared to 0% antifoamcontaining control cultures.

Discussion

Antifoams have previously been suggested to alter the growth of cells and influence protein yield in bioprocesses



[2,11], but their addition to *P. pastoris* cultures has never been examined systematically. In this study, addition of the five antifoams tested increased the total yield of secreted recombinant GFP produced by 20 mL *P. pastoris* cultures. Generally, the total GFP yield secreted into the culture medium was increased when antifoam was added at concentrations of at least 0.4% v/v compared with the 0% antifoam control. Addition of 1% J673A to a 20 mL culture yielded 394 μ g GFP compared with 246 μ g GFP when there was no antifoam present. This is notable as J673A is approved for industrial use.

Antifoams can be split into two categories of fast and slow antifoams, depending on their mechanism of foam destruction. Slow antifoams are often oils which destroy foam over a longer period of time. Fast antifoams, as examined in this study, are generally mixed agents which enter the foam film and destroy it by a bridgingstretching mechanism [7]. It has also been observed that the most effective agents at destroying foam are those with the most efficient oil film spreading characteristics [22]. The least effective de-foaming agents in this study were Antifoams A and C, which are 30% aqueous emulsions of Antifoam A concentrate [17]. Their reduced defoaming capability was accompanied by the weakest ability to increase the yield of protein. In contrast, J673A addition produced one of the best results, almost doubling the yield. This antifoam is an alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable oil base and it is known that vegetable oils can alter the structure of foams by increasing bubble size and reducing the stability of the foam [23]. While vegetable oils may be metabolized as a carbon source [23], which might explain why J673A addition enhanced the yield of GFP, our data show that J673A did not influence the growth of the cells (Figure 1C), but rather enhanced the amount secreted into the medium (Figure 6). J673A was additionally found to be the most effective de-foamer of the panel of five antifoams that we assayed (Figure 3).

Antifoams are also known to affect the $k_L a$ of a system, which can be influenced by several factors such as medium viscosity, the presence of organisms and their by-products. These variables affect both k_L (ms⁻¹) and a(specific surface area m^{-1}) [24,25]. For example, antifoam addition is known to have an effect [26] by enhancing bubble coalescence and increasing bubble size which leads to a reduction in the specific surface area thereby lowering k_La [3,8,24,25,27]. However, it has also been previously observed [25,28] that at higher concentrations of antifoam the $k_L a$ rises possibly due to the detrimental effects of bubble coalescence. Consequently the reduced specific surface area (a) reaches a limit and bubbles coalesce suppressing surface motility and decreasing surface tension. This then leads to decreasing bubble size and $k_L a$ rises again. Additionally it is possible that antifoams accumulate oxygen from rising bubbles, as they have good oxygen solubility, and then release it to the aqueous phase. Bubbles bursting at the surface disperse small drops of antifoam causing more oxygen to be released [25,28]. In the case of oils which have a greater oxygen solubility than water, oil droplets may increase oxygen permeability in the water boundary layer of the gaseous dispersion [23]. Yagi and colleagues suggested that



surfactants can cause rippling or eddying which influences the $k_L a$ [26]. They also found that k_L was not greatly affected by antifoams, but that their main effect was on a [26]. Koide subsequently suggested that the ability of antifoams to reduce k_L is less for bubble swarms than for a single bubble [29].

We found that in shake flasks, the $k_L a$ was higher at mid-range values and decreased with increasing concentration, but that there was no statistically significant correlation between increased $k_L a$ and total yield. It is therefore possible that the $k_L a$ is already sufficient for the cells to grow and produce protein and is not a limiting factor, or that a combination of factors is responsible for the increases in total yield that we observed. This is supported by the DO shake flask data which suggest there is no difference between the DO in flasks without antifoam and those with either P2000 or SB2121 added. Combining flow cytometry and fluorimetry data showed that the antifoams can influence the amount of GFP retained inside the cell as well as the amount secreted into the medium. Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A enhanced the GFP secreted compared to 0% antifoam suggesting that the increase in total yield observed could be due to this secretion effect. This is consistent with an earlier study which suggested that antifoams can affect cell permeability in yeast by perturbing sterol biosynthesis which then alters the permeability of the membrane [30]. This is currently under investigation.

Conclusions

We show that when Antifoam A, Antifoam C, J673A, P2000 or SB2121 are added at concentrations higher



than those routinely used for de-foaming purposes, they all increase the total yield of shake-flask cultures. Two effects are apparent: one group of antifoams (Antifoam A, Antifoam C and J673A) increases the specific yield of GFP by increasing the total amount of protein produced and secreted per cell, whilst the second (P2000 or SB2121) increases the total yield by increasing the density of the culture. Addition of commonly-used antifoaming agents to shake flask cultures of yeast is therefore an effective way to increase the total yield of the recombinant protein being produced; any necessary changes to downstream steps such as protein purification are therefore likely to be worthwhile. Furthermore, this study provides insight into the manner in which antifoams interact with microbial cell factories: any data contributing to a fuller understanding of the specific effects of an antifoam on the growth and yield characteristics of such cultures, in addition to its primary action as a de-foamer, will be essential in bioprocess optimisation. These findings should provide an impetus to increase productivity in shake flask cultures of P. pastoris.

Methods

Yeast strains and culturing conditions

Pichia pastoris strain X33 transformed with pPICZαA-GFPuv (designated X33GFPuv) [1] was used in all experimental procedures. Cells were cultured in shake flasks in medium buffered to pH 6.0 with 1 M potassium phosphate buffer and at 30 °C and 220 rpm. BMGY medium (1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 100 mM potassium phosphate pH 6.0, 1.34% YNB, 4×10^{-5} % biotin, 1% glycerol

[31]) was used for the initial biomass accumulation stage before transferring to the induction medium, BMMY (1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 100 mM potassium phosphate pH 6.0, 1.34% YNB, 4×10^{-5} % biotin, 0.5% methanol [31]), to induce production of GFP.

Shake flask cultures

Cells were cultured in 50 mL BMGY in 250 mL baffled shake flasks to accumulate biomass. 20 mL BMMY was then inoculated to a final OD_{595} of 1.0 and transferred to a 100 mL non-baffled shake flasks for antifoam evaluations. Each evaluation was done in triplicate, with each flask containing the desired concentration of antifoam (0%, 0.2%, 0.4%, 0.6%, 0.8% or 1.0% (v/v)) with incubation at 30 °C and 220 rpm. After 24 h, 100% sterile methanol was added to 1% v/v to maintain production of GFP [1]. All optical density measurements were blanked against the relevant antifoam-containing medium. Since the antifoams themselves might influence OD_{595} , we analyzed the relationship between OD_{595} readings in the absence and presence of a range of concentrations of different antifoams. In all cases the pair wise relationship was linear (R^2 was 0.91-0.99). We further verified that OD₅₉₅ was a reliable measure of cell density by comparing the number of cells at a given OD₅₉₅ in the absence and presence of a range of concentrations of different antifoams. There was no statistically significant difference in cell number between cells harvested at a given OD₅₉₅ in the absence or presence of any of these antifoam concentrations, suggesting that OD₅₉₅ is indeed a robust measurement of cell density.

Antifoam agents

The antifoams tested in this study were Schill and Schelinger's Struktol SB2121 (a polyalkylene glycol), Schill and Schelinger's Struktol J673A (an alkoxylated fatty acid ester on a vegetable base), Fluka P2000 (a polypropylene glycol), Sigma Antifoam A (a 30% emulsion of silicone polymer) and Sigma Antifoams C (a 30% emulsion of silicone polymer). All antifoams were autoclaved prior to use and each shake flask experiment was performed in triplicate, with the undiluted antifoam being added directly to the medium.

Fluorescence measurements

Culture supernatants (100 µL) were assayed at 24 h and 48 h post-induction for GFP fluorescence using a Spectramax Gemini XS plate reader with an excitation wavelength (λ_{exe}) of 397 nm, and emission wavelength (λ_{em}) of 506 nm. Triplicate determinations were performed for each independent sample. All samples and blanks were buffered to pH >7.0 using 50 µL 1 M potassium phosphate pH 7.5. Data were collected at 25 °C. To determine the concentration of GFP in each of the samples, a recombinant GFP standard (Vector Laboratories Ltd) was used to construct a standard curve relating RFU to protein concentration, as previously described [1]. All data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA to test for a significant difference between any of the means. In all cases P < 0.001 indicating a high degree of significance. A Dunnett's multiple comparison test was then performed to compare each treatment mean (addition of various antifoam concentrations) and the control mean (0% antifoam).

Total protein analysis

The total protein content of culture supernatants (2 μ l) at 48 h post-induction was analyzed by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay. Cultures were examined in the presence of representative concentrations of 0%, 0.5% and 1% antifoam. 4.9 mL of proprietary BCA solution (B9643, Sigma) was mixed with 100 μ L 4% mM copper (II) sulfate solution (C2284, Sigma). 200 μ L of this solution was used to assay each independent supernatant sample in duplicate using a plate reader (BioTek Instruments) at 570 nm. To determine the concentration of protein in the samples, a bovine serum albumin standard (Sigma) was used to plot a standard curve. The data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test.

Bartsch antifoam test

Bartsch tests were conducted following a protocol adapted from that outlined by Denkov and colleagues [32]. A 500 mL graduated glass cylinder was filled with 166 mL BMMY medium and in all cases except for the control, antifoam was added to 0.01% v/v. The cylinder was sealed with parafilm and shaken ten times at ambient temperature. The height of the foam was recorded using the graduations on the cylinder every 30 s for 15 min. Determinations were performed in quintuplet for each antifoam. The activity of a given antifoam was reported as a volume [32], obtained by subtracting the volume of medium from the total volume (foam plus medium) in the cylinder.

$k_L a$ determination

The influence of each antifoam on the volumetric mass oxygen transfer coefficient ($k_L a$) in 125 mL plastic nonbaffled shake flasks with DO fluorescent sensors (PreSens; the closest available size to our previous experimental set-up using the same total:working volume ratio of 5:1) was measured using a dynamic method adapted from that of Bandyopadhyay and Humphrey [33]. A working volume of 25 mL BMMY was used for each determination, with each antifoam being added in a stepwise manner to a final concentration of 0%, 0.2%, 0.4%, 0.6%, 0.8% and finally 1.0% (v/v). Shake flasks were sealed with foam bungs and incubated at 220 rpm, 30°C. The medium was saturated with 1.5 L min⁻¹ compressed air and flushed with N₂. Determination of the $k_L a$ was carried out in triplicate by adding the required volume of antifoam at 100% DO, flushing with N₂ until the DO was 0% and then allowing the DO to return to 100%. The data were logged every second using SFR software (Pre-Sens). The data logged during the increase in DO from 0% to 100% were used to calculate the $k_L a$ with the following formula, where t_1 and t_2 are consecutive time points, $c_{1,t1}$ is the oxygen concentration at time t_1 and $c_{1,\infty}$ is the oxygen saturation concentration.

$$k_L a(t_2 - t_1) = \ln \left(\frac{c_{1,\infty} - c_{1,t_1}}{c_{1,\infty} - c_{1,t_2}} \right)$$

Dissolved oxygen measurements

Dissolved oxygen was measured in 125 mL non-baffled shake flasks with DO fluorescent sensors (PreSens) attached to the underside of each flask. The flasks were placed on a shake flask reader which excites the dyes in the sensors and allows the DO data to be logged over 48 h with SFR software (Presens).

Flow cytometry

Shake flask cultures of *P. pastoris*, as described above, were used to generate samples for flow cytometry analysis. The antifoams used were Antifoam A at 0.6%, Antifoam C at 0.6%, J673A at 0.8%, P2000 at 0.6% and SB2121 at 0.6% (v/v). Triplicate flasks were used for each antifoam. 48 h samples were diluted 1:1000 in phosphate buffered saline to a final concentration of

 $10^6 \text{-} 10^7$ cells mL $^{-1}$, as determined using a haemocytometer. Fluorescent measurements were made using a Beckman Coulter (High Wycombe, UK) flow cytometer with λ_{exe} = 488 nm from an argon-ion laser at 15 mW. Diluted samples were additionally stained with 10 μ L propidium iodide (PI; 1 mgmL $^{-1}$ in water). All solutions were passed through a 0.2 μ m filter, immediately prior to use, to remove particulate contamination. The optical filters were set up so that PI fluorescence was measured at 630 nm and GFP fluorescence was measured at 525 nm. The data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (P < 0.0001) and a Dunnett's multiple comparison test.

Additional material

Additional file 1: Table S1: Summary of the biological effects of antifoam addition to microbial cell factories.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by an EPSRC CASE award with Applikon Biotechnology Ltd supporting SJR. We thank the Aston Research Centre for Healthy Ageing (ARCHA) for support and Dr William Holmes (MedImmune), Dr Andrew Devitt (Aston University) and Dr Sharon Brownlow (Applikon Biotechnology) for helpful comments and suggestions.

Author details

¹School of Life and Health Sciences, Aston University, Aston Triangle, Birmingham B4 7ET, UK. ²Centre for Biological Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering, Loughborough University, Leicestershire LE11 3TU, UK.

Authors' contributions

SR was involved in all aspects of the experimental design, data collection, data analysis and interpretation and was supported by NB. CH oversaw the experimental design and data analysis for the flow cytometry component of the study. RB directed the study, coordinated the data analysis and interpretation and, together with SR, drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to, read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 30 September 2010 Accepted: 22 March 2011 Published: 22 March 2011

References

- Holmes WJ, Darby RA, Wilks MD, Smith R, Bill RM: Developing a scalable model of recombinant protein yield from *Pichia pastoris*: the influence of culture conditions, biomass and induction regime. *Microb Cell Fact* 2009, 8:35.
- Holmes W, Smith R, Bill R: Evaluation of antifoams in the expression of a recombinant F_c fusion protein in shake flask cultures of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microb Cell Fact 2006, 5:30.
- Varley J, Brown A, Boyd R, Dodd P, Gallagher S: Dynamic multipoint measurement of foam behaviour for a continuous fermentation over a range of key process variables. *Biochem Eng J* 2004, 20:61-72.
- 4. Höfer R: Struktol foams and foam control. Struktol; 2008.
- Joshi K, Jeelani S, Blickenstorfer C, Naegeli I, Windhab E: Influence of fatty alcohol antifoam suspensions on foam stability. *Colloids Surfaces A* 2005, 263:239-249.
- Ju LK, Sundararajan A: The effects of cells on oxygen transfer in bioreactors. *Bioprocess Eng* 1995, 13:271-278.

Page 10 of 11

- Denkov ND, Krastanka M, Christova C, Hadjiiski A, Cooper P: Mechanisms of action of mixed solid-liquid antifoams: 3. Exhaustion and reactivation. *Langmuir* 2000, 21:8163-8619.
- Al-Masry W: Effects of antifoam and scale-up on operation of bioreactors. Chem Eng Process 1999, 38:197-201.
- Calik P, Ileri N, Erdinc BI, Aydogan N, Argun M: Novel antifoam for fermentation processes: fluorocarbon-hydrocarbon hybrid unsymmetrical bolaform surfactant. *Langmuir* 2005, 21(19):8613-8619.
- Etoc A, Delvigne F, Lecomte JP, Thonart P: Foam Control in fermentation bioprocess: from simple aeration tests to bioreactor. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol* 2006, 129-132:392-404.
- Koch V, Rüffer H, Schügerl K, Innertsberger E, Menzel H, Weis J: Effect of antifoam agents on the medium and microbial cell properties and process performance in small and large reactors. *Process Biochem* 1995, 30:435-446.
- Sorensen HP: Towards universal systems for recombinant gene expression. Microb Cell Fact 2010, 9:27.
- Charoenrat T, Ketudat-Cairns M, Stendahl-Andersen H, Jahic M, Enfors S: Oxygen-limited fed-batch process: an alternative control for *Pichia pastoris* recombinant protein processes. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng* 2005, 27:309-406.
- Jahic M, Wallberg F, Bollok M, Garcia P, Enfors S: Temperature limited fedbatch technique for control of proteolysis in *Pichia pastoris* bioreactor cultures. *Microb Cell Fact* 2003, 2.
- Jungo C, Marison I, Stockar UV: Regulation of alcohol oxidase of a recombinant *Pichia pastoris* Mut⁺ strain in transient continuous cultures. *J Biotechnol* 2007, 130:236-246.
- Panjideh H, Coelho V, Dernedde J, Fuchs H, Keilholz U, Thiel E, Deckert M: Production of bifunctional single-chain antibody-based fusion proteins in Pichia pastoris supernatants. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 2008, 31:559-568.
- Sigma product information: Antifoam data sheet. [http://www. sigmaaldrich.com/etc/medialib/docs/Sigma/Product_Information_Sheet/ a7207pis.Par.0001.File.tmp/a7207pis.pdf].
- Hewitt CJ, Nebe-Von-Caron G: The application of multi-parameter flow cytometry to monitor individual microbial cell physiological state. *Advances Biochem Eng/Biotechnol* 2004, 89:197-223.
- Bartsch O: Über Schaumsysteme. . Fortschrittsberichte über Kolloide und Polymere 1924, 20:1-49.
- 20. Rosen J, Solash J: Factors affecting initial foam height in the Ross-Miles foam test. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1968, 46(399-402).
- Hansen MC, Palmer RJ, Udsen C, White DC, Molin S: Assessment of GFP fluorescence in cells of *Streptococcus gordonii* under conditions of low pH and low oxygen concentration. *Microbiol* 2001, 147:1383-1391.
- Jha BK, Christiano SP, Shah DO: Silicone antifoam performance: correlation with spreading and surfactant monolayer packing. *Langmuir* 2000, 16.
- 23. Rols JL, Goma G: Enhanced oxygen transfer rates in fermentation using soybean oil-in-water dispersions. *Biotechnol Lett* 1991, 13:7-12.
- 24. Kawase Y, Moo-Young M: The effect of antifoam agents on mass transfer in bioreactors. *Bioprocess Eng* 1990, **5**:169-173.
- Morao A, Maia C, Fonseca M, Vasconcelos J, Alves S: Effect of antifoam addition in gas-liquid mass transfer in stirred fermenters. *Bioprocess Eng* 1999, 20:165-172.
- Yagi H, Yoshida F: Oxygen absorption in fermenters effects of surfactants, antifoaming agents and sterilized cells. J Fermentation Technol 1974, 52:905-916.
- 27. Arjunwadkar SJ, Sarvanan K, Kulkarni PR, Pandit AB: Gas-liquid mass transfer in dual impeller bioreactor. *Biochem Eng J* 1998, 1:99-106.
- 28. Liu HS, Chiung WC, Wang YC: Effect of lard oil and caster oil on oxygen transfer in an agitated fermentor. *Biotechnol Techniques* 1994, **8**:17-20.
- Koide K, Yamazoe S, Harada S: Effects of surface-active substances on gas hold up and gas-liquid mass transfer in bubble column. J Chem Eng Japan 1985, 18:287-292.
- Pawiroharsono S, Naji B, Bonaly R, Tonetti F, Chasseboeuf C, Richter P: Permeability and membrane sterol distribution in *Saccharomyces uvarum* and *Kluyveromyces bulgaricus* grown in presence of polyoxyalkylene lycol-oleic acid condensates. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 1987, 27:181-185.
- 31. Invitrogen: EasySelect Pichia Expression Kit
- Denkov ND, Tcholakova S, Marinova KG, Hadjiiski A: Role of oil spreading for the efficiency of mixed oil–solid antifoams. *Langmuir* 2002, 18:5810-5817.

33. Bandyopadhyay P, Humphrey AE: Dynamic measurement of the volumetric oxygen transfer coefficient in fermentation systems. Biotechnol Bioeng 1967, 9:533-544.

doi:10.1186/1475-2859-10-17

Cite this article as: Routledge *et al.*: **Antifoam addition to shake flask cultures of recombinant** *Pichia pastoris* **increases yield**. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2011 **10**:17.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BioMed Central



Page removed for copyright restrictions.